
10010868

HIGLFF/ôr 1w mivuts



EI
4t

I1oit
drr4

I1e

up_wv

-w 4$

4$tiM4p1I1rI1fP

tIIIIIr
wfç
iPIIUIa

wIi YaMs

IiI



Lve1ine IS tllkiflJ LIEUI

IiU 1U normal tiflW

sb i.ver qrout/i as con suiners and

businesses aroundthe wrli

iPCO erfromthe recen finIncial

collapse We know i/ic world

has chanqed ye changed too

lleve taken steps to navigate

throi/z to days c/ui Ilenges and

to SP/2W toino i11Oit opportunities

In
c/Ulfle/lflç/ uorId we /iaie

businessmodelproducis and

s.rvices i/ia are

RIGHTfor the TIMES



4r

hAT Pt 4Ut ol

diIIIfIpuIIi

ct 1lij i1 prd ilu

id vth aud

li

IIIi %IvIP 1iI

1iIiIiIII 1iI
/L

41r IPN

trt

Ii

%i

I4
ypi

h1L
ir

44

dib

iw4/

/4

III
44 44



cct

urn

Cd dikn



4z

I11



iii
4i

IN f1

01k fl iI fl

Tn CHl RhIflt bi

\h th 11 ht kn

fll LUt1 fl

iiiii



pfirIVI/Ithk ii

.V

VV

jVfv$
li/tie iZ%fiuPJfltI

pie iIznkou



AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

We earned $2.14 billion in income from continuing

operations for the year While 26 percent decline

in earnings is no cause for celebration we stayed

consistently profitable when many card-issuing

businesses suffered major losses In severe

financial crisis when survival was not given for

some firms our ability to generate quality earnings

says great
deal about the strength and flexibility

of our business model

We developed new sources offunding and bolstered

our capital base after the credit markets froze Our

retail deposit program launched from standing

start raised more than $26 billion tremendous

achievement in this market For the year we

generated
additional capital

and maintained strong

ratios that exceeded all regulatory benchmarks

We continued to put money into business-building

investments rewards cardmember services enhanced

products emerging payment technologies online

capabilities marketing and brand promotion

Spending was below 2008 levels due to the

environment but was substantial nevertheless

The progress we made throughout the year also

enabled us to keep an important commitment to

our shareholderscontinuing to pay our dividend

without interruption We viewed this as key

dividing line between financial services companies

and were very pleased to be among the few who

could take this course

We were also among the first companies to

repay
the U.S governments equity investment

In January we received $3.4 billion as part of

the Capital Purchase Program At the time the

financial system was in disarray and even healthy

institutions were accessing capital to increase the

markets confidence in their stability By the end of

July we fully repaid the investment providing 26

percent return to U.S taxpayers

number of factors including the markets

increasing confidence in our position our stocks

low valuation early in the
year

and the broad

rebound for equities in 2009 fueled strong gains in

our share price American Express delivered 125

percent total return for the year compared with 26

percent for the SP 500 and 17 percent for the SP

Financials This gain in 2009 still left us well short

of our pre-crash high We are well aware of this

fact and are working hard to deliver the kind of

performance that justifies our investors confidence

TOUGH ROAD

Lets take closer look at some of the factors that

drove our performance in 2009 and the steps

weve taken to get through and beyond series of

huge challenges

High unemployment diminished household

wealth and low consumer confidence hurt our

customers and therefore our business We

experienced 14 percent drop in revenues for the

year as individuals and companies cut back on

spending and travel We also faced higher credit

losses as more cardmembers had trouble paying

their hills These developments had direct impact

on our bottom line

PIR

rotIictuni on AXP stock

WORLD SERVICE
OUR VIStON

To becomc tire worlds most

respected service brend

07
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AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

Not surprisingly credit quality in our charge

card portfolio outperformed our lending portfolio

Write-off rates for charge card receivables were

well controlled Pastdue rates improved from

year ago

One key distinction between American Express

and other card issuers is that our business model

relies less on lending Most of our revenue

comes from spending on cards rather than from

interest income and credit fees In fact only 13

percent of our cardmember spending takes

place on proprietary lending cards excluding

co brands in the U.S and the percentage is

lower in international markets In addition our

strong presence
in business-to-business payments

and network services carries comparatively

lower credit risk and capital requirements than

consumer lending

Clearly lending is still an important part of our

business Our customers want the ability to extend

payments and we want to grant credit wisely and

responsibly Making credit decisions is not perfect

science but we have sophisticated
tools to guide

us Weve spent great deal of time examining

how we make decisions building new capabilities

integrating new housing and commercial data

into our models and developing broad set of

programs to manage high risk customers We

have learned from our experiences and improved

our credit and fraud operationsall
with the goal

MANAGED LOANS 30 DAYS PAST.DUE

AS PERCENT OF TOTAL

WORLDWIDE CARDMEMBER LENDING

MANAGED BASIS NET WRITE-OFF RATE

4Q 1Q 2Q SQ 4Q
08 09 09 09 09

4Q IQ 2Q 3Q IQ
08 09 09 09

Past-due and net write-oji rates frnproved in the second half of 2009 hut remained at/sigh levels couspared to prior years These charts

show esult on is managed basis On G/LAP basis 30 day past due rates wese 36bofor4Q 2009 4.0vJar 3Q 2009 L3s for 2Q 2009

4.9t0 for IQ 2009 and -1.4 fcsr 4Q 2008 while the net write-nfl rates were 7.1s 9.1% 9.6o 8.0% simid 6.5% for the same periods
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network helps us analyse

21 market trends to better Serve

cardmembers arid irrrchiit
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helps cardmembers gain

more control over their
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AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

of allowing good spending and
restricting

credit

where we believe customers may he getting in over

their heads

During the downturn we reduced credit lines

and cancelled accounts for certain higher-risk

customers Realizing that we couldnt possibly

get every call right we put new process in

place for cardmembers to appeal decisions about

their accounts We worked with thousands of

cardmembers to either revalidate or in some cases

revise decisions We also independently increased

credit lines for some customers and the $620

billion in spending we authorized during the
year

was more than
any

other card issuer

We also provided additional help to card

members who were experiencing temporary

financial trouble We expanded our customer

care programs creating tailored solutions for

many thousands of people For some this meant

extending the time they could take to pay off

their balance waiving delinquency fees reducing

interest rates or excusing portions of outstanding

debt These efforts made difference to our

customers and saved many valuable relationships

for the company

Altogether the steps we took helped us achieve

year-end credit results that were substantially

better than those of our major peers In addition

our reserve coverage and balance sheet continued

to be very strong

As our credit performance improved and we

saw initial signs that spending by cardmembers

was stabilizing we decided to increase investment

spending in the second half of the year We funded

more brand advertising new product launches and

other initiatives designed to grow our business in

the years ahead

Rccnginecring and Expeii sc Reduction

In this difficult economy controlling expenses was

more important than ever Cutting back but not

cutting too far into muscle we reduced operating

expenses by 14 percent from year ago

Reengineering played large role in these efforts

We examined our business
processes

to eliminate

inefficiencies and focus resources on activities

that would drive value for our customers and

shareholders One outcome of this reengineering

was net reduction of about 7700 jobs over the

past year As painful as those job cuts were they

increased our financial strength and put us in

better position to grow

Here again we took long-term approach

We didnt just want to reduce expenses
for 2009

we wanted to prepare our expense base for the

conditions we foresee ahead period of relatively

weak economic growth after the recession

iu IOSTRECISSRN LA P1

While we expect the recovery that began to take

shape in recent months will continue the rebound

is likely to be modest High unemployment and

other risks will leave the economy vulnerable and

consumers cautious

Even though the environment remains very

challenging
the economy and our company are

much better off now than
year ago

when the

LI
Iowsr opcratng expenses

in 2009 vs 2008

\SLSLE YOU AS

PERSON NOt NUMBER

says our international ad

campaign called Realisu

the Potential
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2009 FINANCIAI REVIEW

AMERILkN E\PRISS OtS1PA\

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The financial section of American Express Companys the

Company Annual Report consists of this Financial Review

the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements The following discussion

is designed to provide perspective and understanding

regarding the Companys consolidated financial condition

and results of operations Certain key terms are defined in the

Glossary of Selected Terminology which begins on page 61

This Financial Review and the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements have been adjusted to exclude

discontinued operations unless otherwise noted

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
American Express is global service company that provides

customers with access to products insights and experiences

that enrich lives and build business success The Companys

principal products and services are charge and credit payment

card products and travel-related services offered to consumers

and businesses around the world The Companys range
of

products and services include

charge and credit card products

expense management products and services

consumer and business travel services

stored value products such as Travelers Cheques and other

prepaid products

network services for the Companys network partners

merchant acquisition and processing point-of-sale

servicing and settlement and marketing products and

services for merchants and

tee services including market and trend analyses along

with related consulting services arid customer loyalty and

rewards programs

The Companys products and services are sold globally to

diverse customer groups including consumers small

businesses middle-market companies and large corporations

These products and services are sold through various channels

including direct mail on-line applications targeted direct and

third-party sales forces and direct response advertising

The Companys products and services generate the

following types of revenue for the Company

Discount revenue which is the Companys largest revenue

source represents fees charged to merchants when

cardmembers use their cards to purchase goods and

services on the Companys network

Net card fees which represent revenue earned for annual

charge card memberships

Travel commissions and fees which are earned by charging

transaction or management fee for airline or other travel-

related transactions

Other commissions and fees which are earned on foreign

exchange conversions and card-related fees and

assessments

Securitization income net which is the net earnings related

to cardmember loans financed through securitization

activities

Other revenue which represents insurance premiums

earned from cardmember travel and other insurance

programs revenues arising from contracts with Global

Network Services GNS partners including royalties and

signing fees publishing revenues and other miscellaneous

revenue and fes and

Interest and fees on loans which principally represents

interest income earned on outstanding balances and card

fees related to the cardmember lending portfolio

In addition to funding and operating costs associated with

these types of revenue other major expense categories are

related to marketing and reward
programs

that add new

cardmembers and promote cardmember loyalty and

spending and provisions for anticipated cardmember credit

and fraud losses

In 2009 to better position the Company to grow its

traditional businesses and to develop new revenue categories

and emerging payments the Company implemented the

following organizational changes

Grouped the Companys global consumer and small

business card-issuing merchant and network businesses

under the senior leadership of the Vice Chairman of

American Express which will enable the Company to

sharpen its focus on its strongest growth opportunities

while maintaining appropriate confidentiality protections

The Company is creating the Enterprise Growth Group

which will focus exclusively on generating new sources of

fee revenue from existing assets and advancing the

Companys efforts in emerging payments

Formed new Global Services Group under the leadership

of the Companys Group President and Chief Information

Officer which unites the Companys U.S and international

cardmember servicing organizations as well as most

processing and support functions across the Company

including among others tecimology support and certain

key processing functions in areas such as fInance and

human resources With this change to Global Services the

Company is organizing support functions by process rather

than business unit which the Company expects will

streamline costs reduce duplication of work better

integrate skills and expertise and improve customer
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service The expenses that now fall within Global Services

account for just under half of the Companys consolidated

operating expeose
This organization has been tasked with

generating an annualized level of gross expense savings of

approximately $500 million by 2012 It is expected that

portion of any such savings would he reinvested in growth

initiatives and

Also as part of the organizational changes the Companys

Chief Executive Officer is now working directly with the

leaders of the Global Commercial Card and Global Travel

Services groups on overall strategies to capitalize on

Business-to-Business growth opportunities

Historically the Company has sought to achieve number of

financial targets on average and over time

Revenues net of interest expense growth of at least

percent

Earnings per share EPS growth of 12 to 15 percent and

Return on average equity ROE of 33 to 36 percent

In addition assuming achievement of such financial targets

the Company has sought to return at least 65 percent of the

capital it generates to shareholders as dividend or through

the repurchase of common stock

The Company met or exceeded these targets for most of

the past decade However during 2008 and 2009 its

performance fell short of the targets due to the effects of the

continuing global economic downturn As long as these

difficult conditions persist it is unlikely that the Company

will achieve all of its on average and over time financial

objectives The Companys share repurchase program was

suspended in 2008 and as result the amount of capital

generated that is returned to shareholders has been and will

likely continue to be below the levels achieved earlier in the

decade

The Company believes it will be positioned over the long

term to generate revenue and earnings growth in line with its

historical target levels However evolving market regulatory

and rating agency expectations will likely cause the Company

as well as other financial institutions to maintain in future

years higher level of capital than they would have historically

maintained These higher capital requirements would in turn

lead all other things being equal to lower future ROE than

the Company has historically targeted While the Company is

not establishing new target at this time it currently believes

that it will ultimately he positioned to deliver ROE in excess

of 20 percent over time As the capital requirements for

financial institutions become clearer management will have

greater
visibility into this area At that time the Company will

provide updated long- term ROE and capital distribution

targets

ItANR 111IN \II\NY
During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company became

bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company

Act of 1956 and the Federal Reserve Board Federal Reserve

became the Companys primary federal regulator As such the

Company is subject to the Federal Reserves regulations

policies and minimum capital standards

i\ LL\ \Ii I\IIiN\Ii

2009 was challenging year characterized by weak economy

frozen credit markets in the first half of the year
and high

credit losses industry wide In the first two quarters the

Companys spending and cardmember loan balances declined

by double digits as compared to the corresponding periods in

2008 and credit metrics e.g past due and write-off rates

peaked at historically high levels In the third quarter the

Companys credit actions began to positively impact past due

and write-off rates and spending declines began to become

less severe The fourth quarter showed greater improvement

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the year-over-year growth

rate in cardmember spending volumes was positive for the

first time since the third quarter of 2008 benefiting from both

easier comparisons to year-ago billings as well as higher levels

of spending Improvements in billed business trends were

experienced in all business lines in the fourth quarter In

addition for the first time during the year the growth rate in

both the number of card transactions and average transaction

size were positive in the fourth quarter as compared to the

corresponding period in 2008 Despite these favorable trends

the Company expects the global economy to continue to

recover gradually and the resulting environment to be

characterized by billings growth that is more modest than it

experienced before the recession as consumers and businesses

remain cautious about their spending

The favorable credit trends experienced in the third

quarter of 2009 continued to show overall improvement in

the fourth quarter Charge card write-off rates and past-due

trends in the United States continued to improve significantly

during the fourth quarter reaching historic lows by the end of

the year and contributing to lower provision levels

Worldwide lending write-off rates also continued to decline in

the fourth quarter improving for the second quarter in row

This was driven in part by broad range of credit and

business actions such as enhanced credit and collection

policies and practices Lending past-due trends also continued

to improve in the fourth quarter
If past-due trends

recoveries and bankruptcies remain stable the Company

expects managed U.S lending write-offs in the first quarter of

2010 to be similar to those in the fourth quarter of 2009 and
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further expects these write-offs in the second quarter of 2010

to be lower than the first quarter

In 2010 the Company intends to invest substantial

portion of expected benefits from its improving credit

performance The Company will focus on launching new

products and services improving long term margins with

investments in infrastructure and driving growth for the

moderate to long-term As the Company continues to scale

hack its issuance of proprietary lending cards and targets

more premium cards the Companys priority will be to drive

billed business and average spend per card rather than achieve

broad growth in cards-in-force

The Companys net interest yield in 2009 was impacted by

re-pricing actions the Credit Card Accountability

Responsibility and Disclosure Act CARD Act and changing

consumer behavior Going forward these same dynamics will

apply with more impact from the CARD Act expected in the

future As such the Company expects net interest yields to

trend down closer to historic levels over time

The Company expects its 2010 EPS growth to he well

above its long-term EPS target of 12 percent to 15 percent

IU 1NFLk1N Nil l\ lVk

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company announced

various reengineering initiatives which were expected to

produce cost benefits of approximately $1.8 billion in 2009

versus the previously anticipated spending levels These

initiatives included reducing staffing levels and compensation

expenses expected benefits of $700 million in 2009 reducing

certain operating costs expected benefit of $125 million in

2009 and scaling back investment spending expected benefIt

of $1.0 billion in 2009 The Company began the execution

and intplementation of these initiatives in the fourth quarter

of 2008 and as such recorded fuurth quarter of 2008

restructuring charge of $404 million $262 million after-tax

in continuing operations primarily associated with severance

and other costs related to the elimination of approximately

7000 positions in addition to $17 million $11 million after-

tax of other net reengineering costs

In the second quarter of 2009 the Company announced

another phase of reengineering initiatives which were

The managed basis presentation includes on-balance sheet

cardmember loans and off-balance sheet securitized cardmember

loans The difference between the owned basis GAAP
information and the managed basis information is attributable

to the effects of securitized activities The Company is not

presenting estimates of owned net write-off rates comparable to

the managed data above because the owned net write-off rates are

riot determinable at this time For further discussion of the

Companys owned and managed basis presentation refer to the

information set forth under U.S Card Services in the section

captioned Differences Between GAAP and Managed

Presentations

expected to produce incremental cost benefits of

approximately $800 million in 2009 These initiatives

included reducing staffing levels and compensation expenses

expected benefit of $175 million in 2009 scaling back

investment spending on marketing and business development

expected benefit of $500 million in 2009 and cutting certain

professional services travel and general overhead expenses

expected benefit of $125 million in 2009 The Company

began the implementation of these initiatives in the second

quarter of 2009 and a.s such recorded second quarter 2009

net reengineering charge of $182 million $118 million after-

tax in continuing operations primarily associated with

severance and other costs related to the elimination of

approximately 4000 positions Cumulatively through these

reengineering initiatives the Company expected to eliminate

approximately 11000 positions which accounted for

approximately 17 percent of its global workforce as of

September 30 2008

As the Company has previously indicated business resubs

in the second half of 2009 have been stronger than initially

forecasted primarily due to favorable credit and business

trends The benefits from these favorable trends have been

utilized to increase spending on marketing and other

business-building initiatives during the latter part of 2009

Ihese increased investments have in turn reduced the targeted

savings from our reengineering initiatives of approximately

$2.6 billion described above These favorable trends also

drove other business changes and modifications to previously

planned reengineering initiatives which have resulted in

lower level of employee staff reductions and higher employee

redeployment to other positions in the Company further

reducing targeted savings As of December 31 2009 employee

count has declined 8200 or 12 percent since September 30

2008 primarily due to the above initiatives

ll IJ

On January 15 2010 the Company purchased Revolution

Money provider of secure person-to-person payment

services through an internet based platform for

approximately $300 million Revolution Money offers online

person-to-person payment accounts that are FDIC insured

and suited for social and instant messaging networks and

offers the RevolutionCard general-use PIN-based card with

enhanced security The Company believes that Revolution

Moneys assets and expertise complement both its existing

payments and processing capabilities and also provides it

with an innovative technology platform which can help

extend the Companys leadership beyond the traditional

payments arena

On March 28 2008 the Company purchased Corporate

Payment Services CPS General Electric Companys

commercial card and corporate purchasing business unit The

Company acquired $2.2 bfflion in assets and assumed $63

million in liabilities The total cash consideration of $2.3
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billion paid by the Company consisted of the contractual

purchase price of approximately $1.1 billion plus the

repayment of CPS $1.2 billion in outstanding debt as of the

acquisition date

llLONliNt.lt Pl\i ON
For the applicable periods the operating results assets and

liabilities and cash flows of American Express Bank Ltd

AEB which was sold to Standard Chartered PLC Standard

Chartered in 2008 and American Express International

Deposit Company AEIDC which was sold to Standard

Chartered in the third quarter of 2009 have been removed

from the Corporate Other segment and reported separately

within the discontinued operations captions on the

Companys Consolidated Financial Statements

Refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for further discussion of the Companys discontinued

operations

INANCIAI t1\l1\ly

summary of the Companys recent financial performance

follows

Years Ended December 31

Millions except per
share

amounts and ratio data

Total revenues net of interest expense

Provisions for losses

Expenses

Income from continuing operations

Net income

Earnings per common share from

continuing operations

dilutelh 1.54 2.47

Earnings per common share

diluted1 1.54 2.32

Return on average equityt

Return on average tangible common

equityld

included in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per

share pursuant to the two-class method Accordingly the

Company has retrospectively adjusted EPS for all prior periods

presented Refer to Note 18 to the Companys Consolidated

Financial Statements

Ic ROE is calculated by dividing net income $2.1 billion and

$2.7 billion for 2009 and 2008 respectively by ii average total

shareholders equity S14.6 billion and S12.l billion for 2009 and

2008 respectively

Return on average tangible common equity is computed in the

same manner as ROE except the computation of average tangible

common shareholders equity TCE excludes average goodwill

and other intangibles of $3.0 billion and $2.5 billion as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The Company believes

that return on average tangible common equity is useful

measure of profitability of its business

See Consolidated Results of Operations beginning on page

31 for discussion of the Companys results

The Company follows U.S generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP In addition to information provided on

GAAP basis the Company discloses certain data on

managed basis This information which should he read

only as supplement to GAAP information assumes in the

Consolidated Selected Statistical Information and U.S Card

Services USCS segment there have been no cardmember

loans securitization transactions These managed basis

adjustments and managements rationale for such

presentation are discussed further in the USCS section below

under Differences between GAAP and Managed Basis

Presentation

Certain of the statements in this Annual Report are

forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 See Forward

Looking Statements at the end of this discussion

Earnings per common share from continuing operations diluted

and Earnings per common share diluted were both reduced by

the impact of accelerated preferred dividend accretion of $212

million for the year ended December 31 2009 due to the

repurchase of $3.39 billion of preferred shares issued as part of the

Capital Purchase Program CPP ii preferred share dividends

and related accretion of $94 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 and iii earnings allocated to participating

share awards and other items of $22 million and $15 million for

the years ended December .31 2009 and 2008 respectively

hI Effective January 2009 guidance for determining whether

instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are

participating securities requires that restricted stock awards be

2009

$24523

5313

$16369

2137

2130

2008

$28365

5798

$18986

2871

2699

Percent

lecrease

t4%

8%
l4%

26%

21%

34/ô

14.6% 22.3%

17.6% 28.0%
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements for summary of the Companys significant accounting policies

referenced as applicable to other notes The following chart provides information about five critical accounting policies that are

important to the Consolidated Financial Statements and that require significant management assumptions and judgments

il Si R\ Is rR .ARINll\llil iOSSI.S

Description

Reserves for cardmember losses
relating to

cardmember loans and receivables represent

managements best estimate of the losses

inherent in the Companys outstanding

portfolio of loans and receivables

Assumptions/Approach Used

Reserves for cardmember loans and

receivables losses are primarily based upon

models that analyze portfolio performance

and reflect managements judgment

regarding overall reserve adequacy The

analytic
models take into account several

factors including average losses and

recoveries over an appropriate historical

period Management considers whether to

adjust the
analytic

models for
specific

factors such as increased risk in certain

portfolios impact of risk management

initiatives on portfolio performance and

concentration of credit risk based on factors

such as tenure industry or geographic

regions In addition management adjusts

the reserves for losses for other external

environmental factors including leading

economic and market indicators such as the

unemployment rate Gross Domestic

Product GDP home price indices non-

farm payrolls personal consumption

expenditures index consumer confidence

index purchasing managers index

bankruptcy filings and the legal and

regulatory environment Generally due to

the short-term nature of cardmember

receivables the impact of the other external

environmental factors on the inherent losses

within the cardmember receivable portfolio

is not significant As part of this evaluation

process management also considers various

reserve coverage metrics such as reserves as

percentage of past-due amounts reserves

as percentage of cardmember loans and

receivables and net write-off coverage

Cardmember loans and receivables are

written off when management deems

amounts to be uncollectible and is generally

determined by the number of days past due

Cardmember loans and USCS cardmember

receivables are generally written off when

continued on next page

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

To the extent historical credit

experience updated for emerging

market trends in credit are not

indicative of future performance actual

losses could differ significantly from

managements judgments and

expectations resulting in either higher

or lower future provisions for ones as

applicable

As of December 31 2009 an

increase in write-offs equivalent to 20

basis points of cardmember loan and

receivable balances at such date would

increase the provision for cardmember

losses by approximately $133 million

This sensitivity analysis does not

represent managements expectations of

the deterioration in writeoffs but is

provided as hypothetical scenario to

assess the sensitivity of the provision for

cardmember losses to changes in key

inputs

The process of determining the

reserve for cardmember losses requires

high degree of judgment it is possible

that others given the same information

may at any point in time reach different

reasonable conclusions
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Effect if Actual Results Differ

Description Assumptions/Approach Used from Assumptions

180 days past due International Card

Services ICS and Global Commercial

Services GCS cardmember receivables are

generally written off when they are 360 days

past billing

Cardmember loans and receivables in

bankruptcy or owed by deceased individuals

are written off upon notification

Recoveries of both cardmember loans

and receivables are recognized on cash

basis
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Description

The Membership Rewards program is the

largest card-based rewards program in the

industry Eligible cardmembers can earn points

for purchases charged and many of the

Companys card products offer the ability to

earn bonus points for certain types of

purchases Membership Rewards points are

redeemable for broad variety of rewards

including travel entertainment retail

certificates and merchandise

Points typically do not expire and there is

no limit on the number of points cardmember

may earn large majority of spending by

eligible cardmembers earns points under the

program While cardmember spend

redemption rates and the related expense have

increased the Company believes it has

historically benefited through higher revenues

lower cardmember attrition and credit losses

and more timely payments

The Company establishes balance sheet

reserves that represent the estimated future cost

of points earned to date that are ultimately

expected to he redeemed These reserves reflect

managements judgment regarding overall

sdmuacy The provision for the Cost rf

Membership Rewards is included in marketing

promoIIo1 rewards and cardmember services

expenses

Assumptions/Approach Used

weighted-average cost per point redeemed

during the previous 12 months adjusted as

appropriate for recent changes in

redemption Costs is used to approximate

fttture redemption costs and is sheeted by

the mix of rewards redeemed Management

uses models to estimate ultimate

redemption rates based on historical

redemption statistics card product type

year of program enrollment enrollment

tenure and card spend levels These models

incorporate sophisticated statistical and

actuarial teclmiques to estinsate ultimate

redemption rates of points earned to date by

current card members given redemption

trends and projected future redemption

behavior

The global ultimate redemption rate

assumption for current participants is

approximately 90 percent The Company

continually evaluates its reserve

methodology and assumptions based on

developments in redemption patterns cost

per point redeemed contract changes and

other factors

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

The reserve for the estimated cost of

points expected to be redeemed is

impacted over time by enrollment levels

the number of points earned and

redeemed and the weighted-average cost

per point which is influenced by

redemption choices made by

cardmembers reward
offerings by

partners and other Membership Rewards

program changes The reserve is most

sensitive to changes in the estimated

ultimate redemption rate This rate is

based on the expectation that large

majority of all points earned will

eventually he redeemed

As of iecember 31 2009 if the

ultimate redemption rate of current

enrollees increased by 100 basis points

the balance sheet reserve and

corresponding provision for the cost of

Membership Rewards would each

increase by approximately $250 mfflion
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Description

The Company holds investment securities

certain subordinated interests in securitized

cardmember loans from the Companys

securitization program and derivative

instruments These financial instruments are

reflected at fair value on the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheets Management

makes
significant assumptions and judgments

when estimating fair value for these financial

instruments

Investment Securities

The Companys investment securities are

comprised of predominantly fixed-income

securities issued by states and municipalities as

well as the U.S Government and Agencies e.g

Fannie Mae Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae and

retained subordinated securities described

further below The investment securities are

classified as available-for-sale with changes in

fair value recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive loss income within

shareholders equity on the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheets except for

approximately $213 million as of December 31

2008 of investment securities included in

discontinued operations for which changes in

fair value are recorded in loss income from

discontinued operations in the Companys

Consolidated Statements of Income

Securitized Cardmember Loans

When the Company securitizes cardmember

loans they are accounted for as sales and the

loans are removed from the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company

retains certain subordinated interests in the

securitized cardmember loans which may

include one or more investments in tranches of

the securitization retained subordinated

securities and an interestonly strip

Assumptions/Approach Used

In accordance with fair value measurement

and disclosure guidance the objective of

fair value measurement is to determine the

price that would be received to sell an asset

or paid to transfer liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at

the measurement date an exit price The

disclosure guidance establishes three-level

hierarchy of valuation techniques used to

measure fair value The fair value hierarchy

gives the highest priority to the

measurement of fair value based on

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities Level

followed by the measurement of fair value

based on pricing models with significant

observable inputs Level with the lowest

priority given to the measurement of fair

value based on pricing models with

significant
unobservable inputs Level

Investment Securities

The fair market values for the Companys

investment securities excluding its retained

subordinated securities which are discussed

further below are obtained primarily from

pricing services engaged by the Company

The fair values provided by the pricing

services are estimated by using pricing

models where the inputs to those models are

based on observable market inputs The

inputs to the valuation techniques applied

by the pricing services vary depending on

the type of security being priced but are

typically benchmark yields benchmark

security prices credit spreads prepayment

speeds reported trades and/or broker-dealer

quotes all with reasonable levels of

transparency The pricing services do not

apply any adjustments to the pricing models

used In addition the Company did not

apply any adjustments to prices received

from the pricing services The Company has

reaffirmed its understanding of the

valuation techniques used by its pricing

services In addition the Company

corroborates the prices provided by its

pricing services to test their reasonableness

by comparing their prices to valuations

continued on next page

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

Investment Securities

In the measurement of fair value for the

Companys investment securities

excluding its retained subordinated

securities which are discussed further

below even though the underlying

inputs used in the pricing models are

directly observable from active markets

or recent trades of similar securities in

inactive markets the pricing models do

entail certain amount of subjectivity

and therefore differing judgments in

how the underlying inputs are modeled

could result in different estimates of fair

value

Retained Subordinated Securities and

Interest-Only Strip

In measuring the fair value for the

Companys retained subordinated

securities the fair value is impacted by

external market factors including

London Interbank Offered Rate

LIBOR forward rates and credit

spreads and therefore the use of

different inputs to the measurement of

the fair value of the Companys retained

subordinated securities could result in

different fair value measurement

The fair value of the interest-only

strip is impacted by changes in the

estimates and assumptions used in the

valuation models The use of different

inputs to the measurement of fair value

of these financial instruments could

result in different fair value

measurement

Refer to Note to the Companys

Consolidated Financial Statements

including sensitivity analyses relating to

changes in key assumptions for the

retained subordinated securities and

interest-only strip
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Description

Retained Subordinated Securities

Accounting for the retained subordinated

securities aligns with that described under

investment securities above

Interest-Only Strip

The interest-only strip is reported at fair value

in other assets on the Companys Consolidated

Balance Sheets Changes in the fair value of the

interest-only strip are also recorded in

securitization income net in the Companys

Consolidated Statements of Income

Due to changes in GAAP governing the

accounting for transfers of financial assets

effective January 12010 the Companys

retained subordinated securities and interest-

only strip
will be eliminated in consolidation

and no longer measured at fair value

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Assets

Defined benefit pension plan the Plan assets

are measured at fair value changes in which are

included in the determination of the Plans net

funded status which is reported in other

liabilities on the Companys Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Assumptions/Approach Used

from different pricing sources as well as

comparing prices to the sale prices received

from sold securities As of December 31

2009 and 2008 all of the Companys

investment securities are classified in either

Level or Level of the fair value hierarchy

Refer to Note to the Companys

Consolidated Financial Statements

Retained Subordinated Securities and

Interest-Only Strip

The fair value of the Companys retained

subordinated securities and interest-only

strip are determined using discounted cash

flow models

The discount rate for the retained

subordinated securities is estimated based

on an interest rate curve that is observable in

the marketplace plus an unobservable credit

spread commensurate with the risk of the

securities and similar financial instruments

The fair value of the Companys

interest-only strip
is the present value of

estimated future positive excess spread

expected to be generated by the securitized

loans over the estimated remaining life of

those loans Management utilizes certain

estimates and assumptions to determine the

fair value of the interest-only strip asset

including estimates for finance charge yield

credit losses LIBOR which determines

future certificate interest costs monthly

payment rate and the discount rate

The Companys retained subordinated

securities and interest-only strip are

classified in Level of the fair value

hierarchy Refer to Note to the Companys

Consolidated Financial Statements

Other- Than- Temporary Impairment

Realized losses are recognized when

management determines that decline in

value is other-than-temporary which

requires judgment regarding the amount

and timing of recovery The Company

reviews and evaluates its investment

securities including retained subordinated

securities at least quarterly and more often

as market conditions may require to

continued on next page

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

Other-Than- Temporary Impairment

In determining whether any of the

Companys investment securities

including retained subordinated

securities are other-than-temporarily

impaired change in facts and

circumstances could lead to change in

management judgment around the

Companys view on collectability
and

credit quality of the issuer or the

Companys intent to sell the investment

securities and whether it is more likely

than not that the Company will not be

required to sell the investment securities

before recovery of any unrealized losses

Therefore it is at least reasonably

possible that change in estimate will

occur in the near term relating to other-

than-temporary impairment This could

result in the Company recording an

other-than-temporary impairment loss

through earnings with corresponding

offset to accumulated other

comprehensive loss income As of

December31 2009 and 2008 the

Company had approximately $0.3 billion

and $1.6 billion respectively in gross

unrealized losses in its investment

securities portfolio including its retained

subordinated securities which were

deemed not to be other-than temporarily

impaired

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Assets

The fair value measurements for the Plan

assets contain similar amount of

subjectivity as described under

investment securities above and

therefore
differing judgments in how the

underlying inputs are modeled could

result in different estimates of fair value
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Description

Derivative Instruments

The Companys primary derivative instruments

include interest rate swaps foreign currency

forward agreements and cross-currency swaps

Derivative instruments are reported at fair value

in other assets and other liabilities on the

Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

Changes in fair value are recorded in

accumulated other comprehensive loss

income and/or in the Consolidated Statements

of Income depending on the documentation

and designation of the derivative instrument

and ii if the derivative instrument is in

hedging relationship its effectiveness in

offsetting the changes in the designated risk

being hedged

Assumptions/Approach Used

identify investment securities that have

indications of other-than-temporary

impairment The determination of other-

than-temporary impairment is subjective

process requiting the use of judgments and

assumptions Accordingly the Company

considers several metrics when evaluating

invçstment securities for an other-than-

temporary impairment The key factors

considered when assessing other-than-

temporary impairment include the

determination of the extent to which the

decline in fair value of the investment

security is due to increased default risk for

the specific issuer or market interest rate

risk With respect to increased default risk

the Company assesses the colleceibility of

principal and interest payments by

monitoring number of issuer specific

factors and the extent to which amortized

cost exceeds fair value and the duration and

size of that difference With respect to

market interest rate risk including

benchmark interest rates and credit spreads

the Company assesses whether it has the

intent to sell the investment securities and

whether it is more likely than not that the

Company will not be required to sell the

investment securities before recovery of any

unrealized losses Refer to Note to the

Companys Consolidated Financial

Statements

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

Derivative Instruments

In the measurement of fair value for the

Companys derivative instruments

although the underlying inputs used in the

pricing models are readily observable from

actively quoted markets the pricing

models do entail certain amount of

subjectivity and therefore differing

judgments in how the underlying inputs

are modeled could result in different

estimates of fair value In addition any

necessary credit valuation adjustments are

based on observable default rates change

in facts and circumstances could lead to

change in management judgnient about

counterparty credit quality which could

result in the Company recognizing an

additional counterparty credit valuation

adjustment As of December 31 2009 the

credit and nonperformance risks associated

with the Companys derivative instrument

counterparties were not significant

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Assets

The fair value measurements for the Plan

assets align with those described under

investment securities above Refer to Note

21 to the Companys Consolidated Financial

Statements

Derivative Instruments

The fair value of the Companys derivative

instruments is estimated by using either

third-party valuation service that uses

proprietary pricing models or by using

internal pricing models neither of which

contains high level of
subjectivity as the

valuation techniques used do not require

significant judgment and inputs to those

continued on next page
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Effect if Actual Results Differ

Description Assumptions/Approach Used from Assumptions

models are readily observable from actively

quoted markets In each case the valuation

models used are consistently applied and

reflect the contractual terms of the

derivatives including the period of

maturity and market-based parameters

such as interest rates foreign exchange rates

equity indices or prices and volatility

Credit valuation adjustments are

necessary when the market parameters for

example benchmark curve used to value

the derivative instruments are not indicative

of the credit quality of the Company or its

counterparties The Company considers the

counterparty credit risk by applying an

observable forecasted default rate to the

current exposure

The Company manages derivative

instrument counterparty credit risk by

considering the current exposure which is

the replacement cost of contracts on the

measurement date as well as estimating the

maximum potential value of the contracts

over the next 12 months considering such

factors as the volatility of the underlying or

reference index To mitigate derivative

instrument credit risk counterparties are

required to be pre-approved and rated as

investment grade The Companys derivative

instruments are classified in Level of the

fair value hierarchy Refer to Notes and 12

to the Companys Consolidated Financial

Statements
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Description

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition

cost of an acquired company over the fair value

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed In

accordance with GAAP goodwill is not

amortized but is tested for impairment at the

reporting unit level annually at June 30 and

between annual tests if events or circumstances

arise such as adverse changes in the business

climate that would more likely than not reduce

the fair value of the reporting unit below its

carrying value

The Company assigns goodwill to its

reporting units for the purpose of impairment

testing reporting unit is defined as either an

operating segment or business one level

below an operating segment for which discrete

financial information is available that

management regularly reviews

The goodwill impairment test utilizes

two-step approach The first step identifies

whether there is potential impairment by

comparing the fair value of reporting unit to

its carrying amount including goodwill If the

fair value of reporting unit is less than its

carrying amount the second step of the

impairment test is required to measure the

amount of any impairment loss

Assumptions/Approach Used

Goodwill impairment testing involves

management judgment requiring an

assessment of whether the carrying value of

the reporting unit can be supported by its

fair value using widely accepted valuation

techniques such as the market approach

earnings multiples or transaction multiples

for the industry in which the reporting unit

operates or the income approach

discounted cash flow methods The fair

values of the reporting units were

detennined using combination of

valuation techniques consistent with the

market approach and the income approach

When preparing discounted cash flow

models under the income approach the

Company estimates future cash flows using

the reporting units internal five year

forecast and terminal value calculated

using growth rate that management

believes is appropriate in view of current

and expected future economic conditions

The Company then applies discount rate

to discount these future cash flows to arrive

at net present value amount which

represents the estimated fair value of the

reporting unit The discount rate applied

approximates the expected cost of equity

financing determined using capital asset

pricing model The model generates an

appropriate discount rate using internal and

external inputs to value future cash flows

based on the time value of money and the

price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in

an investment The Company believes the

resulting rate 11.4 percent appropriately

reflects the risks and uncertainties in the

financial markets generally and in the

Companys internally developed forecasts

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

The Company has approximately $2.3

billion of goodwill as of December 31

2009 The fair value of each of the

Companys reporting units is above its

carrying value accordingly the Company

has concluded its goodwill is not impaired

at December 31 2009 The Company

could be exposed to increased risk of

goodwill impairment if future operating

results or macroeconomic conditions

differ significantly from managements

current assumptions
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Description

The Company is subject to the income tax laws

of the United States its states and

municipalities and those of the foreign

jurisdictions in which the Company operates

These tax laws are complex and the manner in

which they apply to the taxpayers facts is

sometimes open to interpretation In

establishing provision for income tax expense

the Company must make judgments about the

application of these inherently complex tax

laws

Unrecognized Tax
Benefits

The Company establishes liability for

unrecognized tax benefits which are the

differences between tax position taken or

expected to be taken in tax return and the

benefit recognized in the financial statements

Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

determined based on the differences between

the financial statement and tax bases of assets

and liabilities using the enacted tax rates

expected to be in effect for the years in which

the differences are expected to reverse

valuation allowance is established when

management determines that it is more likely

than not that all or some portion of the benefit

of the deferred tax asset will not be realized

Assumptions/Approach Used

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

In establishing liability
for an

unrecognized tax benefit assumptions may

be made in determining whether tax

position is more likely
than not to be

sustained upon examination by the taxing

authority and also in determining the

ultimate amount that is likely to be realized

tax position is recognized only when

based on managements judgment regarding

the application of income tax laws it is

more likely
than not that the tax position

will be sustained upon examination The

amount of tax benefit recognized is based on

the Companys assessment of the most likely

outcome on ultimate settlement with the

taxing authority This measurement is based

on many factors including whether tax

dispute may be settled through negotiation

with the taxing authority or is only subject

to review in the courts As new information

becomes available the Company evaluates

its tax positions and adjusts its

unrecognized tax benefits as appropriate

Deferred Taxes

Since deferred taxes measure the future tax

effects of items recognized in the financial

statements certain estimates and

assumptions are required to determine

whether it is more likely
than not that all or

some portion of the benefit of deferred tax

asset will not be realized In making this

assessment management analyzes and

estimates the impact of future taxable

income reversing temporary differences and

available tax planning strategies Thest

assessments are performed quarterly taking

into account any new information

Effect if Actual Results Differ

from Assumptions

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

If the tax benefit ultimately realized

differs from the amount previously

recognized in the income tax provision

the Company recognizes an adjustment

of the unrecognized tax benefit through

the income tax provision

Deferred Taxes

Should change in facts or

circumstances lead to change in

judgment about the ultimate realizability

of deferred tax asset the Company

records or adjusts the related valuation

allowance in the period that the change

in facts or circumstances occurs along

with corresponding increase or

decrease to the income tax provision
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AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF
oPERATIONS

UM MARY 01-TIlE COMPANYS
FINANCIAL l1R R\1ANCI

Years Ended December 31

Millions except per share

amounts and ratio data

Total revenues net of interest expense

Provisions for losses

Expenses

Income from continuing operations

Net income

Earnings per common share from

continuing operations diluted

Earnings per common share diluted

Return on average equity

Return on average tangible common

equitytb

ROE is calculated by dividing net income $2.1 billion $2.7

billion and $4.0 billion for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively by

ii average total shareholders equity $14.6 billion $12.1 billion

and $10.8 billion for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Return on average tangible common equity is computed in the

same manner as ROE except the computation of average TCE

excludes average goodwill and other intangibles of $3.0 billion

$2.5 billion and $1.6 billion as of December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively The Company believes that return on average

tangible common equity is useful measure of profitability of its

business

SELEClEL STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Years Ended December 31

Billions except percentages

and where indicated 2009 2008

Card billed businesstt

United States

Outside the United States

Total

Total cards-in-force millions

United States

Outside the United States

Total

Basic cards-in-force mil1ionst

United States

Outside the United States

Total

Average discount ratedl

Average basic cardmember spending

dollars

Average fee per card dollarsY

Average fee per card adjusted

dollars

2008

$28365

5798

$18986

2871

2699

2007

$27559

4103

$17762

4126

4012

2009

$24523

5313

$16369

2137

2130

1.54

1.54

14.6%

2007

423.7 471.1 459.3

196.1 212.2 188.0

619.8 683.3 647.3

48.9 54.0 52.3

39.0 38.4 34.1

87.9 92.4 86.4

2.47 3.44

2.32 3.34

22.3% 37.3%

17.6% 28.0% 44.0%

38.2 42.0 40.9

34.3 33.4 29.2

72.5 75.4 70.1

2.54% 2.55% 2.56%

$11213 $12025 $12106

36 34 32

40 39 36

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

Card billed business includes activities including cash advances

related to proprietary cards cards issued under network

partnership agreements and certain insurance fees charged on

proprietary cards Card billed business is reflected in the United

States or outside the United States based on where the

cardmember is domiciled
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Total cards-in-force represents the number of cards that are

issued and outstanding Proprietary basic consumer

cardsinforce includes basic cards issued to the primary account

owner and does not include additional suppletenta1 cards issued

on that account Proprietary basic small business and corporate

cards-in-force include basic and supplemental cards issued to

employee cardmembers Non-proprietary basic cards-in-force

includes all cards that are issued and outstanding under network

partnership agreements

This calculation is designed to approximate nerchant pricing It

represents the percentage of billed business bqth proprietary and

GNS retained by the Company from merchants it acquires prior

to payments to third parties unrelated to merchant acceptance

Average basic cardmember spending and average fee per card are

computed from proprietary card activities only Average fee per

card is computed based on net card fees including the

amortization of deferred direct acquisition costs plus card fees

included in interest and fees on loans including related

amortization of deferred direct acquisition costs divided by

average worldwide proprietary cards-in-force The card fees

related to cardmember loans included in interest and fees on

loans were $186 million $146 million and $130 million for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

adjusted average fee per card is computed in the same manner

but excludes amortization of deferred direct acquisition costs

portion of which is charge card related and included in net card

fees and portion of which is lending related and included in

interest and fees on loans The amount of amortization excluded

was $243 million $320 million and $288 miilion for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

Company presents adjusted average fee per card because

management believes that this metric presents useful indicator

of card fee pricing across range of its proprietary card products

AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY
SELECTF.l STATISTICAL lNFORMATlON

As of or for the Years Ended December 31

Billions except percentages

and where indicated 2009 2008 2007

Worldwide cardmember receivables

Total receivables

Loss reserves millions

Beginning balance

Provision

Net write_offsb1

Other ____ ____ ____
Ending balance

______ ______

of receivables

Net write-off rate USCSb

30 days past due as of total USCS

Net loss ratio as of charge

volume ICS

90 days past billing as of total ICSC

Net loss ratio as of charge

volume GCS

90 days past bithng as of total GCS
Worldwide cardmember

lending owned basisd

Total loans

30 days past due as of total

Loss reserves rillions

Beginning balance

Provision

Net write-offs principal

Write-offs interest and fees

Other

Endina balance

Ending Reserves principal

Ending Reserves interest and fees

of loans

of past due

Average loans

Net write-off rate

Net interest income divided by

average loansfl1i

Net interest
yield on cardmember loanst1

Worldwide cardmember

lending managed basiss

Total loans

30 days past due as of total

Net write-offs principal millions

Average loans

Net writeoff rate

Net interest yield on cardmember loans

33.7 33.0 40.1

810 1149 981

857 1363 1140

1131 1552 907
10 150 65

546 810 1149

1.6% 2.5% 2.9%

3.8% 3.6% N/A

1.8% 37% N/A

0.36% 0.24% 0.26%

2.1% 3.1% 1.8%

0.19% 0.13% 0.10%

1.4% 2.7% 2.1%

32.8 42.2 54.4

3.6% 4.4% 2.8%

2570 1831 1171

4209 4106 2615

2949 2643 1636

448 580 354

114 144 35

3268 2570 1831

3172 2379 1691

96$ 191$ 140

10.0% 6.1% 3.4%

279% 137% 119/s

34.8 47.6 47.1

8.5% 5.5% 35%

9.0% 7.7% 7.3%

9.7% 8.8% 8.9%

61.8

3.6%

5366

63.8

8.4%

10.2%

72.0

4.6%

4065

75.0

5.4%

9.2%

77.1

2.8%

2280

68.2

3.3%

9.0%
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See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company revised the time

period in which past due cardmember receivables in USCS are

written off to 180 days past due consistent with applicable

regulatory guidance Previously receivables were written off when

360 days past billing The net write-offs for 2008 include

approximately $341 million resulting from this write-off

methodology change which is not reflected in the net write-off

rate for USCS If the $341 million had been included in USCS

write-offs the net write-off rate would have been 5.4 percent

for 2008

cardmember account is considered 90 days past billing if

payment has not been received within 90 days of the

cardmembers
billing statement date In addition if the Company

initiates collection procedures on an account prior to the account

becoming 90 days past hilling the associated cardmember

receivable balance is considered as 90 days past billing

cardmember account becomes pastdue if payment is not received

within 30 days after the billing statement date

Owned GAAP basis measurement reflects only cardmember

loans included on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

This amount includes reserves of $160 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 that were removed in connection with

securitizations during the period The offset is in the allocated

cost of the associated retained subordinated securities This

amount also includes foreign currency translation adjustments

The prior period included foreign currency translation and other

adjustments primarily related to the reclassification of certain

waived fee reserves to contra-cardmember receivable

See below for calculations of net interest
yield on cardmember

loans and the ratio of net interest income divided by average loans

presented on an owned basis The Company believes net interest

yield on cardmember loans on both an owned and managed

basis is useflul to investors because it provides measure of

profitability
of the Companys cardmember loans portfolio

Includes on-balance sheet cardmember loans and off-balance

sheet securitized cardmember loans The difference between the

owned basis GAAP information and managed basis

information is attributable to the effects of securitization

activities Refer to the information Set forth under USCS Selected

Financial Information for further discussion of the managed basis

presentation

This calculation includes elements of total interest income and

total interest expense that are not attributable to the cardmember

loan portfolio and thus is not representative of net interest yield

on cardmember loans The calculation includes interest income

and interest expense attributable to investment securities and

other interest-bearing deposits as well as to cardmember loans

and interest expense attributable to other activities including

cardmember receivables

CAI.CIjlA lION OF NET INTEREST YIELD ON
CA.RlM.EMIWR LOANS

Years Ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008

Owned Basis

Net interest income

Average loans billions

Adjusted net interest income

Adjusted average loans billions

Net interest income divided by average loans

Net interest
yield on cardmember loans

Managed Basis

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

Includes the GAAP to managed basis securitization adjustments

to interest income and interest expense as set forth under USCS

Selected Financial Information managed basis presentation

The following discussions regarding Consolidated Results of

Operations and Consolidated Liquidity and Capital Resources

are presented on basis consistent with GAAP unless

otherwise noted

CONSOLIDA1El RESULiS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE

TI IREE YEARS ENDEI DECEMBlR 31 2009

The Companys 2009 consolidated income from continuing

operations decreased $734 miflion or 26 percent to $2.1

billion and diluted EPS from continuing operations declined

$0.93 or 38 percent to $1.54 Consolidated income from

continuing operations for 2008 decreased $1.3 billion or 30

percent from 2007 and diluted EPS from continuing

operations for 2008 declined $0.97 or 28 percent from 2007

The Companys 2009 consolidated net income decreased

$569 million or 21 percent to $2.1 billion and diluted EPS

decreased $0.78 or 34 percent to $1.54 Consolidated net

income for 2008 and 2007 was $2.7 billion and $4.0 billion

respectively Net income included losses from discontinued

operations of $7 million $172 million and $114 million for

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The Companys total revenues net of interest expense

provisions for losses and total expenses decreased by

approximately 14 percent percent and 14 percent

respectively in 2009 Assuming no changes in foreign

currency exchange rates from 2008 to 2009 total revenues net

of interest expense provisions for losses and total
expenses

decreased approximately 12 percent percent and 12

$3124

34.8

$3392

34.9

9.0%

9.7%

$5977

63.8

$6500

63.9

10.2%

$3646

47.6

$4199

47.7

7.7%

8.8%

$6328

75.0

$6881

75.0

9.2%

Net interest income5

Average loans billions

Adjusted net interest income

Adjusted average loans billions

Net interest yield on cardmember loans
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percent respectively in 2009.2 Currency rate changes had

minimal impact on the growth rates in 2008

Results from continuing operations for 2009 included

$180 million $113 million after-tax bepefit in the third

quarter related to the accounting for net investment in

the Companys consolidated foreign subsidiaries See also

Business Segment Results Corporate Other below for

further discussion

$211 million $135 million after-tax gain in the second

quarter of 2009 on the sale of 50 percent of the Companys

equity holdings of Industrial and Commercial Bank of

China ICBC and

$190 million $125 million after-tax nçt charge related

to the Companys reengineering initiatives

Results from continuing operations for 2008 included

$600 million $374 million after-tax addition to U.S

lending credit reserves reflecting deterioration of credit

indicators in the second quarter of 2008

$449 million $291 million after-tax net charge

primarily reflecting the restructuring costs related to the

Companys reengineering initiatives in th fourth quarter

of 2008

$220 million $138 million after-tax eduction to the

fair market value of the Companys interest-only strip and

$106 million $66 million after-tax charge in the fourth

quarter of 2008 to increase the Companys Membership

Rewards liability in connection with the Companys

extension of its partnership arrangements with Delta

Results from continuing operations for 2007 included

$1.13 billion $700 million after-tax gain for the initial

payment due March 31 2008 from Visa as part of the

litigation settlement

An $80 million $50 million after-tax gain in connection

with derivative and hedging instruments

$63 million $39 million after-tax gain relating to

amendments to the Companys U.S pension plans

effective July 2007 that reduced projected pension

obligations to plan participants

These currency rate adjustments assume constant exchange rate

between periods for purposes of currency translation into U.S

dollars i.e assumes the foreign exchange rates used to determine

results for the current year apply to the corresponding year-earlier

period against which such results are being compared

Management believes that this presentation is helpful to investors

by making it easier to compare the Companys performance from

one period to another without the
variability

caused by

fluctuations in currency exchange rates

$685 million $430 million after-tax charge related to

enhancements to the method of estimating Membership

Rewards liability

$438 million $274 million after-tax credit-related

charge due to experienced deterioration of credit indicators

in the latter part of 2007 This fourth quarter charge was

split between USCS cardmember loans and cardmember

receivables of $288 million and $96 million respectively

and included $54 million relating to reduction in the fair

value of the Companys retained subordinated interest in

securitized cardmember loans

$211 million $131 million after-tax of incremental

businessbuilding costs

$74 million $46 million after-tax of Visa litigation-related

costs and

$50 million $31 million after-tax contribution to the

American Express Charitable Fund

Also included in the 2007 results were $66 million

$43 million after-tax of reengineering costs related to the

Companys business travel prepaid services international

payments business and technology areas

iotal Revenues Net of Interest Expense

Consolidated total revenues net of interest expense for 2009 of

$24.5 billion were down $3.8 billion or 14 percent from 2008

due to lower discount revenue lower total interest income

reduced securitization income net lower other commissions

and fees reduced travel commissions and fees and decreased

other revenues partially offset by lower total interest expense

Consolidated total revenues net of interest expense of $28.4

billion for 2008 were $806 million or percent higher than

2007 primarily due to greater discount revenue lower total

interest expense higher other revenues increased net card

fees and greater travel commissions and fees partially offset

by lower securitization income net decreased interest income

and lower other commissions and fees

Discount revenue for 2009 declined $1.6 billion or 11

percent as compared to 2008 to $13.4 billion as result of

percent decrease in worldwide billed business The greater

decrease in discount revenue compared to billed business

primarily reflects growth in bified business related to GNS

where the Company shares the discount revenue with card

issuing partners as well as slight decline in the average

discount rate The percent decrease in worldwide billed

business in 2009 reflected decline in proprietary billed

business of 11 percent offset by percent increase in billed

business related to GNS The average discount rate was 2.54

percent 2.55 percent and 2.56 percent for 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively Over time selective repricing initiatives

changes in the mix of business and volume-related pricing

discounts likely will result in some erosion of the average

discount rate
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U.S billed business and billed business outside the United

States were down 10 percent and percent respectively in

2009 The decline in billed business within the United States

reflected decrease in basic cards-in-force and average

spending per proprietary basic card The decline in billed

business outside the United States reflected decrease in

average spending per proprietary basic card and decreases

within the Companys consumer card small business and

Corporate Services business

The table below summarizes selected statistics for billed business and average spend

%Vorldwide

2009 2008

Percentage Increase

Decrease Assuming

No Changes in

Percentage Increase Foreign Exchange Percentage Increase

Decrease Rates10 Decrease

Percentage Increase

Decrease Assuming

No Changes in

Foreign Exchange

Rates11

Billed business

Proprietary billed business

GNS volumes5

Average spending per proprietary basic card

United States

Billed business

Average spending per proprietary basic card

Proprietary consumer card billed business11

Proprietary small business billed business

Proprietary Corporate Services billed businessd

Outside the United States

Billed business

Average spending per proprietary basic card

Proprietary consumer and small business billed

business11

Proprietary Corporate Services billed businessid

9%
11

10

10

13

11

10

19

Captions in the table above not designated as proprietary include both proprietary and GNS data

Included in the GNMS segment

Included in the USCS segment

Included in the GCS segment

Included in the ICS segment

Refer to footnote on page 34 relating to changes in foreign exchange rates

Assuming no changes in foreign exchange rates total billed

business outside the United States reflected mid-single digit

volume increases in Latin America and Asia Pacific and

mid-single digit declines in Canada and Europe

During 2008 discount revenue rose $429 million or

percent to $15 billion compared to 2007 as result of

percent increase in worldwide billed business partially offset

by lower average discount rate relatively faster growth in

billed business related to GNS and higher cash-back rewards

costs and corporate incentive payments which are reported as

reductions to revenue contra-revenue The percent

increase in worldwide billed business in 2008 reflected growth

in proprietary billed business of percent and 27 percent

increase in billed business related to GNS
Net card fees in 2009 remained unchanged compared to

2008 as the decline in total proprietary cards in force was

offset by an increase in the average fee per card Net card fees

in 2008 of $2.2 billion increased $231 million or 12 percent

compared to 2007 due to higher average
fee

per proprietary

card

Travel commissions and fees decreased $416 million or 21

percent to $1.6 billion in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily

reflecting 28 percent decrease in worldwide travel sales

partially offset by higher sales commission and fee rates

7% 6% 5%

11 27 27

13 12

12
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Travel commissions and fees in 2008 of $2.0 billion increased

$84 million or percent compared to 2007 primarily

reflecting percent increase in worldwide travel sales

Other commissions and fees decreased $29 million or 23

percent to $1.8 billion in 2009 compared to 2008 due to

lower delinquency fees reflecting decreased owned loan

balances and the impacts of various customer assistance

programs in addition to reduced spending-related foreign

currency conversion revenues Other commissions and fees

decreased $110 million or percent in 2008 to $2.3 billion

compared to 2007 due to the reclassification other revenues

in USCS of certain card service-related fees eginning in the

first quarter of 2008 and lower level of fees related to lower

average balance of owned loans which were partially offset by

increased assessment revenues

Securitization income net decreased $670 million or 63

percent to $400 million in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily

due to lower excess spread net driven by increased write-offs

and decrease in interest income on cardmember loans and

fee revenues These unfavorable impacts were partially offset

by decrease in interest expense due to lower coupon rates

paid on variable-rate investor certificates as well as

favorable fair value adjustment of the interest-only strip

Securitization income net decreased $437 million or 29

percent to $1.1 billion in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily

due to lower excess spread net driven by increased write-offs

charges to the fair value of the interest-only strip reflecting

lower expected future cash flows and net loss on sales

compared to net gains in the prior year Thtse impacts were

partially offset by higher finance charges aid fees due to

greater average balance of securitized loans and lower interest

expense due to lower rates paid on investor certificates

Other revenues in 2009 decreased $70 million or percent

to $2.1 billion compared to 2008 primarily reflecting

decreased revenues from CPS due to the migration of clients

to the American Express network and lower publishing

revenues partially offset by the ICBC gain Other revenues

increased $406 million or 23 percent to $2.2 billion in 2008

compared to 2007 primarily reflecting the benefits of the CPS

acquisition higher network and partner-related revenues

reclassification from other commissions and fees from USCS

as discussed above and greater foreign exchange-related

revenues

Interest income decreased $1.9 billion 26 percent to

$5.3 billion in 2009 compared to 2008 Interest and fees on

loans decreased $1.7 billion or 27 percent due to decline in the

average
owned loan balance reduced marlet interest rates

and the impact of various customer assistance programs

partially offset by the benefit Of certain repTicing initiatives

Interest and dividends on investment securities increased $33

million or percent primarily reflecting incrçased investment

levels partially offset by reduced investment yields Interest

income from deposits with banks and other decreased $212

million or 78 percent primarily due to redticed yield and

lower balance of deposits in other banks During 2008

interest income decreased $223 million or percent to $7.2

billion compared to 2007 reflecting primarily decrease in

interest and fees on loans which declined $192 million or

percent due to lower portfolio yield reduced market interest

rates on variably priced assets partially offset by slightly

higher average owned loan balance

Interest expense decreased $1.3 billion or 38 percent to

$2.2 billion in 2009 compared to 2008 Interest expense

related to deposits decreased $29 million or percent

primarily due to lower cost of funds which more than offset

increased balances Interest expense related to short-term

borrowings decreased $446 million or 92 percent due to

significantly lower short-term debt levels and lower cost of

funds Interest expense related to long-term debt and other

decreased $873 million or 33 percent primarily reflecting

lower cost of funds driven by reduced market rates on

variably priced debt as well as lower average balance of

long-term debt outstanding Interest expense of $3.6 billion in

2008 was $426 million or 11 percent lower than 2007

reflecting $248 million decrease in interest expense on

short-term borrowing primarily due to lower cost of funds

and decrease in average short-term debt

Prsion for Iossc

Provisions for losses of $5.3 billion in 2009 decreased $485

million or percent compared to 2008 Charge card

provisions for losses decreased $506 million or 37 percent

primarily driven by improved credit performance

Cardmember loans provisions for losses increased $35

million or percent primarily due to higher cardmember

reserve level due to the challenging credit environment

partially offset by lower owned loan balance

Provisions for losses of $5.8 billion in 2008 increased $1.7

billion or 41 percent compared to 2007 Charge card

provisions fo losses increased $223 million or 20 percent in

2008 primarily due to higher loss and delinquency rates

compared to 2007 partially offset by the credit-related charge

in the fourth quarter of 2007 Cardmember loans provisions

for losses increased $1.5 billion or 53 percent due to higher

write-off and delinquency rates and higher average owned

loan balances

Expenscs

Consolidated expenses for 2009 were $16.4 billion down $2.6

billion or 14 percent from $19.0 billion in 2008 The decrease

in 2009 was primarily driven by lower other net expenses

reduced salaries and employee benefits expenses lower

marketing and promotion expense and decreased

cardmember rewards expense partially offset by greater

cardmember services expense Consolidated expenses for 2008

were $19.0 billion up $1.2 billion or percent from $17.8

billion in 2007 The increase in 2008 was primarily driven by

higher other net expenses greater salaries and employee
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benefits expenses higher occupancy and equipment expenses

increased professional services costs and greater cardmember

services expense partially offset by decreased cardmember

rewards expense and lower marketing and promotion

expense Consolidated expenses
in 2009 2008 and 2007 also

included $190 million $449 million and $66 million

respectivcly of reengineering costs of which $185 million

$417 mfflion and $49 million respectively represent

restructuring charges Refer to the 4iscussion earlier regarding

the Companys 2008 and 2009 reengineering initiatives and

Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for

restructuring activities for all periods

Marketing and promotion expenses decreased $516

million or 21 percent to $1.9 billion in 2009 from $2.4 billion

in 2008 due to lower spending levels in the first three quarters

of 2009 partially offset by higher expense
in the fourth

quarter of 2009 Marketing and promotion for 2008 decreased

$132 million or percent to $2.4 billion reflecting decreased

investments as compared to 2007 which included the

incremental business-building costs

Cardmember rewards expenses decreased $353 million or

percent to $4.0 billion in 2009 from $4.4 billion in 2008

reflecting lower rewards -related spending volumes partially

offset by higher redemption rates and Costs in Membership

Rewards and higher costs with relatively lower declines in

co-brand spending volumes Cardmember rewards decreased

$388 million or percent to $4.4 billion in 2008 from $4.8

billion in 2007 reflecting the Membership Rewards-related

charge in 2007 which was partially offset by the Deltarelated

charge in 2008 to increase the Membership Rewards liability

and higher volume-driven rewards costs

Salaries and employee benefits expenses decreased $1.0

billion or 17 percent to $5.1 billion in 2009 from $6.1 billion

in 2008 reflecting lower employee levels and costs related to

the Companys reengineering initiatives as well as the

restructuring charge in the fourth quarter of 2008 Salaries

and employee benefits expenses in 2008 increased $652

million or 12 percent to $6.1 billion from $5.4 billion in 2007

reflecting the fourth quarter of 2008 restructuring charge

related to the Companys reengineering initiatives an increase

in average headcount greater merit and sales force-related

incentive costs and the pension-related gain in 2007

Professional services expenses in 2009 compared to 2008

remained flat Professional services expenses in 2008

compared to 2007 increased $133 million or percent

Other net expenses in 2009 decreased $708 million or 23

percent to $2.4 billion compared to 2008 reflecting the full

year of settlement payments from MasterCard in 2009 versus

two quarters in 2008 $180 million third quarter benefit

related to the accounting for net investment in the

Companys consolidated foreign subsidiaries as discussed

further in Business Segment Results Corporate Other

below $59 million benefit in the second quarter of 2009

from the completion of certain account reconciliations related

to prior periods and lower travel and entertainment and

other expenses due to the Companys reengineering activities

These were partially offset by $9 million favorable impact in

the fourth quarter of 2008 related to fair value hedge

ineffectiveness Other net expenses in 2008 increased $895

million or 40 percent to $3.1 billion compared to 2007

primarily due to the initial $1.13 billion Visa litigation

settlement gain in the fourth quarter of 2007 net of litigation

expenses the related contribution to the American Express

Charitable Fund and the 2008 expenses related to the CPS

acquisition These impacts were partially offset by the 2008

settlement payments from MasterCard and Visa

Income Iaxcs

The effective tax rate was 25 percent in 2009 compared to 20

percent in 2008 and 28 percent in 2007 The tax rates for these

years reflect tax benefits related to the resolution of certain

prior years tax items and recurring permanent tax benefits in

relation to the level of pretax income

iccont in kd Operal ions

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax was $7 million

$172 million and $114 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively Loss from discontinued operations net of tax

primarily reflected AEIDC and AEB results from operations

including AEIDCs $15 million $10 million after-tax $275

million $179 million after-tax and $105 million $69 million

after-tax of losses related to mark-to-market adjustments and

sales within the AEIDC investment portfolio in 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively as well as AEBs compliance-related

remediation costs of $71 million $45 million after-tax to

implement more robust compliance program and

regulatory and legal expenses and monetary penalties of $60

million pretax and after-tax in 2007

CASH LI GWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

In 2009 and 2008 net cash provided by operating activities

exceeded net income primarily due to provisions for losses

which do not require cash at the time of provision Similarly

depreciation and amortization represent non-cash expenses

In addition net cash was provided by net income and higher

accounts payable and other liabilities balances including the

Membership Rewards liability These accounts vary

significantly in the normal course of business due to the

amount and timing of various payments

For the year ended December 31 2009 net cash provided

by operating activities of $6.4 billion decreased compared to

2008 The decrease was primarily due to decrease in deferred

taxes acquisition costs and other fluctuations in the

Companys other receivables accounts payable and other

liabilities as well as reduction in income from continuing

operations partially offset by changes in other assets
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Net cash provided by operating activities increased in 2008

compared to 2007 primarily due to the increase in non-cash

provisions for losses and deferred taxes acquisition Cost and

other offset by the outflow of cash resulting from fluctuations

in the Companys other assets

Cash Fows from nveslmg Activities

The Companys investing activities primarily include funding

cardmember loans and receivables securitizations of

cardmember loans and receivables and the Companys

available-for-sale investment portfolio

For the year ended December 31 2009 increased net cash

used in investing activities of $6.8 billion compared to net

cash provided by investing activities of $7.6 billion in 2008

due to lower proceeds from cardmember loan securitizations

primarily due to decrease in maturities and redemptions of

investments and an increase in restricted cash required for

related securitization activities

In 2008 net cash used in investing activities increased

from 2007 primarily due to net decreases in cardmember

receivables and loans balances and cash provided by the sale

of investments attributable to discontinued operations offset

by cash used for acquisitions

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

The Companys financing activities primarily include issuing

and repaying debt taking customer deposits paying

dividends and repurchasing its common and preferred

shares

In 2009 net cash used in financing activities of $4.6 billion

decreased compared to 2008 primarily due to an increase in

customer deposits in 2009 and reduction in cash used in

financing activities attributable to discontinued operations in

2008

In 2008 net cash used in financing activities increased

compared to 2007 primarily due to net repayments of debt

and the net cash used in financing activities attributable to

discontinued operations partially offset by decrease in the

repurchase of American Express common shares from 2007

IRAN I.FREGUIATORY AN OTHEI

IIIVII PI INIS

As participant in the financial services industry the

Company is subject to wide array of regulations applicable

to its businesses The Company is bank holding company

and is subject to the supervision of the Federal Reserve As

such the Company is subject to the Federal Reserves

regulations and policies including its regulatory capital

requirements In addition the extreme disruptions in the

capital markets since mid-2007 and the resulting instability

and failure of numerous financial institutions have led to

number of proposals for changes in the financial services

industry including significant additional regulation and the

potential formation of additional regulatory bodies To that

end in the summer of 2009 legislation proposing significant

structural reforms to the financial services industry was

introduced in the U.S Congress Among other things the

legislation proposes the establishment of Consumer

Financial Protection Agency which would have broad

authority to regulate providers of credit savings payment and

other consumer financial products and services Additional

legislative proposals also call for substantive regulation across

the financial services industry such as new requirements for

the securitization market including requiring sponsors
of

securitizations to retain material economic interest in the

credit risk associated with the underlying securitization

Legislative and regulatory changes could impact the

profitability of the Companys business activities require the

Company to change certain of its business practices and

expose it to additional costs including increased compliance

costs

In recent years there has been heightened level of

regulatory attention on banks and the payments industry in

many countries In May 2009 the U.S Congress passed and

the President of the United States signed into law legislation

to fundamentally reform credit card billing practices pricing

and disclosure requirements This legislation accelerated the

effective date and expanded the scope of amendments to the

rules regarding Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices UDAP
and Truth in Lending Act that restrict certain credit and

charge card practices and require expanded disclosures to

consumers which were adopted in December 2008 by federal

bank regulators in the United States Together the legislation

and the regulatory amendments portions of which became

effective commencing August 2009 include among other

matters rules relating to the imposition by card issuers of

interest rate increases on outstanding balances and the

allocation of payments in respect of outstanding balances with

different interest rates The Company is undertaking various

actions to mitigate the impact of the legislation and the

amendments on its business and operations In the event any

actions undertaken by the Company to offset their impact are

not effective the legislation and amendments will likely have

material adverse effect on the Companys results of

operations

The credit and charge card industry also faces continuing

scrutiny in connection with the fees merchants are charged to

accept cards Although investigations into the way bankcard

network members collectively set the interchange that is

the fee paid by the bankcard merchant acquirer to the card

issuing bank in four party payment networks like Visa and

MasterCard had largely been subject of regulators outside

the United States legislation has been introduced in Congress

designed to give merchants antitrust immunity to negotiate

interchange collectively with card networks and to regulate

certain card network practices Although unlike the Visa and
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Risk-Based Capital

Tier

American Express Company

Centurion Bank

FSB

Total

American Express Company

Centurion Bank

FSB

Tier Leverage

American Express Company

Centurion Bank

FSB

Tier Common Risk-Based

American Express Company

Common Equity to Risk-

Weighted Assetsk

American Express Company

Tangible common Equity to

Risk-Weighted Assets

American Express Company

2009

2009 ProForma

Actual

leading global payments and travel company net of reserves

for expected credit losses

The following table presents the regulatory risk-based

capital ratios and leverage ratio for the Company and its

significant banking subsidiaries as well as some additional

ratios for the Company widely utilized in the marketplace at

December 31 2009 The respective pro forma ratios are also

presented assuming the Lending Trust was consolidated in

the fourth quarter of 2009

Well-

Capitalized

Ratio

6%

10%

5%

MasterCard networks the American Express network does

not collectively set fees antitrust actions and
government

regulation of the bankcard networks pricing could ultimately

affect all networks

In addition to the legislative and regulatory initiatives in

the United States regarding card practices and merchant fees

other countries in which the Company operates have been

considering and in some cases adopting similar legislation and

rules that would impose changes on certain practices of card

issuers and bankcard networks which could have material

adverse effect on the Companys results of operations

CONSOLIIATE. CAPITAL
RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The Companys balance sheet management objectives are to

maintain

solid and flexible equity capital profile

broad deep and diverse set of funding sources to finance

its assets and meet operating requirements and

Liquidity programs that enable the Company to satisfy all

maturing financing obligations for at least 12 month

period should some or all of its funding sources become

inaccessible

STRAFEGt

The Companys objective is to retain sufficient levels of capital

generated through earnings and other sources to maintain

solid equity capital base and to provide flexibility to satisfy

future business growth The Company believes capital

allocated to growing businesses with return on risk-adjusted

equity in excess of its costs will generate shareholder value

The level and composition of the Companys equity capital

are determined in large part by the Companys internal

assessment of its business activities as well as rating agency

and regulatory capital requirements They are also influenced

by subsidiary capital requirements the business environment

and by conditions in the debt capital markets The Company

as bank holding company is subject to regulatory

requirements administered by the U.S federal banking

agencies The Federal Reserve has established specific capital

adequacy guidelines that involve quantitative measures of

assets liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
amended the accounting for off-balance sheet securitization

activities beginning January 2010 which resulted in the

Company having to consolidate the assets primarily

cardmember loans and liabilities primarily debt certificates

of the American Express Credit Account Master Trust the

Lending Trust Both the cardmember loans and the debt will

be consolidated by American Express Travel Related Services

TRS wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and

9.8%

13.7%

14.2%

11.9%

15.0%

16.7%

9.7%

17.1%

15.1%

8.6%

13.7%

14.2%

10.8%

15.00/s

16.7%

7.0%

17.1%

15.1%

4%d 9.8% 86%

12.4% 11.0%

9.7% 8.4%

Assumes the impact of the recognition of corresponding reserves

and other adjustments on the Company would be as follows

Tangible common shareholders equity TCE common equity

and risk-weighted assets decreasing by $1.8 billion Tier

common equity Tier
capital

and total
capital decreasing by

$1.6 billion and total average assets increasing by $23.7 billion

TRS will be the consolidating entity for the offbalance sheet

securitized trust Lending Trust and therefore there would be no

impact to the capital ratios of Centurion Bank and PSB

Common shareholders equity equals the Companys

shareholders equity of $14.4 billion at December 31 2009 and

TCE equals common shareholders equity less goodwill and

intangibles of $3.0 billion Risk-weighted assets at December 31

2009 were $116.6 billion The Company believes that presenting

the ratio of TCE to risk-weighted assets is useful measure of

evaluating the strength of the Companys capital position See also

footnote above

Cd The regulatory benchmark of percent was used within the

Supervisory Capital Assessment Program conducted earlier in

2009
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The Company seeks to maintain capital levels and ratios in

excess of the minimum regulatory requirenients failure to

maintain minimum capital levels could cause the respective

regulatory agencies to take actions that could limit the

Companys business operations

The Companys primary source of
equity

capital has been

through the generation of net income Historically capital

generated through net income and other sotrces such as the

exercise of stock options by employees hs exceeded the

growth in its capital requirements To the extent capital has

exceeded business regulatory and rating agency

requirements the Company has returned excess capital to

shareholders through its regular common dividend and the

share repurchase program

The Company maintains certain
flexibility to shift capital

across its businesses as appropriate For example the

Company may infuse additional capital into subsidiaries to

maintain capital at targeted levels in consideration of debt

ratings and regulatory requirements These infused amounts

can affect the capital profile and liquidity levels for American

Express Parent Company Parent Company

During 2009 the Company returned $855 million in

dividends to shareholders which represents approximately

46 percent of total capital generated

VS iEl \RTM EN OF TREASCRY CAPITAL PURCI LASE

PRO RAvl

On January 2009 under the United State Department of

the Treasury Treasury Department Capital Purchase

Program CPP the Company issued to the Treasury

Department for aggregate proceeds of $3.39 billion

3.39 million shares of Fixed Rate percent Cumulative

Perpetual Preferred Shares Series and ten-year

warrant the Warrant for the Treasury Department to

purchase up to 24 million common shares at an exercise price

of $20.95 per
share The Company repurchased the Preferred

Shares from the Treasury Department at par on June 17

2009 and repurchased the Warrant for $340 million on

July 29 2009 Refer to Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion of this progtam

ARF RLPURCI IASLS ANI lV1DENIS

The Company has share repurchase prdgram to return

excess capital to shareholders These share repurchases reduce

shares outstanding and offset in whole or part the issuance of

new shares as part of employee compensation plans

On cumulative basis since 1994 the Company has

distributed 67 percent of capital generated through share

repurchases and dividends No shares have been repurchased

over the past seven quarters as share repurchases were

suspended during the first quarter of 2008 in light of the

challenging global economic environment and limitations

while under the CPP

FLNNG SiRvI
The Company seeks to maintain broad and well-diversified

funding sources to allow it to meet its maturing obligations

cost-effectively finance current and future asset growth in its

global businesses as well as to maintain strong liquidity

profile The diversity of funding sources by type of debt

instrument by qaturity and by investor base among other

factors provides additional insulation from the impact of

disruptions in
any one type of debt maturity or investor The

mix of the Companys funding in any period will seek to

achieve cost-efficiency consistent with both maintaining

diversified sources and achieving its liquidity objectives The

Companys funding strategy and activities are integrated into

its asset-liability management activities

The Companys proprietary card businesses are the

primary asset-generating businesses with significant assets in

both domestic and international cardmember receivable and

lending activities The Companys borrowing needs are in

large part consequence of its proprietary card-issuing

businesses aid the maintenance of liquidity position to

support all of its business activities such as merchant

payments The Company generally pays merchants for card

transactions prior to reimbursement by cardmembers and

therefore funds the merchant payments during the period

cardmember loans and receivables are outstanding The

Company also has additional borrowing needs associated with

genera corporate purposes

FVNIINi iRGRANIS ANI ACTIVITIES

The Company meets its funding needs through variety of

sources including debt instruments such as senior unsecured

debentures asset securitizations deposits placed with the

Companys U.S banks by individuals and long-term

committed bank borrowing facilities in certain non-U.S

markets
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The following discussion includes information on both

GAAP and managed basis The managed basis presentation

includes debt issued in connection with the Companys

lending securitization activities which are off-balance sheet

For discussion of managed basis and managements

rationale for such presentation refer to the USCS discussion

below The Company had the following consolidated debt on

both GAAP and managed basis and customer deposits

outstanding as of December 31

Billions 2009 2008

Short-term borrowings 2.3 9.0

Long-term debt 523 60.0

Total debt GAAP basis 54.6 69.0

Off-balance sheet securitizations 28.3 29.0

Total debt managed basis 82.9 98.0

Customer deposits 26.3 15.5

Total debt managed and customer deposits $109.2 $1 13.5

The Companys funding strategy for 2010 is to raise funds to

meet short-term borrowings outstanding which includes

short-term deposits seasonal and other working capital

needs changes in receivables and other asset balances while

maintaining sufficient cash and readily-marketable securities

which are easily convertible to cash in order to be able to

satisi all maturing funding obligations for 12 month

period The Company has $7.4 billion of unsecured long-term

debt $10.2 billion of asset securitizations and $2.6 billion of

long-term deposits that will mature during 2010

The Companys equity capital and funding strategies are

designed to maintain appropriate and stable debt ratings from

the major credit rating agencies collectively the Credit

Rating Agencies Moodys Investor Services Moodys
Standard Poors SP Fitch Ratings Fitch and

Dominion Bond Rating Services DBRS There have been no

changes to the ratings since second quarter 2009 however

both DBRS and SP have recently revised their ratings

outlook from Negative to Stable

Downgrades in the Companys unsecured debt or asset

securitization programs securities ratings could result in

higher interest expense on the Companys unsecured debt and

asset securitizations as well as higher fees related to

borrowings under its unused lines of credit In addition to

increased funding costs declines in credit ratings could

reduce the Companys borrowing capacity in the unsecured

debt and asset securitization capital markets The Company

believes that the change in its funding mix which now

includes an increasing proportion of U.S retail deposits

should reduce the impacts that credit rating downgrades

would have on the Companys funding capacity and costs

SHORT-TERM FUNDING PROGRAMS

Short-term borrowings such as commercial paper are

defined as any debt or time deposit with an original maturity

of 12 months or less The Companys short-term funding

programs are used primarily to meet working capital needs

such as managing seasonal variations in receivables balances

Short-term borrowing decreased significantly in 2009 as part

of the change in the Companys funding mix The amount of

short-term borrowing issued in the future will depend on the

Companys funding strategy its needs and market conditions

The Company had the following short-term borrowings

outstanding as of December 31

Billions 2009 2008

Credco

Commercial paper $1.0 $7.3

Other 0.1

Centurion Bank and FSB

Federal funds purchased 0.5

Other 13 Li

Total $2.3 $9.0

The Companys short-term borrowings as percentage of

total debt as of December 31 were as follows

Short- Long-
2009 2008

Credit Term Term

Agency Entity Rated ratings ratings Outlook Short-term borrowings as percentage of total debt

GAAP basis 4.3% 13.0%
DBRS All rated entities R- Stable

middle high
The Company had continuous access to the commercial paper

Fitch All rated entities Fl Negative
market during 2009 and as of December 31 2009 the

Moodys TRS and rated Prime- A2 Stable

Company had $1.0 billion of commercial paper outstanding
operating

Average commercial paper outstanding was $2.0 billion and
subsidiaries

$10.8 billion in 2009 and 2008 respectively

American Prime-2 A3 Negative
American Express Credit Corporations Credco total

Express
back-up liquidity coverage which includes its undrawn

Company
committed bank facilities was in excess of 100 percent of its

SP All rated entities A-2 BBB Stable
net short-term borrowings as of December 31 2009 and 2008
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Amount

DEPOSIl PROGRAM
The Company offers deposits within its Centurion Bank and

FSB subsidiaries together the Banks
These

funds are

currently insured up to $250000 through the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation FDIC During the second quarter of

2009 the Company through FSB launched direct deposit-

taking program Personal Savings from Ameican Express to

supplement its distribution of deposit poducts through

third-party distribution channels This program which

currently represents small portion of the Companys deposit

program makes FDIC-insured CDs and high-yield savings

account products available directly to consuners

As of December 31 2009 the Company held the following

deposits

The Companys 2009 offerings which include those made

by the Parent Company Credco American Express Canada

Credit Corporation and the Lending Trust are presented in

the following table on both GAAP and managed basis

Billions

American Express Company Parent Company only

Fixed Rate Senior Notes at an average coupon of 7.76%

American Express Credit Corporation

Fixed Rate Senior Notes at an average coupon of

5.17%

American Express Canada Credit Corporation

Fixed Rate Senior Notes at coupon of 4.85%

Floating Rate Senior Notes at spread of 170 basis

points to month CDORbBillions 2009 2008

U.S retail deposits

Cash sweep and savings accounts $10.5 7.2

Certificates of deposit 15.1 6.3

Institutional and other deposits 0.7 2.0

Total customer deposits $26.3 $15.5

3.0

2.8

0.8

0.1

6.7

4.3

$11.0

GAAP Basis

American Express Credit Account Master Trust

Trust Investor Certificates at an average spread of 129

basis points to month LIBOR

Managed Basis

The average original maturity and annual interest rate on

outstanding U.S retail CDs were 29 months and 2.3 percent

respectively

lONG-TERM DEBT PROC RAMS

In 2009 the Company and its subsidiaries issued debt and

asset securitizations with maturities rangn from to 10

years These amounts included approximately $2.25 billion of

AAA-rated lending securitization certificates and $6.7 billion

of unsecured debt across variety of maturites and markets

During the year the Company retained approximately $2.0

billion of subordinated securities as the priciig and yields for

these securities were not attractive for the company due to

market conditions The subordinated securities issued in the

year included $1.5 billion of the new Clss securities

created as part of the actions to add further credit

enhancement to the Lending Trust

Credcos issuance includes $79 million of unsecured debt issued

within the retail note market

Canadian Dealer Offered Rate

Issuances from the Lending Trust an off-balance sheet entity

include $2.0 billion of subordinated securities retained by

American xpress during the year

The average coupon relates to those securities issued into the

market and does not include the rates on retained securities

ASSET sECutu1izATioN PRO
Th Company periodically securitizes cardmember

receivables afld loans arising from its card business as the

securitization market provides the Company with cost-

effective funding Securitization of cardmember receivables

and loans is accomplished through the transfer of those assets

to Trust which in turn issues certificates or notes

securities to third-party investors collateralized by the

transferred assets The proceeds from issuance are distributed

to the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiaries as

consideration for the transferred assets Securitization

transactions are accounted for as either sale or secured

borrowing based upon the structure of the transaction and

GAAP requirements applicable prior to January 2010 Refer

to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements for

description of the changes in GAAP requirements related to

Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets effective

January 2010

Securitization of cardmember receivables generated under

designated consumer charge card small business charge card

and corporate charge card accounts is accomplished through

the transfer of cardmember receivables to the American

Express Issuatice Trust the Charge Trust
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Securitization of the Companys cardmember loans

generated under designated consumer lending accounts is

accomplished through the transfer as sale of cardmember

loans to the Lending Trust In securitization structure like

the Lending Trust revolving master trust credit card

accounts are selected and the rights to the current

cardmember loans as well as future cash flows related to the

corresponding accounts are transferred to the Trust for the

life of the accounts

Since the third quarter of 2007 the Company has typically

been retaining some or all of subordinated securities issued as

part of transaction due to prevailing market conditions

Under the respective terms of the Lending Trust and the

Charge Trust agreements the occurrence of certain events

could result in payment of trust expenses establishment of

reserve funds or in worst-case scenario early amortization

of investor certificates For additional information about the

Companys asset securitizations that could affect the

Companys liquidity position including three-month average

excess spread rates and other key metrics refer to Note to

the Consolidated Financial Statements

On March 2009 the Treasury Department and the

Federal Reserve launched the Term Asset Backed Securities

Loan Facility TALF which is currently set to expire on

March 31 2010 Securitized credit and charge card receivables

are eligible collateral under the TALF provided the securities

qualify for AAA ratings from two or more major nationally

recognized statistical rating organizations NRSROs The

Company issued $2.25 billion in AAA rated TALF eligible

securities during 2009

In an effort to address the concerns of the Credit Rating

Agencies and the decline in the trust excess spread due to the

performance of the underlying credit card receivables in the

Lending Trust and the related American Express Credit

Account Secured Note Trusts the Note Trusts the

subsidiaries of the Company that are the transferors of the

Lending Trust undertook certain actions during the second

quarter of 2009 to adjust the credit enhancement structure of

substantially all of the then outstanding series of securities

previously issued by the Lending Trust and the Note Trusts

The actions entailed the issuance of two new series of asset-

backed securities to provide additional credit enhancement

to substantially all of the then otitstanding series and the

exercise of discount option with respect to new principal

receivables arising in the Lending Trust The Company

believes that these actions will not have material impact on

the Companys results of operations These actions resulted in

the inclusion of the Lending Trusts assets as risk-weighted

assets for regulatory capital purposes For additional

information regarding such actions see Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The Credit Rating Agencies are assessing the potential

impact of the adoption of recently issued accounting

standards for transfers of financial assets and for

consolidation of variable interest entities the Accounting

Standards on credit ratings of the securities issued by

securitization trusts within the overall asset-backed securities

market The Accounting Standards previously issued as

FASB Statements Nos 166 and 167 are discussed further in

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements In

particular the Credit Rating Agencies are assessing the FDICs

safe harbor rule relating to the FDICs treatment of

securitized assets in the event of sponsoring financial

institutions receivership or conservatorship Pursuant to the

safe harbor rule the FDIC will not reclaim any financial asset

transferred in connection with securitization provided that

such transfer meets all conditions for GAAP sale accounting

Because the adoption of the Accounting Standards may cause

some asset transfers to securitization trusts to no longer be

deemed asset sales for accounting purposes within

companys consolidated group the Credit Rating Agencies

have indicated that they may ultimately conclude that the safe

harbor no longer applies and in certain cases that the highest

rating an asset-backed security ABS could receive would be

based on the sponsoring banks unsecured debt rating rather

than relying on their separate evaluation of the securitization

trust Accordingly the ability of the Companys securitization

programs
to receive or maintain AAA ratings on ABS

securities under the same terms and conditions as it has done

in the past or at all is subject to uncertainty Any action by

the rating agencies as described above could adversely impact

the Companys ability to utilize ABS as source of funding for

its business

LlQUll1JY STRAfECY

The Company seeks to ensure that it has adequate liquidity in

the form of cash and readily-marketable securities easily

convertible into cash to satisfy all maturing funding

obligations for 12 month period in addition to having

access to significant additional contingent liquidity sources

This objective is managed by regularly accessing capital

through broad and diverse set of funding programs by

maintaining portfolio of cash and readily-marketable

securities as well as variety of contingent sources of cash

and financing The Company maintains liquidity plan that

enables it to continuously meet its financing obligations even

when access to its primary funding sources become impaired

or markets become inaccessible

In addition to its cash and readily-marketable securities

the Company continues to maintain variety of contingent

liquidity resources such as access to secured borrowing from

the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco through the

Federal Reserve discount window and committed bank credit

facilities

As result of the Companys funding activities during

2009 the Company raised funds that substantially exceeded

its 2009 funding needs The excess increased the amount of

cash and readily-marketable securities the Company holds

4.3
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As of December 31 2009 the Companys cash and readily-

marketable securities available to fund maturities were as

follows

Billions

Cash

Readily-marketable securities

Cash and readily marketable securities

Less

Operating cash

Short-term obligations outstanding

Cash and readily-marketable securities available to fund

maturities

Includes cash and cash equivalents of $15.5 billion and $3.5

billion held in other assets and other receivables on the

Consolidated Balance Sheet for certain forthcoming asset-backed

securitization maturities in the first quarter of 2010

Consists of certain available-for-sale investment securities U.S

Treasury and agency securities and government-guaranteed debt

that are considered highly liquid

Cash on hand for day-to-day operations

Consists of commercial paper and U.S retail CDs with original

maturities of three and six months

The upcoming approximate maturities of the Companys

long-term unsecured debt debt issued in connection with

off-balance sheet securitizations and long-term customer

deposits are as follows

Billions Debt Maturities

Unsecured Asset-Backed Certificates

Quarter Ending Debt Securitizations of Deposit Total

March 31 2010 $0.5 4.5 $0.8 5.8

June 30 2010 2.6 1.8 4.4

September 30 2010 0.9 2.4 0.2 3.5

December 31 2010 3.4 1.5 1.6 6.5

Total $7.4 $10.2 $2.6 $20.2

The Companys funding needs for 2010 are expected to arise

from these debt and deposit maturities as well as changes in

business needs primarily changes in outstanding cardmember

loans and receivables

The Company considers various factors in determining

the amount of liquidity it maintains such as economic and

financial market conditions seasonality in business

operations growth in its businesses the cost and availability

of alternative liquidity sources and regulatory and Credit

Rating Agency considerations

The yield the Company receives on its cash and readily-

marketable securities is generally less than the interest

Total

$19.0

expense on the sources of funding for these balances Thus

the Company incurs substantial net interest costs on these

amounts The level of net interest Costs will be dependent on

the size of its cash and readily-marketable securities holdings

as well as the difference between its cost of funding these

amounts and their investment yields

Cash and Readily Marketable Securities

32.3 As of December 31 2009 the Company held as part of its

contingent liquidity plan total of $19.0 billion of short-term

3.2c instruments and $13.3 billion of longer-term readily-

marketable securities These investments are of high credit

quality highly liquid short-term instruments and longer-

term highly liquid instruments such as U.S Treasury
$25.9

securities government-sponsored entity debt or government-

guaranteed debt These instruments are managed to either

mature prior to the maturity of borrowings that will occur

within the next 12 months or are sufficiently liquid that the

Company can sell them or enter into sale/repurchase

agreements to immediately raise cash proceeds to meet

liquidity needs

Federal Reserve Discount Vindow

The Banks are insured depository institutions that have the

capability of borrowing from the Federal Reserve Bank of San

Francisco subject to the amount of qualifying collateral that

they pledge The Banks are approved to access the discount

window subject to the discretion of the Federal Reserve Bank

of San Francisco and sufficient credit and charge card

receivables pledged as collateral thereby providing them with

an additional source of liquidity if needed

The Company had approximately $33.2 billion as of

December 31 2009 in U.S credit cardloans and charge card

receivables that could be sold over time through its existing

securitization trusts or pledged in return for secured

borrowings to provide further liquidity subject in each case to

applicable market conditions and eligibility criteria

Committed Bank Credit Facilities

The Company maintained committed bank credit facilities

as of December 31 2009 as follows

Parent Centurion

Billions Company Credco Bank FSB Total

Committedi $1.3 $10.1 $0.4 $0.4 $12.2

Outstanding 3.2

Committed lines were supplied by 34 financial institutions as of

year end However effective January 20 2010 the agreements in

which Aurora Batik FSB previously Lehman Brothers Bank FSB

participated were amended and their participation waived This

reduced the total committed lines by $175 million

$3.2

14
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The Companys committed facilities expire as follows

Billions

2010 2.0

2011 3.4

2012 6.8

Total $12.2

The availability of the credit lines is subject to the Companys

compliance with certain financial covenants including the

maintenance by the Company of consolidated tangible net

worth of at least $4.1 billion the maintenance by Credco of

1.25 ratio of combined earnings and fixed charges to fixed

charges and the compliance by the Banks with applicable

regulatory capital adequacy guidelines As of December 31

2009 the Companys consolidated tangible net worth was

approximately $11.6 billion Credcos ratio of combined

earnings and fixed charges to fixed charges was 1.59 and

Centurion Bank and FSB each exceeded their regulatory

capital adequacy guidelines

Committed bank credit facilities do not contain material

adverse change clauses which may preclude borrowing under

the credit facilities The facilities may not be terminated

should there be change in the Companys credit rating

In consideration of all the funding sources described

above the Company believes it would have access to liquidity

to satisfy all maturing funding obligations for at least

12month period in the event that access to the secured and

unsecured fixed income capital markets is completely

interrupted for that length of time These events are not

considered likely to occur

Pa rent Company Funding

Parent Company long-term debt outstanding was

$10.2 billion and $7.9 billion as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively During 2009 the Parent Company issued

$1.25 billion of 7.25 percent fixed-rate Senior Notes due 2014

and $1.75 billion of 8.13 percent fixed-rate Senior Notes

due 2019

The Parent Company is authorized to issue commercial

paper
This program is supported by $1.25 billion multi

purpose committed bank credit facility The credit facility will

expire in 2010 and 2012 in the amounts of $500 million and

$750 million respectively There was no Parent Company

commercial paper outstanding during 2009 and 2008 and no

borrowings have been made under its bank credit facility

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The Company has identified both on- and off-balance sheet

transactions arrangements obligations and other

relationships that may have material current or future effect

on its financial condition changes in financial condition

results of operations or liquidity and capital resources
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The table below identifies transactions that represent contractually committed future obligations of the Company Purchase

obligations include agreements to purchase goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company and that

specify significant terms including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased fixed minimum or variable price provisions

and the approximate timing of the transaction

Payments due by year

2015 and

Millions 2010 20112012 20132014 thereafter Total1

Long-term debt $10829 $17986 $12766 $10757 $52338

Interest payments on long-term debt5 1556 2589 1636 3812 9593

Other long-term liabiities1 21 21 15 94 151

Operatingleaseobligations
254 422 345 1316 2337

Purchase obligations151
550 144 55 69 818

Total 13210 $21162 $14817 $16048 $65237

The above table excludes approximately $1.1 billion of tax liabilities that have been recorded in accordance with GAAP governing the

accounting for uncertainty in income taxes as inherent complexities arid the number of tax years currently open for examination in multiple

jurisdictions do not permit reasonable estimates of payments if any to be made over range of years

Estimated interest payments were calculated using the effective interest rate in place at December 31 2009 and reflects the effect of existing

interest rate swaps Actual cash flows may differ from estimated payments

At December 31 2009 there were no minimum required contributions and no contributions are currently planned for the U.S American

Express Retirement Plan For the U.S American Express Supplemental Retirement Plan and non-U.S defined benefit pension and

postretirement benefit plans contributions in 2010 are anticipated to be approximately $88 million and this amount has been included

within other long-term liabilities Remaining obligations under defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans aggregating $642

million have not been included in the table above as the timing of such obligations is not determinable Additionally other long-term

liabilities do not include $4.3 billion of Membership Rewards liabilities which are not considered long-term liabilities as cardmembers in

good standing can redeem points immediately without restrictions and because the timing of point redemption is not determinable

The purchase obligation amounts represent non-cancelable minimum contractual obligations by period under contracts that were in effect at

December 31 2009 Termination fees are included in these amounts

The Company also has certain contingent obligations to make

payments under contractual agreements entered into as part

of the ongoing operation of the Companys business

primarily with co-brand partners The contingent obligations

under such arrangements were approximately $6.0 billion as

of December 31 2009

In addition to the contractual obligations noted above the

Company has off-balance sheet arrangements that include

guarantees
retained interests in structured investments

unconsolidated variable interest entities and other off-balance

sheet arrangements as more fully described below

UARANIEES

The Companys principal guarantees are associated with

cardmember services to enhance the value of owning an

American Express card As of December 31 2009 the

Company had guarantees totaling approximately $67 billion

related to cardmember protection plans as well as other

guarantees in the ordinary course of business that are within

the scope of GAAP governing the accounting for guarantees

Refer to Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for

further discussion regarding the Companys guarantees

.ERTAlN OrHER OFF-BALANCE SHEET

ARRANGEMEN1.S

As of December 31 2009 the Company had approximately

$222 billion of unused credit available to cardmembers as part

of established lending product agreements Total unused

credit available to cardmembers does not represent potential

future cash requirements as significant portion of this

unused credit will likely not be drawn The Companys charge

card products have no pre-set limit and therefore are not

reflected in unused credit available to cardmembers As

discussed in the Consolidated Liquidity and Capital Resources

section the Companys securitizations of cardmember loans

are also off-balance sheet The Companys cardmember

receivables securitizations remain on the Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Refer to Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for discussion regarding the Companys other off-balance

sheet arrangements
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RISK MANAGEMENT
VERNANCL
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Board approves the

Companys Enterprise-wide Risk Management Policy which

defines risk management objectives risk appetite risk limits

and escalation triggers and establishes the internal

governance structure for managing risk The Policy focuses on

the major risks that are relevant to the Company given its

business model credit risk institutional and individual

operational risk market risk and reputational risk Internal

management committees including the Enterprise Risk

Management Committee ERMC chaired by the Companys

Chief Risk Officer and the Asset-Liability Committee

ALCO chaired by the Companys Chief Financial Officer

are responsible for implementing the Policy across the

Company

CRE RISK ANAGEMENT PROCESS

Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss due to obligor or

counterparty default Credit risks in the Company are divided

into two broad categories individual and institutional Each

has distinct risk management tools and metrics Business

units that create individual or institutional credit risk

exposures of significant importance are supported by

dedicated risk management teams each led by Chief Credit

Officers To preserve independence Chief Credit Officers for

all business units have solid line reporting relationship to

the Companys Chief Risk Officer

INDI\IDUAI CREDIT RISK

Individual credit risk arises principally from consumer and

small business charge cards credit cards lines of credit and

loans These portfolios consist of millions of borrowers across

multiple geographies occupations industries and levels of net

worth The Company benefits from the attractive profile of its

cardmembers which is driven by brand underwriting and

customer management policies premium customer servicing

and product reward features The risk in these portfolios is

correlated with broad economic trends such as

unemployment rates GDP growth and home values as well

as customer liquidity which can have material effect on

credit performance

General principles and the overall framework for

managing individual credit risk across the Company are

defined in the Individual Credit Risk Policy approved by the

ERMC The Credit Policy Committee is responsible for

implementation and enforcement of this policy and for

providing guidance to the Underwriting and Credit Strategy

Committees as well as to the Chief Credit Officers of

respective business units This policy is further supported by

subordinate policies and practices covering all facets of credit

extension including prospecting approvals authorizations

line management collections and fraud prevention These

policies are designed to assure consistent application of risk

management principles and standardized reporting of asset

quality and loss recognition

Individual credit risk management is supported by

sophisticated proprietary scoring and decision-making

models that use the most up-to-date proprietary information

on customers such as spending and payment history data

feeds from credit bureaus and mortgage information

Additional data such as home value and other new

commercial variables designed to better manage small

business risk were integrated into the Companys models in

the early stages of the recent economic downturn to further

mitigate risk The Company has developed unique decision

logic for each customer interaction including prospect

targeting new account approvals line assignment balance

transfers cross selling and overall account management and

collection

INSTITUTIONAL CRELIT RISK

Institutional credit risk arises principally within the

Companys Global Corporate Card Services Merchant

Services and Network Services businesses and from the

Companys investment activities Unlike individual credit

risk institutional credit risk is characterized by lower loss

frequency but higher severity It is affected both by general

economic conditions and by company-specific events The

absence of large losses in any given year or over several years

is not necessarily representative of the level of risk of

institutional portfolios given the infrequency of loss events in

such portfolios

General principles and the overall framework for

managing institutional credit risk across the Company are

defined in the Institutional Credit Risk Policy approved by the

ERMC The Institutional Risk Management Committee

IRMC is responsible for implementation and enforcement

of this policy and for providing guidance to the credit officers

of each business unit with substantial institutional credit risk

exposures who in turn make investment decisions in core risk

capabilities ensure proper implementation of the

underwriting standards and contractual rights of risk

mitigation monitor risk exposures and determine risk

mitigation actions The IRMC formally reviews large

institutional exposures to ensure compliance with ERMC

guidelines and procedures and escalates them to the ERMC as

appropriate At the same time the IRMC provides guidance

to business unit risk teams to optimize risk-adjusted returns

on capital company-wide risk rating utility
and

specialized airline risk group provide risk assessment of

institutional obligors

\1ARKL1 RISK NIANAGEMENT PROCESS

Market risk is the risk to earnings or value resulting from

movements in market prices The Companys market risk

exposure is primarily generated by

Interest rate risk in its card insurance and Travelers

Cheque businesses as well as its investment portfolios and

Foreign exchange risk in its international operations
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General principles and the overall framework for managing

market risk across the Company are defined in the Market

Risk Policy which is the responsibility of the ALCO Market

Risk limits and escalation triggers within that policy are

approved by ALCO and by the ERMC Market risk is centrally

monitored for compliance with policy and limits by the

Market Risk Committee which reports into the ALCO and is

chaired by the Chief Market Risk Officer Market risk

management is also guided by policies covering the use of

derivative financial instruments funding and liquidity and

investments Derivative financial instruments derive their

value from an underlying variable or multiple variables

including interest rate foreign exchange and equity indices

or prices These instruments enable end users to increase

reduce or alter exposure to various market risks and for that

reason are an integral component of the Companys market

risk management Use of derivative financial instruments is

incorporated into the discussion below as well as Note 12

The Companys market exposures are in large part

by-products of the delivery of its products and services

Interest rate risk arises through the funding of cardmember

receivables and fixed-rate loans with variable-rate borrowings

as well as through the risk to net interest margin from changes

in the relationship between benchmark rates such as Prime

and LIBOR

Interest rate exposure within the Companys charge card

and fixed-rate lending products is managed by varying the

proportion of total funding provided by short-term and

variable-rate debt and deposits compared to fixed-rate debt

and deposits In addition interest rate swaps are used from

time to time to effectively convert fixed-rate debt to variable-

rate or to convert variable-rate debt to fixed-rate The

Company may change the mix between variable-rate and

fixed-rate funding based on changes in business volumes and

mix among other factors The majority of its cardmember

loans which are linked to benchmark rate such as PRIME

that can reprice monthly are funded with variable-rate

funding the majority of which are linked to LIBOR that

reprice monthly

The Company regularly reviews its interest rate exposure

profile and may modify it Derivative financial instruments

primarily interest rate swaps with notional amounts of

approximately $17 billion and $18 billion were outstanding at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively These derivatives

generally qualify for hedge accounting portion of these

derivatives outstanding as of December 31 2009 extend to

2018 The Company does not engage
in derivative financial

instruments for trading purposes

The detrimental effect on the Companys pretax earnings

of hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates

would be approximately $117 million $75 million related to

the U.S dollar based on the 2009 year-end positions This

effect which is calculated using static asset liability gapping

model is primarily determined by the volume of variable-rate

funding of charge card and fixed-rate lending products for

which the interest rate exposure is not managed by derivative

financial instruments As of year end 2009 the percentage of

total worldwide managed loans that were deemed to be fixed-

rate was 34 percent with the remaining 66 percent deemed to

be variable rate

The Company is also subject to market risk from changes

in the relationship between the benchmark Prime rate that

determines the yield on its variable-rate lending receivables

and the benchmark LIBOR rate that determines the effective

interest cost on significant portion of its outstanding debt

including asset securitizations Simultaneous and identically-

sized changes in the same direction of these two indices do

not contribute to the market risk described above as there is

no material mismatch in the effective repricing frequency of

these two indices However differences in the rate of change

of these two indices commonly referred to as basis risk

would impact the Companys variable-rate U.S lending net

interest margins because the Company borrows at rates based

on LIBOR but lends to its customers based on the Prime rate

The detrimental effect on the Companys pretax earnings of

hypothetical 10 basis point decrease in the spread between

Prime and month LIBOR over the next 12 months is

estimated to be $38 million The Company currently has

approximately $38.2 billion of Prime-based variable-rate U.S

lending receivables that are funded with LIBOR-iridexed debt

including asset securitizations The spread relationship has

been more volatile over the last years than in preceding

historical periods For example the spread experienced

during the fourth quarter of 2008 was very low by historical

standards and reduced net interest margins during the fourth

quarter of 2009 the spread was high by historical standards

which had the effect of temporarily increasing the Companys

net interest margin from prior periods

Foreign exchange risk is generated by cardmember cross-

currency charges foreign subsidiary equity and foreign

currency earnings in international units The Companys

foreign exchange risk is managed primarily by entering into

agreements to buy and sell currencies on spot basis or by

hedging this market exposure to the extent it is economically

justified through various means including the use of

derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange

forwards options and cross-currency swap contracts which

can help lock in the value of the Companys exposure to

specific currencies

At December 31 2009 and 2008 foreign currency hedge

instruments with total notional amounts of approximately

$19 billion and $17 billion respectively were outstanding

Derivative hedging activities related to cross-currency charges

balance sheet exposures and foreign currency earnings

generally do not qualify for hedge accounting however

derivative hedging activities related to translation exposure of

foreign subsidiary equity generally do

With respect to cross-currency charges and balance sheet

exposures including related foreign exchange forward

contracts outstanding the effect on the Companys earnings
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of hypothetical 10 percent change in the value of the U.S

dollar would be immaterial as of December 31 2009 With

respect to earnings denominated in foreign currencies the

adverse impact on pretax income of hypothetical 10 percent

strengthening of the U.S dollar related to anticipated overseas

operating results for the next 12 months would be

approximately $112 million as of December 31 2009 With

respect to translation exposure of foreign subsidiary equity

including related foreign exchange forward contracts

outstanding hypothetical 10 percent strengthening in the

U.S dollar would result in an immaterial reduction in equity

as of December 31 2009

The actual impact of interest rate and foreign exchange

rate changes will depend on among other factors the timing

of rate changes the extent to which different rates do not

move in the same direction or in the same direction to the

same degree and changes in the volume and mix of the

Companys businesses

LIQLlDITV

PROCESS

Funding liquidity risk is defined as the inability to access

cash and equivalents needed to meet business requirements

and satisfy the Companys obligations General principles and

the overall framework for managing liquidity risk across the

Company are defined in the Liquidity Risk Policy which is

the responsibility of the ALCO The Company balances the

trade-offs between maintaining too much liquidity which can

be costly and limit financial flexibility with having inadequate

liquidity which may result in financial distress during

liquidity event Liquidity risk is centrally managed by the

Funding and Liquidity Committee which reports into the

ALCO and is chaired by the Corporate Treasurer The

Company has developed liquidity plan that enables it to

meet its daily cash obligations when access to both unsecured

and secured funds in the debt capital markets is impaired or

unavailable This plan is designed to ensure that the Company

and all of its main operating entities could continuously meet

their maturing debt obligations for 12-month period in

which their access to all capital markets and deposit financing

is interrupted

Liquidity risk is managed both at an aggregate company

level and at the major legal entities in order to ensure that

sufficient funding and liquidity resources are available in the

amount and in the location needed in stress event The

Funding and Liquidity Committee manages the forecasts of

the Companys aggregate and subsidiary cash positions and

financing requirements the funding plans designed to satisfy

those requirements under normal conditions establishes

guidelines to identify the amount of liquidity resources

required and monitors positions and determines any actions

to be taken Liquidity planning also takes into account

operating cash flexibilities

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The Company defines operational risk as the risk of not

achieving business objectives due to inadequate or failed

processes or information systems human error or the

external environment e.g natural disasters including losses

due to failures to comply with laws and regulations

Operational risk is inherent in all business activities and can

impact an organization through direct or indirect financial

loss brand damage customer dissatisfaction or legal or

regulatory penalties Current areas of significant focus include

data protection anti-money laundering vendor risk impact

of organizational change financial reporting risk and both

internal and external fraud

The general principles and the overall framework for

managing operational risk across the Company are defined in

the Operational Risk Policy approved by the ERMC The

Operational Risk Management Committee ORMC provides

governance for the operational risk framework

In order to appropriately measure operational risk the

Company has developed comprehensive operational risk

model This model assesses risk events i.e what occurred

or could have occurred ii root causes i.e why did it occur

or could have occurred and iii impact i.e how was the

Company affected or might have been affected The impact

on the Company is assessed from financial brand

regulatory and legal perspective The operational risk model

also assesses the frequency and likelihood that events may

occur again so that the appropriate mitigation steps may be

taken

Additionally the Company uses an operational risk

framework to identify measure monitor and report inherent

and emerging operational risks This framework consists of

the ORMC oversight an operational risk event capture

process and process and entity-level risk self-assessments

The process risk self-assessment methodology is used to

facilitate compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes.Oxley

Act and is also used for non-financial operational risk self-

assessments This methodology involves identifying key

processes across the Company and then determining the

inherent operational risks Once these risks have been

identified the existing control environment is defined key

controls are tested and relevant issues are escalated to the

appropriate governing bodies

The operational risk framework also includes the entity

risk self-assessment This is risk workshop where senior

leaders identify the key operational risks that the business unit

or support group faces and determines the Companys

preparedness to respond should these risks occur Top risks

are tracked to ensure that the appropriate monitoring or

mitigation is in place

Managing enterprise risk is an important priority for the

Company and the program continues to evolve
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BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS
The Company is global service company principally engaged

in businesses comprising four reportable operating segments

U.S Card Services USCS international Card Services ICS
Global Commercial Services GCS and Global Network

Merchant Services GNMS
The Company considers combination of factors when

evaluating the composition of its reportable operating

segments including the results reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker economic characteristics products

and services offered classes of customers product

distribution channels geographic considerations primarily

U.S versus international and regulatory environment

considerations Refer to Note 25 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional discussion of products

and services by segment

Results of the business segments essentially treat each

segment as stand-alone business The management

reporting process that derives these results allocates income

and expense using various methodologies as described below

l.iIAL RE VIN LiES NET OF iNTEREST EXPENSE

The Company allocates discount revenue and certain other

revenues among segments using transfer pricing

methodology Segments earn discount revenue based on the

volume of merchant business generated by cardmembers

Within the USCS ICS and GCS segments discount revenue

reflects the issuer component of the overall discount rate

within the GNMS segment discount revenue reflects the

network and merchant component of the overall discount

rate Total interest income and net card fees are directly

attributable to the segment in which they are reported

PROVIS1ONS FOPS LOSSES

The provisions for losses are directly attributable to the

segment in which they are reported

EXPENSES

Marketing and promotion expenses are reflected in each

segment based on actual expenses incurred with the

exception of brand advertising which is primarily reflected in

the GNMS and USCS segments Rewards and cardmember

services expenses are reflected in each segment based on

actual expenses incurred within each segment

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating

expenses such as professional services occupancy and

equipment and communications reflect expenses incurred

directly within each segment In addition expenses related to

the Companys support services such as technology costs are

allocated to each segment based on support service activities

directly attributable to the segment Other overhead expenses

such as staff group support functions are allocated to

segments based on each segments relative level of pretax

income Financing requirements are managed on

consolidated basis Funding costs are allocated based on

segment funding requirements

Ci\PFIAL

Each business segment is alocated capital based on

established business model operating requirements risk

measures and regulatory capital requirements Business

model operating requirements include capital needed to

support operations and specific balance sheet items The risk

measures include considerations for credit market and

operational risk

IN TAXES

Income tax provision benefit is allocated to each business

segment based on the effective tax rates applicable to various

businesses that make up the segment

U.S CARD SERVICES

SELA 1L INC Vl1 SI AiFM NT PA IA AAP RAI
PRESENL\ lION

Years Ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Revenues

Discount revenue net card fees and

other

Securitization income net

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Total revenues net of interest expense

9125 $10357 $10243

400 1070 1507

3221 4736 5125

855 2166 2653

2366 2570 2472

11891 13997 14222

2998Provisions for losses 3769 4389

Total revenues net of interest expense

after provision for losses 8122 9608 11224

Expenses

Marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services 4266 4837 5140

Salaries and employee benefits and

other operating expenses

Total

3532 3630 3354

7798 8467 8494

324 1141 2.730

75 289 907

249 852 1823

Pretax segment income

Income tax provision

Segment income
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As of or for the Years Ended December 31

Billions except percentages

and where indicated

Card billed business

Total cards-in-force millions

Basic cards-in-force millions

Average basic cardmember spending

dollars

U.S Consumer Travel

Travel sales millions

Travel commissions and fees/sales

Total segment assets

Segment capital niillions

Return on average segment capital

Return on average tangible segment

capital1

Cardmember receivables

Total receivables

30 days past due as of total

Average receivables

Net write-off rate5

Cardmember loans owned

basis1

Total loans

30 days past due loans as of

total

Average loans

Net write-off rate

Net interest income divided by

average loansfh

Net interest yield on cardmember

loans

Cardmember loans managed

basistg

Total loans

30 days past due loans as of

total

Average loans

Net write-off rate

Net interest yield on cardmember

loans1t

2009 2008 2007

339.4 382.0 375.2

39.5 44.2 43.3

29.5 32.9 32.3

$10957 $11594 $12011

2561 3113 2975

8.4% 8.2% 8.0%

57.9 77.8 82.3

6510 4788 4454

4.5% 18.0io 40.2%

4.8% 19.0% 41.8%

17.8 17.8 21.4

1.8% 3.7% N/A

16.1 19.2 19.7

3.8% 3.6% N/A

52.6 62.4 65.9

3.7% 4.7% 2.8%

54.9 64.0 58.2

8.7% 5.5% 3.1%

9.9% 9.1% 9.1%

CALCIJIAllON OF NF 1NTERESI YIELD ON

ARIMEMBER LGANS

Years Ended December 31

Millions except percentages

and whore indicated

Owned Basis

Net interest income

Average loans billions

Adjusted net interest income

Adjusted average loans billions

Net interest income divided by average loans

Net interest yield on cardmember loans

2009 2008

$2366 $2570

25.9 36.7

$2326 $3127

26.0 36.8

9.1% 7.0%

9.0% 85%

SE1LClF.l SlAlISlICAL NFORlVFiON and 2007 respectively Return on average tangible segment

capital
is computed in the same manner as return on average

segment capital except the computation of average tangible

segment capital
excludes average goodwill and other intangibles

of $432 million $243 million and $170 million at December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company believes the

return on average tangible segment capital is useful measure of

the profitability of its business

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company revised the time

period in which past due cardmember receivables in USCS are

written off to 180 days past due consistent with applicable bank

regulatory guidance Previously receivables were written off when

360 days past billing The net write-offs for 2008 include

approximately $341 million resulting from this write-off

methodology change which is not reflected in the table above If

the $341 million had been included in USCS write-offs the net

writeoff rate would have been 5.4 percent for 2008

Owned GAAP basis measurement reflects only cardmember

loans included on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

See below for calculations of net interest
yield on cardmember

loans and the ratio of net interest income divided by average loans

presented on an owned basis The Company believes net interest

yield on cardmember loans on both an owned and managed

basis is useful to investors because it provides measure of

profitability of the Companys cardmember loans portfolio

Includes on-balance sheet cardmember loans and off-balance

sheet securitized cardmember loans The difference between the

owned basis GAAP information and managed basis

information is attributable to the effects of securitization

activities Refer to the information set forth under USCS Selected

Financial Information for further discussion of the managed basis

presentation

This calculation includes elements of total interest income and

total interest expense that are not attributable to the cardmember

loan portfolio and thus is not representative of net interest yield

on cardmember loans The calculation includes interest income

and interest expense attributable to investment securities and

other interest-bearing deposits as well as to cardmember loans

and interest expense attributable to other activities including

cardmember receivables

23.5 32.7 43.3

3.7%

25.9

9.1%

4.7%

36.7

5.8%

2.8%

37.1

3.1%

9.1% 70% 6.7%

9.0% 8.5% 8.9%

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

Segment capital at the end of each respective period represents

capital allocated to segment based upon specific business

operational needs risk measures and regulatory capital

requirements

ci Return on average segment capital
is calculated by dividing

segment income $249 million $852 million and $1.8 billion

for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively by ii average segment

capital $5.6 billion $4.7 billion and $4.5 billion for 2009 2008

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE YEARS

ENIE1 I.ECEMBFR 31 2009 GAAP BASIS

The following discussion of USCS segment results of

operations is presented on GAAP basis

USCS reported segment income of $249 million for 2009

$603 million or 71 percent decrease from $852 million in

2008 which decreased $9llmillion or 53 percent from 2007

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense

In 2009 USCS total revenues net of interest expense

decreased $2.1 billion or 15 percent to $11.9 billion due to

lower securitization income net decreased interest income

and lower discount revenue net card fees and other partially

offset by lower interest expense Discount revenue net card

fees and other of $9.1 billion in 2009 decreased $1.2 billion or

12 percent from 2008 due to lower bified business volumes

reduced other commissions and fees decreased net card fees

lower other revenues and reduced travel commissions and

fees The decrease in billed business reflected 10 percent

decrease in basic cards-in-force and percent decline in

average basic cardmember spending In 2009 within USCS

small business and consumer billed business volumes declined

13 percent and 10 percent respectively Interest income of

$3.2 billion in 2009 was $1.5 billion or 32 percent lower than

in 2008 primarily due to lower portfolio yields and decrease

in average owned lending balances Interest expense of $855

million in 2009 decreased $1.3 billion or 61 percent as

compared to year ago primarily due to lower market

interest rate-driven cost of funds and reduced average owned

cardmember loans and receivable balances Total revenues net

of interest expense of $14.0 billion in 2008 were $225 million

or percent lower than 2007 as result of lower securitization

income net decreased other commissions and fees and lower

interest income partially offset by slightly higher discount

revenue net card fees and other as well as lower interest

expense

Provisions br Loses

Provisions for losses decreased $620 million or 14 percent to

$3.8 billion for 2009 compared to 2008 due to lower loan

balances and improving credit indicators during the second

half of 2009 The lending net write-off rate increased in the

first half of the year and then began to improve in the third

and fourth quarter Past due rates rose early in the year but

then showed improvement through the remainder of the year

commencing in the second quarter The write-off and past

due rates reflect in part targeted efforts to manage credit

performance such as reducing high loan balances as well as

the impact of customer assistance programs including the

re-aging of cardmember accounts meeting certain criteria

Provisions for losses increased $1.4 billion or 46 percent to

$4.4 billion for 2008 compared to 2007 due to higher write-off

and delinquency rates in the lending and charge portfolios

reflecting the challenging U.S credit environment

Expenses

During 2009 USCS expenses decreased $669 million or

percent to $7.8 billion due to lower marketing promotion

rewards and cardmember services expenses and lower salaries

and employee benefits and total operating expenses Expenses

in 2009 2008 and 2007 included $12 million $30 million

and $13 million respectively of charges related to

reengineering activities primarily related to the Companys

reengineering initiatives in 2009 and 2008 as previously

discussed and reengineering activities within consumer and

small business services in 2007 Expenses in 2008 of $8.5

billion were $27 million or less than percent lower than in

2007 due to lower marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services expenses partially offset by greater

salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses

net

Marketing promotion rewards and cardmember services

expenses decreased $571 million or 12 percent in 2009 to $4.3

billion due to lower rewards costs reduced marketing and

promotion expenses and the Delta-related charge to the

Membership Reward balance sheet reserve in the fourth

quarter of 2008 Marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services expenses decreased $303 million or

percent in 2008 to $4.8 billion due to the Membership

Rewards related charge in 2007 noted above the incremental

business-building expenses in 2007 compared to lower

marketing and promotion expenses
in 2008 partially offset by

the Delta-related charge in 2008 to increase the Membership

Rewards liability and higher volume-related rewards costs

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses

of $3.5 billion in 2009 decreased $98 million or percent

from 2008 reflecting the benefits from reengineering

activities lower net charges associated with these

reengineering programs the favorable impact in 2008 related

to fair value hedge ineffectiveness and the costs related to the

Delta contract extension in the fourth quarter of 2008

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses

of $3.6 billion in 2008 increased $276 million or percent

from 2007 The increase was due to higher software

operations technology and credit and collection costs the

pension-related gain in 2007 and costs related to the

Companys reengineering initiatives in 2008

IflCiIflC

The effective tax rate was 23 percent for 2009 compared to 25

percent and 33 percent for 2008 and 2007 respectively The

rates for each of these years reflect tax benefits related to the

resolution of certain prior years tax items

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GAAP AND MANAGEL BASIS

PRESENTATION

Due to changes in GAAP governing the accounting for

transfers of financial assets effective January 2010 that will

result in the consolidation of the Lending Trust the

presentation of financial and statistical information on
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GAAP and managed basis as described below will no longer

be applicable beginning in 2010

For USCS the managed basis presentation assumes that

there have been no off-balaice sheet securitization

transactions i.e all securitized cardmember loans and related

income effects are reflected as if they were in the Companys

balance sheets and income statements respectively For the

managed basis presentation revenue and expenses related to

securitized cardmember loans are reflected in other

commissions and fees included in discount revenue net card

fees and other in the USCS Selected Financial Information

interest income interest expense and provisions for losses

On managed basis there is no securitization income net as

the managed basis presentation assumes no securitization

transactions have occurred

The Company presents USGS information on managed

basis because that is the way the Companys management

views and manages the business Management believes that

full picture of trends in the Companys cardmember loans

business can only be derived by evaluating the performance of

both securitized and non-securitized cardmember loans

Management also believes that use of managed basis

presentation presents more accurate picture of the key

dynamics of the cardmember loans business Irrespective of

the on- and off-balance sheet funding mix it is important for

management and investors to see metrics for the entire

cardmember loans portfolio because they are more

representative of the economics of the aggregate cardmember

relationships and ongoing business performance and trends

over time It is also important for investors to see the overall

growth of cardmember loans and related revenue in order to

evaluate market share These metrics are significant in

evaluating the Companys performance and can only be

properly assessed when all non-securitized and securitized

cardmember loans are viewed together on managed basis

The Company does not currently securitize international

loans

On GAAP basis revenue and expenses from securitized

cardmember loans are reflected in the Companys income

statements in securitization income net fees and

commissions and provisions for losses for cardmember loans

At the time of securitization transaction the securitized

cardmember loans are removed from the Companys balance

sheet and the resulting gain on sale is reflected in

securitization income net as well as an impact to provisions

for losses credit reserves are no longer recorded for the

cardmember loans once sold Over the life of securitization

transaction the Company recognizes servicing fees and other

net revenues referred to as excess spread related to the

interests sold to investors i.e the investors interests These

amounts in addition to changes in the fair value of interest-

only strips are reflected in securitization income net and fees

and commissions The Company also recognizes total interest

income over the life of the securitization transaction related to

the interest it retains i.e the sellers interest At the maturity

of securitization transaction cardmember loans on the

balance sheet increase and the impact of the incremental

required loss reserves is recorded in provisions for losses

As presented in aggregate over the life of securitization

transaction the pretax income impact to the Company is the

same whether or not the Company had securitized

cardmember loans or funded these loans through other

financing activities assuming the same financing costs The

income statement classifications however of specific items

will differ

U.S CARl SERVICES

saic TFD TINANC1AL INTORMATION MANAGED BASIS

FRESENI ATION

Years Ended December 31

MillIons 2009 2008 2007

Discount revenue net card fees and

other

Reported for the period GAAP

Securitization_adjustments _______ _______

Managed discount revenue net card

fees and other $9456 $10757 $10553

Interest income

Reported for the period GAAP

Securitization adjustments1

Managed interest income

Securitization income net

Reported for the period GAAP

Securitization adjustments

Managed securitization income net

Interest expense

Reported for the period GAAP

Securitization adjustments1

Managed interest expense

Provisions for losses

Reported for the period GAAP

Securitization adjustments

Managed provisions for losses

$3221 4736 5125

3097 3512 3130

$6318 8248 8255

400 1070 1507

400 1070 1507

855 2166 2653

244 830 1136

$1099 2996 3789

$3769 4389 2998

2573 2002 871

$6342 6391 3869

Refer to discussion of Differences Between GAAP and Managed

Basis Presentation above

$9125 $10357 $10243

331 400 310
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CALCUlATION OF Nil INTEREST YIELI ON loans and receivable balances as well as the movement of

CAROM EMBER LOANS liquidity-related interest expense to the Corporate Other

___________________________________________________________
segment In 2008 interest expense decreased $793 million or

Years Ended December 31
21 percent to $3.0 billion due to lower market interest rate-

Millions except percentages
driven cost of funds which more than offset higher average

and where indicated 2009 2008 managed receivable balances Provisions for losses decreased

_________________________________________
percent in 2009 driven by lower average loan and receivable

Managed Basisb
balance and improved charge card credit performance

Net interest incomedl $5219 $5252 partially offset by higher lending write-off level versus 2008

Average loans billions 54.9 64.0 Provisions for losses increased $2.5 billion or 65 percent to

Adjusted net interest income $5809
$6.4 billion in 2008 reflecting the impact of higher write-off

Adjusted average loans billions 55.0 64.1
and delinquency rates and higher average managed loan

balances partially offset by the credit-related charge in 2007
Net interest yield on cardmember loans 9.9% 9.1%

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain INTERNATIONAL CARl SE RVI ES

key terms and related information
SEI.E.ILr iNCOME SlAlEM ENT VIA

Refer to Calculation of Net Interest Yield on Cardmember

Loans Owned Basis on page 33 for calculation of the ratio of

net interest income divided by average loans presented on an
Years Ended December 31

owned basis Millions 2009 2008 2007

Includes the GAAP to managed basis securitization adjustments Revenues

to interest income and interest expense as set forth under USCS
Discount revenue net card fees and

Selected Financial Information managed basis presentation
other $3404 $3758 $3499

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE YEARS Interest income 1588 1984 1741

EN1E1 DECEMBER 31 OO9 MANAGED BASIS Interest expense 509 961 909

The following discussion of USGS is on managed basis
Net interest income 1079 1023 832

Discount revenue net card fees and other in 2009

decreased $l3 billion or 12 percent to $9.5 billion due to
Total revenues net of interest expense 4483 4781 4331

lower billed business volumes reduced other commissions Provisions for losses 1211 1030 812

and fees decreased net card fees lower other revenues and
Total revenues net of interest expense

reduced travel commissions and fees Discount revenue net
after provision for losses 3272 3751 3519

card fees and other in 2008 increased $204 million or

percent to $10.8 billion largely due to higher net card fees
Expenses

greater
other revenues higher travel commissions and fees Marketing promotion rewards and

and increased discount revenues which were partially offset cardmember services 1221 1453 1566

by lower other commissions and fees Interest income in 2009 Salaries and employee benefits and

of $6.3 billion decreased by $1.9 billion or 23 percent due to other operating expenses 1821 2145 1836

decline in the average managed lending balance and lower
Total 3042 3598 3402

portfolio yield offset by the benefits of certain repricing

initiatives during 2009 Interest income in 2008 of $8.2 billion Pretax segment income 230 153 117

remained flat as lower market interest rate-driven yields more Income tax benefit 73 198 174

than offset the 10 percent growth in average managed lending

balances Interest expense in 2009 decreased $1.9 billion or 63
Segment income 303 351 291

percent to $1.1 billion due to lower market interest rate-

driven cost of funds and lower average managed cardmember
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Sit FLIEt SI 1151 ICAI INFORMATION

As of or for the Years Ended December 31

Bilhons except percentages

and where indicated

Card billed business

Total cards-in-force millions

Basic cards-in-force millions

Average basic cardmember spending

dollars

Cardmember loans

Total loans 9.2 9.5 11.2

3.3% 3.6% 2.8%

8.9 10.9 10.0

6.8% 4.8% 4.9%

Net interest income divided by

average 1oanst 12.1% 9.4 8.3%

Net interest yield on cardmember

1oans 11.9% 9.8% 8.9%

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

Segment capital
at the end of each respective period represents

capital allocated to segment based upon specific business

operational needs risk measures and regulatory capital

requirements

Return on average segment capital is calculated by dividing

segment income $303 million $351 million and $291 million

for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively by ii average segment

capital $2.1 billion $2.1 billion and $1.9 billion for 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively Return on average tangible segment

capital
is computed in the same manner as return on average

segment capital except the computation of average tangible

segment capital excludes average goodwill and other intangibles

of $551 million $544 million and $539 million as of

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company

believes the return on average tangible segment capital is useful

measure of the profitability
of its business

cardmember account is considered 90 days past billing
if

payment has not been received within 90 days of the

cardmembers billing statement date In addition if the Company

initiates collection procedures on an account prior to the account

becoming 90 days past billing the associated cardmember

receivable balance is considered as 90 days past billing

cardmember account becomes past due if payment is not received

within 30 days after the billing statement date

See below for calculation of net interest yield on cardmember

loans and the ratio of net interest income divided by average

loans The Company believes net interest yield on cardmember

loans is useful to investors because it provides measure of

profitability of the Companys cardmember loans portfolio

This calculation includes elements of total interest income and

total interest expense that are not attributable to the cardmember

loan portfolio and thus is not representative of net interest yield

on cardmember loans The calculation includes interest income

and interest expense attributable to investment securities and

other interest-bearing deposits as well as to cardmember loans

and interest expense attributable to other activities including

cardmember receivables

ALCJlAllON OF NEF lNlERFST Y1ll ON

ARlMElBFR l.OANS

Years Ended December 31

Millions except percentage

and where indicated

Net interest income

Average loans billions

Adjusted net interest income

Adjusted average loans billions

Net interest income divided by average loans

Net interest yield on cardmember loans

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

REsUIrs OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE YEARS

ENI Ei DECEMBER 31 2009

ICS reported segment income of $303 million for 2009 $48

million or 14 percent decrease from $351 million in 2008

which increased $60 million or 21 percent from 2007

significant portion of ICS segment income in 2009 and 2008 is

attributable to the Companys internal tax allocation process

See further discussion in the Income Tax section below

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense

In 2009 ICS total revenues net of interest expense decreased

$298 million or percent to $4.5 billion compared to 2008

due to lower discount revenue net card fees and other and

decreased interest income partially offset by lower interest

expense Discount revenue net card fees and other revenues

decreased $354 million or percent to $3.4 billion in 2009

compared to 2008 driven primarily by the lower level of card

spending decreased other commissions and fees lower other

revenues and reduced travel commissions and fees partially

offset by an increase in net card fees The 11 percent decrease

2009

94.9

15.0

10.5

2008

$106.1

16.3

11.4

2007

98.0

160

11.3

$8772

$1113

8.6%

21.4

$2062

15.3%

International Consumer Travel

Travel sales millions

Travel commissions and fees/sales

Total segment assets

Segment capital millionsY

Return on average segment capital

Return on average tangible segment

capitaE1

$8758 $9292

985 $1267

8.6% 8.1%

20.4 20.4

$2164 $1997

14.3% 16.7%

19.3% 22.5% 21.4%

Cardmember receivables

Total receivables 5.9 5.6 6.6

90 days past billing as of total

Net loss ratio as of charge volume

2.1% 3.1% 1.8%

0.36% 0.24% 0.26%

30 days past due loans as of total

Average loans

Net write-off rate

2009

$1079

8.9

$1065

8.9

12.1%

11.9%

2008

$1023

10.9

$1072

10.9

9.4

9.8%
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in billed business in 2009 reflected percent decrease in

average spending per proprietary basic cards-in-force and an

percent decrease in basic cardsinforce Assuming no

changes in foreign currency exchange rates from 2008 to

2009 billed business decreased percent and
average

spending per proprietary basic cardsinforce increased

percent in 2009 Volume comparisons within the major

geographic regions ranged from low-sine-digit increase in

Latin America to mid-single-digit decreases in Asia Pacific

Europe and Canada3 Interest income decliiied $396 million

or 20 percent to $1.6 billion in 2009 compared to 2008

primarily due to an 18 percent reduction in average

cardmember loans and lower interest on jiank and other

deposits partially offset by higher caçdmember loan

portfolio yield Interest expense of $509 nillion in 2009

declined $452 million or 47 percent as corn pred to 2008 due

to lower average loan and receivable balances as well as

decreased cost of funds Total revenues net of interest expense

of $4.8 billion in 2008 were $450 million or 10 percent higher

than 2007 due to higher discount revenue ret card fees and

other and increased interest income partially oftset by higher

interest expense

Provisions for Losses

Provisions for losses increased $181 million or 18 percent to

$1.2 billion in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily reflecting

higher lending reserve level Provisions for losses increased

$218 million or 27 percent to $1.0 billion in 2008 compared

to 2007 primarily due to increased reserve levels due to the

challenging economic environment and loan and business

volume growth

Expenses

During 2009 ICS expenses decreased $55 million or 15

percent to $3.0 billion compared to 2O0 due to lower

marketing promotion rewards and cardmenjber services and

decreased salaries and employee benefits and other operating

expenses Expenses in 2009 2008 and 2007 included $4

million $83 million and $16 million respectively of

reengineering costs primarily related to the Companys

reengineering initiatives in 2009 and 2008 as previously

Refer to footnote on page 34 under Consoidated Results of

Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31 2009 relating

to changes in foreign exchange rates

discussed and reengineering in the international payments

business for 2007 Expenses in 2008 of $3.6 billion were

$196 million or percent higher than 2007 due to

increased salaries and employee benefits and other

operating expenses partially offset by lower marketing

promotion rewards and cardmember services costs

Marketing promotion rewards and cardmember services

expenses decreased $232 million or 16 percent to $1.2 billion

in 2009 compared to 2008 reflecting reduced marketing and

promotion expenses through the first nine months of 2009

and lower reward costs Marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services expenses decreased $113 million or

percent to $1.5 billion in 2008 compared to 2007 due to the

Membership Rewards related charge and the incremental

business-building costs in 2007 noted above which more than

offset higher marketing and promotion expenses and

volume-related rewards costs in 2008 Salaries and employee

benefits and other operating expenses decreased $324 million

or 15 percent to $1.8 billion in 2009 compared to 2008

primarily due to benefits from the Companys reengineering

activities and lower net charges during 2009 related to

reengineering initiatives Salaries and employee benefits and

other operating expenses increased $309 million or 17 percent

to $2.1 billion in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to

higher salaries and employee benefits expense and increased

other operating expenses which reflected the costs related to

the Companys reengineering initiatives in 2008 as well as

greater professional services expense

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was negative 32 percent in 2009 versus

negative 129 percent in 2008 and negative 149 percent in

2007 ICS indudes tax benefit of $73 million and $198

million in 2009 and 2008 respectively since the Companys

internal tax allocation process provides this segment with the

consolidated benCfit related to its ongoing funding activities

outside the United States The tax benefit is likely to continue

because Congress is expected to extend the law that provides

the basis for the benefit
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GLOBAL COMMERCIAL SERVICES SElECTED STAl ISTICAL INFORMATION

Sil IN oi EATEM iAT
__________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________
As of or for the Years Ended December 31

Years Ended December 31 Billions except percentages

Millions 2009 2008 2007 and where indicsue4 2009 2008 2007

Revenues Card billed business 111.2 129.2 22.1

Discount revenue net card fees and Total cardsinforce millions 7.1 7.1 6.8

other $4157 $5081 Basic cards-in-force millions 7.1 7.1 6.8

Interest income 61 168 187 Average basic cardmember spending

Interest expense 172 553 615 dollars $15544 $18527 $18017

Net interest income 111 385 Global Corporate Travel

Travel sales 14.6 21.0 20.5
Total revenues net of interest expense 4046 4696 4269

Travel commissions and fees/sales 8.8% 7.8% 7.7%
Provisions for losses 177 231 163

Total segment assets 22.9 25.1 21.1

Total revenues net of interest expense

after provisions for losses 3869 4465 4106
Segment capital millionsb 3445 3550 2239

Return on average segment capital1 11.3% 15.8% 25.3%
Expenses

Return on average tangible segment
Marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services 332 377 387
capital1 25.9% 34.3% 43.3%

Salaries and employee benefits and
Cardmember receivables

other operating expenses 2969 3395 2975 Total receivables 9.8 9.4 11.4

Total 3301 3772 3362
90 days past billing as of total141 1.4% 2.7% 2.1%

Net loss ratio as of charge
Pretax segment income 568 693 744

volume 0.19% 0.13% 0.10%
Income tax provision 178 188 208

Segment income $390 $505 $536 See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

Segment capital at the end of each respective period represents

capital allocated to segment based upon specific business

operational needs risk measures and regulatory capital

requirements

Return on average segment capital
is calculated by dividing

segment income $390 million $505 million and $536 million

for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively by ii average segment

capital $3.4 billion $3.2 billion and $2.1 biffion for 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively Return on average tangible segment

capital
is computed in the same manner as return on average

segment capital except the computation of average tangible

segment capital excludes average goodwill and other intangibles

of $1.9 billion $1.7 billion and $881 million at December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company believes the

return on average tangible segment capital is useful measure of

the profitability
of its business

dA cardmember account is considered 90 days past billing
if

payment has not been received within 90 days of the

cardmembers billing statement date In addition if the Company

initiates collection procedures on an account prior to the account

becoming 90 days past hilling the associated cardmember

receivable balance is considered as 90 days past billing

cardmember account becomes past due if payment is not received

within 30 days after the billing statement date
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RI.SUL.TS OF PERAIlONS FCR THE tREE YEARS

ENOFI DECEMBER 31 2009

GCS reported segment income of $390 rnilion for 2009

$115 million or 23 percent decrease from 1505 million in

2008 which decreased $31 million or percent from 2007

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense

In 2009 GCS total revenues net of interest expense decreased

$650 million or 14 percent to $4.0 billion due to decreased

discount revenue net card fees and other revenues and lower

interest income partially offset by lower ihterest expense

Discount revenue net card fees and other revenues decreased

$924 million or 18 percent to $4.2 billion in 2009 primarily

driven by lower travel commissions and fees the reduced level

of card spending decreased other revenues and reduced other

commissions and fees The 14 percent decrease in billed

business in 2009 reflected 16 percent decrease in average

spending per proprietary basic card Assuthitig no changes in

foreign currency exchange rates from 2008 to 2009 billed

business and average spending per proprietary basic card

decreased 11 percent and 13 percent respectively in 2009

with volume decreases within the United States of 11 percent

compared to results within the Companys other major

geographic regions ranging from the inid-tetn-digit declines

in Europe and Asia Pacific low-teen-digit decrease in

Canada and mid-single-digit increase in Latin America4

lnterest income decreased $107 million or 64 percent to $61

million in 2009 compared to 2008 driven by lower rates

within deposit-related income Interest
expense decreased

$381 million or 69 percent to $172 million in 2009 compared

to 2008 due to lower cost of funds and
average receivable

balance partially offset by the cost of fnthng the CPS

acquisition Total revenues net of interest
pxpense

of $4.7

billion in 2008 were $427 million or 10 percent higher than

2007 due to increased discount revenue neit card fees and

other revenue and lower interest expense

FrOVisiolls for losses

Provisions for losses decreased $54 million 23 percent to

$177 million in 2009 compared to 2008 reflecting improved

credit trends as 2009 progressed Provisons for losses

increased $68 million or 42 percent to $23lmihion in 2008

compared to 2007 reflecting higher loss and past due rates

due to the challenging economic environmen

Refer to footnote on page 34 under Consolidated Results of

Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31 2009 relating

to changes in foreign exchange rates

Expenses

During 2009 GCS expenses decreased $471 million or 12

percent to $3.3 billion reflecting reduction of $426 million

in salaries and employee benefits and other operating

expenses as described below as well as lower rewards costs

lower net charges associated with reengineering initiatives in

2009 and the Delta-related increase in the Membership

Rewards balance sheet reserve in the fourth quarter of 2008

Expenses in 2Q09 2008 and 2007 included $101 million $138

million and $25 million respectively of reengineering costs

primarily reflecting the Companys reengineering initiatives

in 2009 and 2008 as previously discussed and reengineering

costs primarily in business travel in 2007 Expenses in 2008 of

$3.8 billion were $410 million or 12 percent higher than 2007

primarily due to greater salaries and employee benefits and

other operating eipenses

Marketing promotion rewards and cardmember services

expenses decreased $45 million or 12 percent to $332 million

in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily reflecting lower rewards

costs in 2009 and the Delta-related increase in the

Membership Rewards balance sheet reserve in the fourth

quarter of 2008 Marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services expenses decreased $10 million or

percent to $377 million in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily

due to the Membership Rewards related charge in 2007 offset

by higher volume-related rewards costs and the Delta-related

charge in 2008 tO increase the Membership Rewards liability

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses

decreased $426 million or 13 percent to $3.0 billion in 2009

compared to 2008 reflecting the benefits from the Companys

reengineering initiatives partially offset by lower net charges

associated with these programs during 2009 Salaries and

employee benefits and other operating expenses increased

$420 million or 14 percent to $3.4 billion in 2008 compared

to 2007 due to higher other operating expenses and greater

salaries and employee benefits expense which reflected the

impacts of the CPS acquisition as well as the costs related to

the Companys reengineering initiatives in 2008 and the

pension-related gain in 2007

income taxes

The effective tax rate was 31 percent in 2009 versus 27 percent

in 2008 and 28 percent in 2007
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GLOBAL NETWORK MERCHANT
SERVICES

SELECIH INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Years Ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Revenues

Total revenues net of interest expense

after provisions for losses

Expenses

Marketing and promotion

Salaries and employee benefits and

other operating expenses 1679 1932 1606

2200 2485 2201

1381 1490 1560

483 495 538

898 995 $1022

SELEClEl STATIST 1CM. lNFORMATION

As of or for the Years Ended December 31

Billions except percentages

and where indicated

Global Card billed businessb

Global Network Merchant Services

Total segment assets

Segment capital millions

Return on average segment capital11 52.9% 75.4% 90.7%

Return on average tangible segment

capital1 54.1% 77.4% 93.4%

Global Network Services

Card billed business

Total cards-in-force millions

See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain

key terms and related information

Global Card billed business includes activities including cash

advances related to proprietary cards cards issued under

network partnership agreements and certain insurance fees

charged on proprietary cards

Segment capital at the end of each respective period represents

capital
allocated to segment based upon specific business

operational needs risk measures and regulatory capital

requirements

Return on average segment capital is calculated by dividing

segment income $898 million $995 million and $1.0 billion

for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively by ii average segment

capital $1.7 billion $1.3 billion and $1.1 billion for 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively Return on average tangible segment

capital is computed in the same manner as return on average

segment capital except the computation of average tangible

segment capital excludes average goodwill and other intangibles

of $36 million $35 million and $33 million as of December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company believes the

return on average tangible segment capital
is useful measure of

the
profitability

of its business

oral Revenues Net of Interest i.xpense

GNMS total revenues net of interest expense decreased $386

million or percent to $3.7 billion in 2009 compared to 2008

due to decreased discount revenue net card fees and other

and decreased interest expense credit Discount revenue fees

and other revenues decreased $250 million or percent to

$3.6 billion in 2009 compared to 2008 reflecting decline in

merchant-related revenues due to the percent decrease in

global card billed business partially offset by higher

GNS-related revenues Interest expense credit decreased $137

million or 62 percent to $85 million in 2009 compared to

2008 due to lower rate-driven interest credit related to

internal transfer pricing which recognizes the merchant

services accounts payable-related funding benefit Total

revenues net of interest expense of $4.1 billion in 2008 were

$238 million or percent higher compared to 2007 due to

increased discount revenue fees and other revenues offset by

lower interest expense credit

Provisions for losses

Provisions for losses increased $8 million or percent to $135

million in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily driven by the

higher provisions in GNS Provisions for losses in 2008

increased $24 million or 23 percent to $127 million compared

to 2007 primarily reflecting merchant-related provisions

penses

During 2009 GNMS expenses decreased $285 million or 11

percent to $2.2 billion compared to 2008 Expenses in 2009

2008 and 2007 included $22 million $31 million and $6

million of reengineering costs respectively primarily related

Discount revenue fees and other

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Total revenues net of interest expense

Provisions for losses

$3625 $3875 $3549

85 222 312

91 227 315

3716 4102 3864

135 127 103

Total

RESVI.TS OF OPERATIONS FOR Tl-IE THREE YEARS

3581 3975 3761 FN1ED DECEMBER 31 2009

GNMS reported segment income of $898 million in 2009

521 553

$97 million or 10 percent decrease from $995 million in 2008

which decreased $27 million or percent from 2007

Pretax segment income

Income tax provision

Segment income

2009

$619.8

2008 2007

$683.3 $647.3

7.3 7.0

$1764 $1451

6.5

$1170

71.8 67.4 52.9

26.3 24.8 20.3
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to the Companys reengineering initiatives in 2009 and 2008

as previously discussed Expenses in 2008 of $2.5 billion were

$284 million or 13 percent higher than 2007 due to increased

salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses

partially offset by decrease in marketing and promotion

expenses

Marketing and promotion expenses decreased $32 million

or percent to $521 million in 2009 compared to 2008

reflecting lower brand and merchant-related marketing costs

during the first nine months of 2009 Marketing and

promotion expenses decreased percent in 2008 to $553

million compared to 2007 reflecting lower brand and other

marketing and promotion expenses as compared to

incremental business-building costs in 2007

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating

expenses decreased $253 million or 13 percent to $1.7 billion

in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily reflecting the benefits

from the Companys reengineering initiatives Salaries and

employee benefits and other operating expenses increased

$326 million or 20 percent to $1.9 billion in 2008 compared

to 2007 primarily due to increased merchant-related reserve

due to the challenging economic environment 2007 gains

related to the sale of the Companys merchant-related

operations in Russia greater salaries and employee benefits

expense which reflected the expansion of the merchant sales

force and the costs related to the Companys reengineering

initiatives in 2008 and higher volume-related expenses

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 35 percent in 2009 33 percent in

2008 and 34 percent in 2007

ORORATE OTHER

Corporate Other had net income of $297 million $168

million and $454 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Net income in 2009 reflected the $372 million and $172

million after-tax income related to the MasterCard and Visa

litigation settlements respectively and $135 million of

after-tax income related to the ICBC sale

In the third quarter of 2009 the Company recorded $180

million $113 million after-tax benefit associated with the

Companys accounting for net investment in consolidated

foreign subsidiaries $135 million $85 million after-tax of

this benefit represents the correction of an error related to the

accounting for cumulative translation adjustments in prior

periods The error resulted in $60 million $38 million after-

tax income overstatement in the second quarter of 2009

$135 million $85 million after-tax income understatement

in the fourth quarter of 2008 and minimal amounts for all

other periods affected dating back to the third quarter of

2007 when the incorrect accounting originated Also included

in the $180 million is non-recurring $45 million $28

million after-tax related benefit which was recorded in the

third quarter of 2009 as result of changes in the fair value of

certain foreign exchange forward contracts that are economic

hedges to foreign currency exposures of net investments in

consolidated foreign subsidiaries Reengineering costs of $35

million after-tax $108 million after-tax and $4 million after-

tax for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively primarily related to

the Companys reengineering initiatives previously discussed

Net income in 2008 reflected the $186 million and

$172 million after-tax income related to the MasterCard

and Visa litigation settlements respectively offset by

$19 million after-tax charge primarily relating to the ongoing

AEB operations retained by the Company in the first quarter

of 2008

Net income in 2007 reflected the $700 million after-tax

gain resulting from the initial $1.13 bfflion due March 31

2008 from Visa as part of the litigation settlement This was

partially offset by $46 million after-tax litigation related

charge and $31 million after-tax charge for the contribution

to the American Express Charitable Fund

EXPOSURE TO AIRLINE INDUSTIY

The Company has multiple co-brand relationships and

rewards partners of which airlines are one of the most

important and valuable The Companys largest airline

co-brand is Delta Air Lines Delta and this relationship

includes exclusive co-brand credit card partnerships and

other arrangements including Membership Rewards

merchant acceptance and travel American Express Delta

SkyMiles Credit Card co-brand portfolio accounts for

approximately percent of the Companys worldwide billed

business and less than 15 percent of worldwide cardmember

lending receivables Refer to Note to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for further discussion of prepaid miles

acquired from Delta

Over the last couple of years there were significant

number of airline bankruptcies and liquidations driven in

part by volatile fuel costs and weakening economies around

the world Historically the Company has not experienced

significant revenue declines when particular airline scales

back or ceases operations due to bankruptcy or other

financial challenges because volumes generated by that airline

are typically shifted to other participants in the industry that

accept the Companys card products The Companys

exposure
to business and credit risk in the airline industry is

primarily through business arrangements where the Company

has remitted payment to the airline for cardmember

purchase of tickets that have not yet been used or flown

The Company mitigates this risk by delaying payment to the

airlines with deteriorating financial situations thereby

increasing cash withheld to protect the Company in the event

the airline is liquidated To date the Company has not

experienced significant losses from airlines that have ceased

operations
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OTHER .REPORTING MATTERS

ACCOUNTING DFVELOPMENTS

See the Recently Issued Accounting Standards section of Note

Ito the Consolidated Financial Statements

I.OSSARY OF SELlCFEI TIR1vliNOLOG\

Adjusted average
loans Represents average cardmember

loans on an owned or managed basis as applicable excluding

the impact of deferred card fees net of deferred direct

acquisition costs of cardmember loans on an owned or

managed basis as applicable

Adjusted net interest income Represents net interest

income allocated to the Companys cardmember loans

portfolio on an owned or managed basis as applicable which

excludes the impact of card fees on loans and balance transfer

fees attributable to the Companys cardmember loans

portfolio on an owned or managedbasis as applicable

Asset securitizations Asset securitization involves the

transfer and sale of receivables or loans to special purpose

entity created for the securitization activity typically trust

The trust in turn issues securities commonly referred to as

asset-backed securities that are secured by the transferred

receivables or loans The trust uses the proceeds from the sale

of such securities to pay
the purchase price for the underlying

receivables or loans

Average discount rate This calculation is designed to

approximate merchant pricing It represents the percentage of

billed business both proprietary and GNS retained by the

Company from merchants it acquires prior to payments to

third parties unrelated to merchant acceptance

Basic cards-in-force Proprietary basic consumer

cards-in-force includes basic cards issued to the primary

account owner and does not include additional supplemental

cards issued on that account Proprietary basic small business

and corporate cards-in-force include basic and supplemental

cards issued to employee cardmembers Non-proprietary

basic cards-in-force includes all cards that are issued and

outstanding under network partnership agreements

Billed business Represents the dollar amount of charges

on all American Express cards also referred to as spend or

charge volume Proprietary billed business includes charges

made on the Companys proprietary cards-in-force cash

advances on proprietary cards and certain insurance fees

charged on proprietary cards Non-proprietary billed business

represents the charges through the Companys global network

on cards issued by the Companys network partners Billed

business is reflected in the United States or outside the United

States based on where the cardmember is domiciled

Capital asset pricing model Generates an appropriate

discount rate using internal and external inputs to value

future cash flows based on the time value of money and the

price for bearing uncertainty inherent in an investment

Capital ratios Represents the minimum standards

established by the regulatory agencies as measure to

determine whether the regulated entity has sufficient capital

to absorb on and off-balance sheet losses beyond current loss

accrual estimates

Card acquisition Primarily represents the issuance of

new cards to either new or existing cardmembers through

marketing and promotion efforts

Cardmember The individual holder of an issued

American Express branded charge or credit card

Cardmember loans Represents the outstanding amount

due from cardmembers for charges made on their Amrican

Express credit cards as well as any interest charges and card-

related fees Cardmember loans also include balances with

extended payment terms on certain charge card products and

are net of unearned revenue

Cardmember receivables Represents the outstanding

amount due from cardmembers for charges made on their

American Express charge cards as well as any card-related

fees

Charge cards Represents cards that carry no pre-set

spending limits and are primarily designed as method of

payment
and not as means of financing purchases

Cardmembers generally must pay
the full amount billed each

month No finance charges are assessed on charge cards

Credit cards Represents cards that have range of

revolving payment terms grace periods and rate and fee

structures

Discount revenue Represents revenue earned from fees

charged to merchants with whom the Company has entered

into card acceptance agreement for processing cardmember

transactions The discount fee generally is deducted from the

Companys payment reimbursing the merchant for

cardmember purchases Such amounts are reduced by contra-

revenue such as payments to third-party card issuing partners

cash-back reward costs and corporate incentive payments

Interest expense Interest expense
includes interest

incurred primarily to fund cardmember loans charge card

product receivables general corporate purposes and liquidity

needs and is recognized as incurred Interest expense
is

divided principally into three categories deposits which

primarily relates to interest
expense on deposits taken from

customers and institutions ii short-term borrowings which

primarily relates to interest expense on commercial paper

federal funds purchased bank overdrafts and other short-

term borrowings and iii long-term debt which primarily

relates to interest expense on the Companys long-term debt

Interest income Interest and fees on loans includes

interest on loans which is assessed using the average daily

balance method for loans owned These amounts are

recognized based upon the principal amount outstanding in

accordance with the terms of the applicable account

agreement until the outstanding balance is paid or written

off Loan fees are deferred and recognized in interest income
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on straight-line basis over the 12-month card membership

period net of deferred direct card acquisition costs and

reserve for projected membership cancellation

Interest and dividends on investment securities primarily

relates to the Companys performing fixed-income securities

Interest income is accrued as earned using the effective

interest method which adjusts the yield for security

premiums and discounts fees and other payments so that the

related investment security recognizes constant rate of

return on the outstanding balance throughout its term These

amounts are recognized until these securities are in default or

when it is likely that future interest payments will not be

made as scheduled

Interest income on deposits with banks and other is

recognized as earned and primarily relates to the placement

of cash in excess of near-term funding requirements in

interest-bearing time deposits overnight sweep accounts and

other interest bearing demand and call accounts

Interest-only strip Interest-only strips are generated

from USCS securitization activity and are form of retained

interest held by the Company in the securitization This

financial instrument represents the present value of estimated

future positive excess spread expected to be generated by

the securitized assets over the estimated life of those assets

Excess spread is the net cash flow from interest and fee

collections allocated to the third-party investors interests in

the securitization after deducting the interest paid on the

investor certificates credit losses contractual servicing fees

and other expenses

Merchant acquisition Represents the signing of

merchants to accept American Express-branded cards

Net card fres Represents the charge card membership

fees earned during the period These fees are recognized as

revenue over the covered card membership period typically

one year net of provision for projected refunds for

cancellation of card membership

Net interest yield on cardmember loans Represents the

net spread earned on cardmember loans Net interest yield on

cardmember loans both on an owned and managed basis is

computed by dividing adjusted net interest income by

adjusted average loans computed on an annualized basis The

calculation of net interest yield on cardmember loans both

on an owned and managed basis includes interest that is

deemed uncollectible For the owned and managed basis

presentation reserves and net write-offs related to

uncollectible interest are recorded through provisions for

losses cardmember loans therefore such reserves and net

write-offs are not included in the net interest yield

calculation

Net loss ratio Represents the ratio of charge card write

offs consisting of principal resulting from authorized and

unauthorized transactions and fee components less

recoveries on cardmember receivables expressed as

percentage of gross amounts billed to cardmembers

Net write-off rate Represents the amount of

cardmember loans or USCS cardmember receivables written

off consisting of principal resulting from authorized

transactions less recoveries as percentage of the average

loan balance or USCS average receivables during the period

Return on average equity Calculated by dividing one

year period net income by one year average total shareholders

equity

Return on average tangible common equity Computed in

the same manner as ROE except the computation of average

tangible common shareholders equity excludes average

goodwill and other intangibles

Return on average segment capital Calculated by

dividing one year period segment income by one year average

segment capital

Return on average tangible segment capital Computed in

the same manner as return on average segment capital except

the computation of average tangible segment capital excludes

average goodwill and other intangibles

Risk-weighted assets Assets are weighted for risk

according to formula used by the Federal Reserve to

conform to capital adequacy guidelines On and off-balance

sheet items are weighted for risk with off-balance sheet items

converted to balance sheet equivalents using risk conversion

factors before being allocated risk-adjusted weight

Securitizarion income net Includes non-credit provision

components
of the net gains or losses from securitization

activities changes in fair value of the interest-only strip

excess spread related to securitized cardmember loans and

servicing income net of related discounts or fees Excess

spread which is recognized as earned is the net cash flow

from interest and fee collections allocated to the third-party

investors interests in the securitization after deducting the

interest paid on the investor certificates credit losses

contractual servicing fees and other expenses

Stored value and prepaid products Includes Travelers

Cheques and other prepaid products such as gift cheques and

cards as well as reloadable Travelers Cheque cards These

products are sold as safe and convenient alternatives to

currency
for purchasing goods and services

Tier capital ratio Tier capital ratio is calculated as

Tier capital divided by risk-weighted assets Tier capital is

the sum of common shareholders equity certain perpetual

preferred stock and minority interests in consolidated

subsidiaries adjusted for certain other comprehensive income

items ineligible goodwill and intangible assets This ratio is

commonly used by regulatory agencies to assess financial

institutions financial strength and is the primary form of

capital used to absorb losses beyond current loss accrual

estimates

Tier leverage ratio Tier leverage ratio is calculated by

dividing Tier capital as defmed above by the Companys

average
total consolidated assets for the most recent quarter
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Total cards-in-force Represents the number of cards

that are issued and outstanding Total consumer

cards-in-force includes basic cards issued to the primary

account owner and any supplemental cards which represent

additional cards issued on that account Total small business

and corporate cards-in-force include basic cards issued to

employee cardmembers Proprietary cards-in-force represent

card products where the Company owns the cardmember

relationship including card issuance billing and credit

management and strategic plans such as marketing

promotion and development of card products and offerings

Proprietary cards-in-force include co-brand and affinity

cards For non-proprietary cards-in-force except for certain

independent operator network partnership agreements the

Company maintains the responsibility to acquire and service

merchants that accept the Companys cards and the

cardmember relationship is owned by the Companys

network partners that issue the cards who also provide the

Company data on the number of cards they issue

Total risk-based capital ratio Total risk-based capital

ratio is calculated as the sum of Tier capital as defined

above and Tier capital divided by risk-weighted assets The

Company calculates Tier capital as the sum of the allowance

for receivable and loan losses limited to 1.25 percent of risk-

weighted assets and 45 percent of the unrealized gains on

equity securities

Travel sales Represents the total dollar amount of travel

transaction volume for airline hotel car rental and other

travel arrangements made for consumers and corporate

clients The Company earns revenue on these transactions by

charging transaction or management fee

lORV.ARJ lOoKING STATEMENTS

This report includes forward-looking statements within the

meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995 which are subject to risks and uncertainties The

forward-looking statements which address the Companys

expected business and financial performance among other

matters contain words such as believe expect

anticipate optimistic intend plan aim will

may should could would likely and similar

expressions Readers are cautioned not to place undue

reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak

only as of the date on which they are made The Company

undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-

looking statements Factors that could cause actual results to

differ materially from these forward-looking statements

include but are not limited to the following the Companys

ability to exceed for 2010 its on-average over-time earnings

per share growth target of 12 percent to 15 percent per

annum which will depend on among other things the

factors described below including the level of consumer and

business spending credit trends expense management

currency and interest rate fluctuations and general economic

conditions such as unemployment and GDP growth the

Companys ability to manage credit risk related to consumer

debt business loans merchants and other credit trends which

will depend in part on the economic environment

including among other things the housing market the rates

of bankruptcies and unemployment which can affect

spending on card products debt payments by individual and

corporate customers and businesses that accept the

Companys card products ii the effectiveness of the

Companys credit models and iii the impact of recently

enacted statutes and proposed legislative initiatives affecting

the credit card business including without limitation The

Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and Disclosure Act

of 2009 the CARD Act the impact of the Companys

efforts to deal with delinquent cardmembers in the current

challenging economic environment which may affect

payment patterns of cardmembers and the perception of the

Companys services products and brands the Companys

near-term write-off rates including those for the first and

second quarters of 2010 which will depend in part on changes

in the level of the Companys loan balances delinquency rates

of cardmembers unemployment rates the volume of

bankruptcies and recoveries of previously written-off loans

consumer and business spending on the Companys credit

and charge card products and Travelers Cheques and other

prepaid products and growth in card lending balances which

depend in part on the economic environment and the ability

to issue new and enhanced card and prepaid products

services and rewards programs and increase revenues from

such products attract new cardmembers reduce cardmember

attrition capture greater share of existing cardmembers

spending and sustain premium discount rates on its card

products in light of regulatory and market pressures increase

merchant coverage retain cardmembers after low

introductory lending rates have expired and expand the

Global Network Services business the write-off and

delinquency rates in the medium- to long-term of

cardmembers added by the Company during the past few

years which could impact their profitability to the Company
the Companys ability to effectively implement changes in the

pricing of certain of its products and services fluctuations in

interest rates including fluctuations in benchmarks such as

LII3OR and other benchmark rates that may give rise to basis

risk and credit spreads which impact the Companys

borrowing costs return on lending products and the value of

the Companys investments the Companys net interest yield

on cardmember loans trending downward over time closer to

historical levels which will be impacted by the affects of the

CARD Act and changes in consumer behavior that affect loan

balances the actual amount to he spent by the Company on

marketing promotion rewards and cardmember services

based on managements assessment of competitive

opportunities and other factors affecting its judgment and

during 2010 the extent of provision benefit if any from
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lower than expected write-offs the ability to control and

manage operating infrastructure advertising and promotion

expenses as business expands or changes including the ability

to accurately estimate the provision for the cost of the

Membership Rewards program fluctuations in foreign

currency exchange rates the Companys ability to grow its

business and generate excess capital and earnings in manner

and at levels that will allow the Company to return portion

of capital to shareholders which will depend on the

Companys ability to manage its capital needs and the effect

of business mix acquisitions and rating agency and regulatory

requirements including those arising from the Companys

status as bank holding company the ability of the Company

to meet its objectives with respect to the growth of its

brokered retail CD program brokerage sweep account

program
and the direct deposit initiative which will depend

in part on customer demand the perception of the

Companys brand and regulatory capital requirements the

success of the Global Network Services business in partnering

with banks in the United States which will depend in part on

the extent to which such business further enhances the

Companys brand allows the Company to leverage its

significant processing scale expands merchant coverage of the

network provides Global Network Services bank partners in

the United States the benefits of greater cardmember loyalty

and higher spend per customer and merchant benefits such

as greater transaction volume and additional higher spending

customers the ability of the Global Network Services business

to meet the performance requirements called for by the

Companys settlements with MasterCard and Visa trends in

travel and entertainment spending and the overall level of

consumer confidence the uncertainties associated with

business acquisitions including among others the failure to

realize anticipated business retention growth and cost

savings as well as the ability to effectively integrate the

acquired business into the Companys existing operations the

success timeliness and financial impact including costs cost

savings and other benefits including increased revenues

and beneficial effect on the Companys operating expense to

revenue ratio both in the short-term and over time of

reengineering initiatives being implemented or considered by

the Company including cost management structural and

strategic measures such as vendor process facilities and

operations consolidation outsourcing including among

others technologies operations relocating certain functions

to lower-cost overseas locations moving internal and external

functions to the internet to save costs and planned staff

reductions relating to certain of such reengineering actions

including the ability of the Company to generate an

annualized level of greater than $500 million of
gross expense

savings by 2012 from reengineering actions in its Global

Services unit the Companys ability to reinvest the benefits

arising from such reengrneering actions in its businesses

bankruptcies restructurings consolidations or similar events

affecting the airline or any other industry representing

significant portion of the Companys billed business

induding any potential negative effect on particular card

products and services and billed business generally that could

result from the actual or perceived weakness of key business

partners in such industries the triggering of obligations to

make payments to certain co-brand partners merchants

vendors and customers under contractual arrangements with

such parties under certain circumstances downturn in the

Companys businesses and/or negative changes in the

Companys and its subsidiaries credit ratings which could

result in contingent payments under contracts decreased

liquidity and higher borrowing costs the ability of the

Company to satisfy its liquidity needs and execute on its

funding plans which will depend on among other things the

Companys future business growth its credit ratings market

capacity and demand for securities offered by the Company

performance by the Companys counterparties under its bank

credit facilities and other lending facilities regulatory

changes including changes to the policies rules and

regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve

System and the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco the

Companys ability to securitize and sell receivables and the

performance of receivables previously sold in securitization

transactions accuracy of estimates for the fair value of the

assets in the Companys investment portfolio and in

particular those investments that are not readily marketable

the ability of the Companys charge card and lending trusts to

maintain excess spreads at levels sufficient to avoid material

set-asides or early amortization of the Companys charge card

and lending securitizations which will depend on various

factors such as income derived from the relevant portfolios

and their respective credit performances the increase in

excess spread resulting from the designation of discount

option receivables with respect to the American Express

Credit Account Master Trust which will depend in part on

the monthly principal payment rate posted to accounts in

and the credit performance of the securitized lending

portfolio the Companys ability to invest in technology

advances across all areas of its business to stay on the leading

edge of technologies applicable to the payments industry the

Companys ability to attract and retain executive management

and other key employees the Companys ability to protect its

intellectual property rights UP and avoid infringing the IP of

other parties the potential negative effect on the Companys

businesses and infrastructure including information

technology of terrorist attacks natural disasters intrusion

into our infrastructure by hackers or other catastrophic

events in the future political or economic instability in

certain regions or countries which could affect lending and

other commercial activities among other businesses or

restrictions on convertibility of certain currencies changes in

laws or government regulations the administrations proposal

to impose Financial Crisis Responsibility Fee at the rate of
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approximately 15 basis points on certain liabilities of banks

bank holding companies and other financial institutions with

consolidated assets of at least $50 billion the potential failure

of the U.S Congress to extend the active financing exception

to Subpart of the Internal Revenue Code which could

increase the Companys effective tax rate and have an adverse

impact on net income the potential impact of the CARD Act

and regulations adopted by federal bank regulators relating to

certain credit and charge card practices including among

others the imposition by card issuers of interest rate increases

on outstanding balances and the allocation of payments in

respect of outstanding balances with different interest rates

which could have an adverse impact on the Companys net

income accounting changes including the implementation of

changes to the accounting for off-balance sheet activities or

other potential regulatory interpretations in this area which

effective January 2010 requires the Company to

consolidate the assets and liabilities of the lending

securitization trust thereby requiring the Company to

reestablish loss reserves which has in turn resulted in

reduction to the Companys regulatory capital ratios and will

also result in change with respect to the presentation of its

financial statements beginning in the first quarter of 2010

and which also could result in lower credit ratings on

securities issued by the Companys off-balance sheet

securitization trusts as result of the uncertainty with respect

to the ability of rating agencies to continue to rely on the

FDICs safe harbor rule regarding the isolation of securitized

assets in the event of sponsoring banks receivership or

conservatorship which in turn could adversely impact the

Companys ability to utilize securitizations as component of

its funding strategy outcomes and costs associated with

litigation and compliance and regulatory matters and

competitive pressures in all of the Companys major

businesses further description of these and other risks and

uncertainties can be found in the Companys Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009 and the

Companys other reports filed with the SEC
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AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible for

establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting

The Companys internal control over financial reporting is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

GAAP in the United States of America and includes those

policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable

detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the Company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements

in accordance with GAAP and that receipts and

expenditures of the Company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the Company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the Companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

The Companys management assessed the effectiveness of

the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 In making this assessment the

Companys management used the criteria set forth by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO in Internal Control Integrated

Framework

Based on managements assessment and those criteria we

conclude that as of December 31 2009 the Companys

internal control over financial reporting is effective

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP the Companys

independent registered public accounting firm has issued an

attestation report appearing on the following page on the

effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOAR OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF

AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY
In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets and the related consolidated statements of income cash

flows and shareholders equity present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of American Express Company

and its subsidiaries at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended December 31 2009 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America Also in our opinion the

Company maintained in all material respects effective

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The

Companys management is responsible for these financial

statements for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness

of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control

Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express

opinions on these financial statements and on the Companys

internal control over financial reporting based on our

integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance

with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that

we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement and whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audits of the financial statements included

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management and evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation Our audit of internal control over financial

reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal

control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances

We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys

internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly

reflect

the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and iii provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

New York New York

February 25 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
AMtRICAN EXPRCSS COMPAJY

Years Ended December31 Millions except per share amounts 2009 2008 2007

Revenues

Non-interest revenues

Discount revenue $13389 $15025 $14596

Netcardfees 2151 2150 1919

Travel commissions and fees 1594 2010 1926

Other commissions and fees 1778 2307 2417

Securitization income net 400 1070 1507

Other 2087 2157 1751

Total non-interest revenues 21399 24719 24116

Interest income

Interest and fees on loans 4468 6159 6351

Interest and dividends on investment securities 804 771 673

Deposits with 1anks and other 59 271 400

Total interet income 5331 7201 7424

Interest expense

Deposits 425 454 566

Short-term borrowings 37 483 731

Long-term debt and other 1745 2618 2684

Total interest expense 2207 3555 3981

Net interest income 3124 3646 3443

Total revenues net of interest expense 24523 28365 27559

Provisions for losses

Chargecard 857 1363 1140

Cardmember loans 4266 4231 2761

Other 190 204 202

Total provisions for losses 5313 5798 4103

Total revenues net of interest expense after provisions for losses 19210 22567 23456

Expenses

Marketing promotion rewards and cardmember services 6467 7361 7817

Salaries and employee benefits 5080 6090 5438

Professional services 2408 2413 2280

Other net 2414 3122 2227

Total 16369 18986 17762

Pretax income from continuing operations 2841 3581 5694

Income tax provision 704 710 1568

Income from continuing operations 2137 2871 4126

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax 172 114

Net income 2130 2699 4012

Earnings per Common Share Basic Note 18
Income from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders 1.55 2.47 3.49

Loss from discontinued operations 0.01 0.14 0.09

Net income attributable to common shareholdersu 1.54 233 340

Earnings per Common Share 1ilutcd Note 18

Income from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders 1.54 2.47 3.44

Loss from discontinued operations 0.15 0.10

Net income attributable to common shareholdersi 1.54 2.32 3.34

Average common shares outstanding for earnings per common share

Basic 1168 1154 1173

1iluted 1171 1156 1193

Represents income from continuing operations or net income as applicable less accelerated preferred dividend accretion of $212 million

for the year ended December 31 2009 due to the repurchase of $3.39 billion of preferred shares issued as part of the Capital Purchase

Program CPP ii preferred share dividends and related accretion of $94 million for the year ended December 31 2009 and iii earnings

allocated to participating share awards and other items of $22 million $15 million and $26 million for the years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AMEK EXPJtESS COMPANY

December31 Millions except
share data

2009 2008

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cashandcashduefrombanks 881 1574

Interest-bearing deposits in other banks including securities purchased under resale agreements 2009 $212

2008 $141
10597 6554

Short-term investment securities
4064 12419

Total
15542 20547

Accounts receivable

Cardmember receivables less reserves 2009 $546 2008 $810 33197 32178

Other receivables less reserves 2009 $109 2008 $118 5007 4393

Loans

Cardmember loans less reserves 2009 $3268 2008 $2570 29504 39641

Other less reserves 2009 $27 2008 $39 506 1018

Investment securities
24337 12526

Premises and equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation 2009 $4130 2008 $3743 2782 2948

Other assets
13213 12607

Assets of discontinued operations
216

Total assets
$124088 $126074

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Liabilities

Customer deposits
26289 15486

Travelers Cheques outstanding
5975 6433

Accounts payable
8926 8428

Short-term borrowings
2344 8993

Long-term debt 52338 60041

Other liabilities
13810 14592

Liabilities of discontinued operations ________
260

Total liabilities
109682 114233

Commitments and contingencies see Note 24

Shareholders Equity

Common shares $20 par value authorized 3.6 billion shares issued and outstanding 1192 million shares in

2009 and 1160 million shares in 2008
237 232

Additional paid-in capital
11144 10496

Retained earnings
3737 2719

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income

Net unrealized securities gains losses net of tax 2009 $291 2008 $458 507 699

Net unrealized derivatives losses net of tax 2009 $15 2008 $44 28 80

Foreign currency translation adjustments net of tax 2009 $31 2008 $64 722 368

Net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefit costs net of tax 2009 $244 2008 $216 469 459

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss
712 1606

Total shareholders equity
14406 11841

Total liabilities and shareholders equity
$124088 $126074

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

AMERJCAN LXPRSSS COMPANY

Years Ended December31 Millions 2009 2008 2007

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income 2130 2699 4012

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax 172 114

Income from continuing operations 2137 2871 4126

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided by operating activities

Provisions for losses 5313 5798 4103

Depreciation and amortization 1070 712 648

Deferred taxes acquisition costs and other 1429 442 851

Stock-based compensation 202 229 276

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions

Other receivables 730 101 927

Other assets
526 2256 226

Accounts payable and other liabilities 23 885 1013

Travelers Cheques outstanding 449 770 22

Net cash used in provided by operating activities attributable to discontinued operations 233 129 129

Net cash provided by operating activities 6384 8141 8011

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Sale of investments 2930 4657 3034

Maturity and redemption of investments 2900 9620 6154

Purchase of investments 13719 14724 9592

Net decrease increase in cardmember loans/receivables 6154 5940 20377

Proceeds froni cardmember loan securitizstions 2244 9619 7825

Maturities of cardmember loan securitizations 4800 4670 3500

Purchase of premises and equipment 772 977 938

Sale of premises and equipment
50 27 55

Acquisitions net of cash acquired 4589 124

Net increase decrease in restricted cash 1935 33 56

Net cash provided by investing activities attributable to discontinued operations 196 2625 786

Net cash used in provided by investing activities 6752 7561 16621

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net change in interest-bearing deposits 11037 358 3361

Net decrease increase in short-term borrowings 6574 8693 2682

Issuance of long-term debt 6697 19213 20833

Principal payments on long-term debt 15197 13787 9214

Issuance of American Express Series preferred shares and warrants 3389

Issuance of American Express common shares 614 176 852

Repurchase of American Express Series preferred shares 3389

Repurchase of American Express stock warrants 340

Repurchase of American Express common shares 218 3572

Dividends paid 924 836 712

Net cash provided by used in financing activities attributable to discontinued operations 40 6653 1236

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 4647 10440 15466

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 20 166

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 5008 5282 7022

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year includes cash of discontinued operations 2009 $3 2008

$6390 2007 $4445 20550 15268 8246

Cash and cash equivalents st end of year includes cash of discontinued operations 2009 $0 2008 $3 2007

$6390 15542 20550 15268

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

AMEKICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

Three Years Ended December 31 2009

Millions except per
share amounts

Balances as of December 31 2006

Comprehensive income

Net income

Change in net unrealized securities gains

Change in net unrealized derivatives losses gains

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefit

gains

Total comprehensive income

Repurchase of common shares

Other changes primarily employee plans

Effect of change in accounting principle

Cash dividends declared

Common $063 per share

Balances as of December 31 2007

Comprehensive income

Net income

Change in net unrealized securities gains

Change in net unrealized derivatives losses gains

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefit

losses

Total comprehensive income

Repurchase of common shares

Other changes primarily employee plans

Cash dividends declared

Common $0.72 per share

Balances as of December 31 2008

Comprehensive income

Net income

Change in net unrealized securities gains losses

Change in net unrealized derivatives losses

Foreign currency translation adjustments including hedge

gain/loss

Net unrealized pension and other postretirenlent benefit

Total comprehensive income

Issuance of preferred shares and common stock warrants

Preferred share accretion

Repurchase of preferred shares

Repurchase of warrants

Issuance of common shares

Other changes primarily employee plans

Cash dividends declared

Preferred shares

Common $0.72 per share

Balances as of December 31 2009

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Accumulated

Additional Other

Paidin Comprehensive

Capital Loss income

9638 520

289 289

12 494

1020

232 10164 442

2699 2699

711

113

334 334

232 10496 1606

2130 2130

1206

52

354 354

10 10

3024

3389

3389

340

1206

52

Preferred Common

Total Shares Shares

$10511 $240

Retained

Earnings

1153

4012 4012

80 80

98 98

33 33

4090

3572

867

127

740

11029

3066

157

127

740

1075

711

113

1532

218

334

836

11841

42
374

175

44

losses

836

2719

3157 232

232 232

3389

232 108

531 527

279 121 157

74 74

855 ________ ________

$14406 $237

_________ _____________
855

$11144 712 3737
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

THE COMPANY
American Express is global service company that provides

customers with access to products insights and experiences

that enrich lives and build business success The Companys

principal products and services are charge and credit payment

card products and travel-related services offered to consumers

and businesses around the world The Companys various

products and services are sold globally to diverse customer

groups including consumers small businesses middle-

market companies and large corporations These products

and services are sold through various channels including

direct mail on-line applications targeted direct and third-

party sales forces and direct response advertising

PRiNCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are

prepared in conformity with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles GAAP All significant intercompany

transactions are eliminated The Company has performed an

evaluation of subsequent events through February 25 2010

which is the date the financial statements were issued

The Company consolidates all voting interest entities in

which the Company holds controlling financial interest

through which the Company is able to exercise control over

those entities operating and financial decisions Entities in

which the Companys voting interest does not provide the

Company with control but allows the Company to exert

significant influence over their fmancial and operating

decisions are accounted for under the equity method All

other investments in equity securities to the extent that they

are not considered marketable securities are accounted for

under the cost method

Investments with variable interest entities VIEs are

limited The Company consolidates any VIEs for which it is

considered to be the primary beneficiary The determination

of whether an entity is VIE is based on the amount and

characteristics of the entitys equity An enterprise is required

to consolidate VIE when it has variable interest for which

it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary that is it will

absorb majority of the VIEs expected losses or receive

majority of the VIEs expected residual returns

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have

been made to conform to the current presentation These

reclassifications did not have an impact on the Companys

results of operations

LOREIGN CURRENCY

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

translated into U.S dollars based upon exchange rates

prevailing at the end of each year The resulting translation

adjustments along with any
related qualifying hedge and tax

effects are included in accumulated other comprehensive

loss income component of shareholders equity

Translation adjustments induding qualifying hedge and tax

effects are reclassified to earnings upon the sale or substantial

liquidation of investments in foreign operations Revenues

and
expenses are translated at the average month-end

exchange rates during the year Gains and losses related to

transactions in currency other than the functional currency

including operations outside the U.S where the functional

currency is the U.S dollar are reported net in the Companys

Consolidated Statements of Income in other non-interest

revenue interest income interest expense or other net

expense depending on the nature of the activity Net foreign

currency transaction gains amounted to approximately

$205 million $15 million and $27 million in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively Refer to Note 19 for further discussion of

certain items that impacted these gains in 2009

AMOUNTS BASED ON ESTIMATES ANI ASSUMPTIONS

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the Consolidated

Financial Statements These estimates are based in part on

managements assumptions concerning future events Among

the more significant assumptions are those that relate to

reserves for cardmember losses relating to loans and charge

card receivables reserves for Membership Rewards cost fair

value measurements goodwill and income taxes These

accounting estimates reflect the best judgment of

management but actual results could differ

iTAL REVE.NUES iliI OF 1NlEREST EXPENSE

1iscou nt Revenue

Discount revenue represents fees charged to merchants with

which the Company or its franchise partners has entered

into card acceptance agreements for facilitating transactions

between the merchants and the Companys cardmembers

The discount generally is deducted from the payment to the

merchant and recorded as discount revenue at the time the

charge is captured

Nct lees

Card fees are deferred and recognized on straight-line basis

over the 12-month card membership period net of deferred

direct card acquisition costs and reserve for projected

membership cancellations Charge card fees are recognized in

net card fees in the Consolidated Statements of Income and

the unamortized net card fee balance is reported in other

liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets refer to Note

ii Loan product fees are considered an enhancement to the
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yield on the product and are recognized in interest and fees

on loans in the Consolidated Statements of Income The

unamortized net card fee balance for lending products is

reported net in cardmember loans on the Consolidated

Balance Sheets refer to Note

Travel Commissions and Fees

The Company earns travel commissions and fees by charging

clients transaction or management fees for selling and

arranging travel and travel management services Client

transaction fee revenue is recognized at the time the client

books the travel arrangements Travel management services

revenue is recognized over the contractual term of the

agreement The Companys travel suppliers for example

airlines hotels car rental companies pay commissions and

fees on tickets issued sales and other services based on

contractual agreements Commissions and fees from travel

suppliers are generally recognized at the time ticket is

purchased or over the term of the contract Commissions and

fees that are based on actual usage that is unknown at time of

purchase for example hotel and car rentals are recognized

when cash is received

Other Commissions and Fees

Other commissions and fees include foreign currency

conversion fees delinquency fees service fees and other card

related assessments which are recognized primarily in the

period in which they are charged to the cardmember Also

included are fees related to the Companys Membership

Rewards program which are deferred and recognized over the

period covered by the fee The unamortized Membership

Rewards fee balance is included in other liabilities on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets refer to Note 11

iitra-revenue

The Company regularly makes payments through contractual

arrangements with merchants Commercial Card clients and

certain other customers collectively the customers

Payments to customers are generally classified as contra-

revenue unless specifically identifiable benefit e.g goods or

services is received by the Company in consideration for that

payment and the fair value of such benefit is determinable

and measurable If no such benefit is identified then the

entire payment is classified as contra-revenue and included

within total noninterest revenues in the Consolidated

Statements of Income in the line item where the related

transaction revenues are recorded e.g discount revenue

travel commissions and fees and other commissions and

fees If such benefit is identified then the payment is

classified as expense up to the estimated fair value of the

benefit

interest income

Interest on loans owned is assessed using the average daily

balance method Interest is recognized based upon the loan

principal amount outstanding in accordance with the terms of

the applicable account agreement until the outstanding

balance is paid or writtenoff

Interest and dividends on investment securities primarily

relates to the Companys performing fixed-income securities

Interest income is accrued as earned using the effective

interest method which adjusts the yield for security

premiums and discounts fees and other payments so that

constant rate of return is recognized on the investment

securitys outstanding balance Amounts are recognized until

such time as security is in default or when it is likely that

future interest payments will not be made as scheduled

Interest on deposits with banks and other is recognized as

earned and primarily relates to the placement of cash in

excess of near-term funding requirements in interest-bearing

time deposits overnight sweep accounts and other interest

bearing demand and call accounts

lnecrest Expense

Interest expense includes interest incurred primarily to fund

cardmember loans charge card product receivables general

corporate purposes and liquidity needs and is recognized as

incurred Interest expense is divided principally into three

categories deposits which primarily relates to interest

expense on deposits taken from customers and institutions

ii shortterm borrowings which primarily relates to interest

expense on commercial paper federal funds purchased bank

overdrafts and other short-term borrowings and iii long-

term debt which primarily relates to interest expense on the

Companys long-term financing

BALANCE SlIEET

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and amounts due

from banks interest-bearing bank balances including

securities purchased under resale agreements and other highly

liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less

lrcniiscs and Fquiprnem

Premises and equipment including leasehold improvements

are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation Costs

incurred during construction are capitalized and are

depreciated once an asset is placed in service Depreciation is

generally computed using the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of assets which range from to years

for equipment Premises are depreciated based upon their

estimated useful life at the acquisition date which generally

ranges
from 40 to 60 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the

straight-line method over the lesser of the remaining term of

the leased facility or the economic life of the improvement

which ranges
from to 10 years The Company maintains

operating leases worldwide for facilities and equipment Rent
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expense for facility leases is recognized ratably over the lease

term and is calculated to include adjustments for rent

concessions rent escalations and leasehold improvement

allowances The Company accoUnts for lease restoration

obligations in accordance with applicable GAAP which

requires recognition of the fair value of restoration liabilities

when incurred and amortizatiorl of capitalized restoration

costs over the lease term

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following table identifies the Companys other

description of each policy can be found

Software development costs

The Company capitalizes certain costs associated with the

acquisition or development of internal-use software Once the

software is ready for its intended use these costs are

amortized on straight-line basis over the softwares

estimated useful life generally years

significant accounting policies the Note and page where detailed

Fair Value Measurements

Accounts Receivable

Loans

Investment Securities

Securitization Income Net and Asset Securitization

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Membership Rewards

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Income Taxes

Other Non-Interest Revenues

Other Net Expense

Stock-based Compensation

Bank Holding Company

Reportable Operating Segments

Note Title

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Accounts Receivable

Loans

Investment Securities

Asset Securitizations

Other Assets

Other Liabilities

Derivative and Hedging Activities

Income Taxes

Details of Certain Consolidated Statements of Income

Details of Certain Consolidated Statements of Income

Stock Plans

Regulatory Matters and Capital Adequacy

Reportable Operating Segments and Geographic

Operations

Significant Accounting Policy

Note

Number

Note

Note

Note

Note6

Note

NoteS

Note 11

Note 12

Note 17

Note 19

Note 19

Note 20

Note 23

Note25

Page

Page 77

Page 80

Page 82

Page 84

Page 87

Page 91

Page 97

Page 98

Page 108

Page 110

Page 110

Page 111

Page 119

Page 122
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RECENFI ISSUED ACxUNTING STANLARIS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB recently

issued the following accounting standards which are effective

beginning January 2010

Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2009-16

Transfers and Servicing Topic 860 Accounting for

Transfers of Financial Assets An amendment for

accounting for transfers of financial assets will eliminate

the concept of qualifying special purpose entity QSPE
therefore requiring these entities to be evaluated under the

accounting guidance for consolidation of VIEs Other

changes include additional considerations when

determining if sale accounting is appropriate as well as

enhanced disclosure requirements The new standard is to

be applied prospectively to transactions completed after the

effective date

ASU No 2009-17 Consolidations Topic 810

Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises

Involved with Variable Interest Entities An amendment for

accounting by enterprises involved with VIEs eliminates

the scope exception for QSPE5 and requires an entity to

reconsider its previous consolidation conclusions reached

under the VIE consolidation model including whether

an entity is VIE ii whether the enterprise is the VIEs

primary beneficiary and lii the required fmancial

statement disclosures The new standard can be applied as

of the effective date with cumulative-effect adjustment to

retained earnings recognized on that date or

retrospectively with cumulative-effect adjustment to

retained earnings recognized as of the beginning of the first

year adjusted

The Company has determined that it will be required to

consolidate the American Express Credit Account Master

Trust the Lending Trust as result of implementing these

standards This will result in approximately $29.0 billion of

additional cardmember loans being recognized on the balance

sheet of the Company effective January 2010 along with

$25.0 billion of long-term debt This will also result in the

reduction of the Companys investment securities by $3.6

billion and other assets by $0.7 billion The $29.0 billion of

cardmember loans will require associated loan loss reserves of

approximately $2.5 billion which will be charged directly

against retained earnings The adjustments described above

will reduce shareholders equity by approximately $1.8 billion

on an after-tax basis Refer to Note for further discussion of

the Lending Trust

NOIL

ACQUISI FIONS ANI
DISCINTINUED OPERATIONS

ACQU ISITIONS

Revoution Money

On January 15 2010 the Company purchased Revolution

Money provider of secure person-to-person payment

services through an internet based platform for

approximately $300 million The majority of the

consideration paid is expected to be recorded as goodwill

with the remainder to be allocated to finite-lived intangible

assets and other miscellaneous assets and liabilities

Corporate iymcnt Services

On March 28 2008 the Company purchased Corporate

Payment Services CPS General Electric Companys

commercial card and corporate purchasing business unit The

Company acquired $2.2 billion in assets and assumed $63

million in liabilities The total cash consideration of $2.3

billion paid by the Company consisted of the contractual

purchase price of approximately $1.1 billion plus the

repayment of CPS $1.2 billion in outstanding debt as of the

acquisition date

DIS ON J1N Ufl OPERAl iONS

On September 18 2007 the Company entered into an

agreement to sell its international banking subsidiary

American Express Bank Ltd AEB to Standard Chartered

PLC Standard Chartered and to sell American Express

International Deposit Company AEIDC through put/call

agreement to Standard Chartered 18 months after the close of

the AEB sale The sale of AEB was completed on February 29

2008 In the third quarter of 2008 AEIDC qualified to be

reported as discontinued operation The sale of AEIDC was

completed on September 10 2009

For all periods presented all of the operating results assets

and liabilities and cash flows of AEB except for certain

components of AEB that were not sold and AEIDC have been

removed from the Corporate Other segment and are

presented separately in discontinued operations in the

Companys Consolidated Financial Statements The Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements have been adjusted to

exclude discontinued operations unless otherwise noted
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NOTE

FAIR VALUES

As permitted under GAAP the Company adopted new fair

value measurement and disclosure requirements in two

phases The first phase effective for the Company January

2008 establishes requirements for fair value measurements of

financial assets and liabilities and other recurring fair value

measurements reported or disdosd at fair value The second

phase effective for the Company lanuary 2009 establishes

requirements for all other assets and liabilities recognized or

disclosed at fair value on nonrecurring basis

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to

sell an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the

measurement date and is based on the Companys principal

or most advantageous market for the specific asset or liability

GAAP established three-level hierarchy of inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value defined as

follows

Level inputs that are quoted prices unadjusted for

identical assets or liabilities in active markets

Level inputs other than quoted prices included within

Level that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the

asset or liability including

Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active

markets

Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities

in markets that are not active

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for

the asset or liability

Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated

by observable market data by correlation or other means

Level inputs that are unobservable and reflect the

Companys own assumptions about the assumptions

market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability based on the best information available in the

circumstances e.g internally derived assumptions

surrounding the timing and amount of expected cash

flows

As summarized in the table below the Company has financial

assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on

recurring basis For the year ended December 31 2009 the

Company did not have any significant assets or liabilities that

were measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis in periods

subsequent to initial recognition

2009 2008

Total Level Level Level Total Level Level Level

$20738 $530 $20208 $11782 $11782

3599 3599 744 744

20 20 32 32

833 833 1782 1782

$25190 $530 $21041 $3619 $14340 $13564 $776

Excludes retained subordinated securities and interest-only strip

GAAP permits the netting of derivative asset.s and derivative liabilities when
legally

enforceable master netting agreement exists between the

Company and its derivative counterparty As of December 31 2009 and 2008 $33 million and $39 million respectively of derivative assets

and liabilities have been offset and presented net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Companys defined benefit pension plan the Plan assets are included in the determination of the Plans net funded status which is

reported in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets The Plan assets are also measured at fair value on an annual basis applying

inputs in the fair value hierarchy as described above Refer to Note 21 for further details

Millions

The following table provides summary of the estimated fair values for the Companys financial assets and financial liabilities

measured at fair value on recurring basis by GAAPs valuation hierarchy as described above as of December 31

Assets

Investment Securities

Retained subordinated securities

Interest-only strip

Derivatives

Total assets

Liabilities

DerivativesU

Total liabilities

283 283 483 483

283 283 483 483
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The table below presents reconciliation of all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis using significant

unobservable inputs Level during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 including realized and unrealized gains

losses included in earnings and accumulated other comprehensive loss income

Beginning fair value January

Increases in securitized loans1

Unrealized and realized gains losses

Ending fair value December 31

2009

Investments-

Retained Other Assets-

Subordinated Interest-Only

Securities Strip

744 $32

2008

Investments-

Retained Other Assets-

Subordinated Interest-Only

Securities Strip

78 $223

Represents cost basis of securitized loans

Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss income

Included in securitization income net

VALUAl1ON TECIJNJQUES USFI lN MEASURiNG

FAIR VALUE

GAAP requires disclosure of the estimated fair value of all

financial instruments financial instrument is defined as

cash evidence of an ownership in an entity or contract

between two entities to deliver cash or another financial

instrument or to exchange other financial instruments The

disclosure requirements for the fair value of financial

instruments exclude leases equity method investments

affiliate investments pension and benefit obligations

insurance contracts and all non-financial instruments

For the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value on recurring basis summarized in the valuation

hierarchy table above the Company applies the following

valuation techniques to measure fair value

investment Securities LxcludinR Retained Subordinated

Securities and the thierest only Sup

When available quoted market prices in active markets are

used to determine fair value Such investment securities are

classified within Level of the fair value hierarchy

When quoted prices in an active market are not available

the fair values for the Companys investment securities are

obtained primarily from pricing services engaged by the

Company and the Company receives one price for each

security The fair values provided by the pricing services are

estimated by using pricing models where the inputs to

those models are based on observable market inputs The

inputs to the valuation techniques applied by the pricing

services vary depending on the type of security being priced

but are typically benchmark yields benchmark security

prices credit spreads prepayment speeds reported trades

and broker-dealer quotes all with reasonable levels of

transparency The pricing services did not apply any

adjustments to the pricing models used In addition the

Company did not apply any adjustments to prices received

from the pricing services The Company classifies the prices

obtained from the pricing services within Level of the fair

value hierarchy because the underlying inputs are directly

observable from active markets or recent trades of similar

securities in inactive markets However the pricing models

used do entail certain amount of subjectivity and

therefore differing judgments in how the underlying inputs

are modeled could result in different estimates of fair value

The Company has reaffirmed its understanding of the

valuation techniques used by its pricing services In addition

the Company corroborates the prices provided by its pricing

services to test their reasonableness by comparing their prices

to valuations from different pricing sources as well as

comparing prices to the sale prices received from sold

securities Refer to Note for additional fair value

information

Retained Subordinated Securities

The Company determines the fair value of its retained

subordinated securities using discounted cash flow models

The discount rate used is based on an interest rate curve that

is observable in the marketplace plus an unobservable credit

spread commensurate with the risk of these securities and

similar financial instruments The Company classifies such

securities in Level of the fair value hierarchy because the

applicable credit spreads are not observable due to the

illiquidity in the market with respect to these securities and

similar financial instruments Refer to Note for additional

fair value information

Millions

1760 1250

1093b 12c 584b 191

$3599 $20 744 32
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Interestonly strIp

The fair value of the interest-only strip is the present value of

estimated future positive excess spread expected to be

generated by the securitized loans over the estimated

remaining life of those loans Management utilizes certain

estimates and assumptions to determine the fair value of the

interest-only strip asset including estimates for finance

charge yield credit losses London Interbank Offered Rate

LIBOR which determines future certificate interest costs

monthly payment rate and discount rate On quarterly basis

the Company compares the assumptions it uses in calculating

the fair value of its interest-only strip to observable market

data when available and to historical trends The interest-

only strip is classified within Level of the fair value hierarchy

due to the significance of the unobservable inputs used in

valuing this asset Refer to Note for additional fair value

information

Derivative Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Companys derivative financial

instruments which could be assets or liabilities on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets is estimated by using either

third party valuation service that uses proprietary pricing

models or by using internal pricing models neither of which

contain high level of subjectivity as the valuation techniques

used do not require significant judgment and inputs to those

models are readily observable from actively quoted markets

In each case the valuation models used are consistently

applied and reflect the contractual terms of the derivatives

including the period of maturity and market-based

parameters such as interest rates foreign exchange rates

equity indices or prices and volatility

Credit valuation adjustments are necessary when the

market parameters for example benchmark curve used to

value derivatives are not indicative of the credit quality of the

Company or its counterparties The Company considers the

counterparty credit risk by applying an observable forecasted

default rate to the current exposure Refer to Note 12 fr

additional fair value information

The following table discloses the estimated fair values for the

Companys financial assets and financial liabilities not carried

at fair value as of December 31

Financial Assets

Assets for which carrying

values equal or

approximate fair value

Loans

Financial Liabilities

Liabilities for which

carrying values equal

or approximate fair

value

Certificates of deposit

Long-term debt

The fair values of these financial instruments are estimates

based upon market conditions and perceived risks as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and require management

judgment These figures may not be indicative of their future

fair values The fair value of the Company cannot be

estimated by aggregating the amounts presented

The following methods were used to determine estimated

fair values

FINANCIAl ASSEFS IOR WHICIi CARRYING VAtL1S

EQUAl IR AiPROXIMAlE FAIR VALUE

Financial assets for which carrying values equal or

approximate fair value include cash and cash equivalents

cardmember receivables accrued interest and certain other

assets For these assets the carrying values approximate fair

value because they are short-term in duration or variable rate

in nature

Rounded to nearest billion 2009

Carrying Fair

Value Value

2008

Carrying Fair

Value Value

$57 $57 $58 $58

$30 $30 $41 $41

$33 $33 $37 $37

$15 $16 $8 $7

$52 $54 $60 $56
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FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT OTHERTHAN FAIR

Vi\tUL

loans

Loans are recorded at historical cost less reserves on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets In estimating the fair value for

the Companys loans the principal market is assumed to be

the securitization market and the Company uses the

hypothetical securitization price to determine the fair value of

the portfolio The securitization price is estimated from the

assumed proceeds of the hypothetical securitization in the

current market adjusted for securitization uncertainties such

as market conditions and liquidity

FINANCIAL LIABILITI ES lR WHICh CARRYING

VAt ULS EQUAL OR APPROXIMATE FAIR VALUE

Financial liabilities for which carrying values equal or

approximate fair value include accrued interest customer

deposits excluding certificates of deposit which are described

further below Travelers Cheques outstanding short-term

borrowings and certain other liabilities for which the carrying

values approximate fair value because they are short-term in

duration variable rate in nature or have no defined maturity

FiNANCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIEI AT OTHER THAN

FAIR VALUE

Cectiticates ol Leposit

Certificates of deposit CDs are recorded at their historical

issuance cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets Fair value is

estimated using discounted cash flow methodology based on

the Companys current borrowing rates for similar types of

CDs

Long tcrm eht

Long-term debt is recorded at historical issuance cost on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets Fair value is estimated using

either quoted market prices or discounted cash flows based on

the Companys current borrowing rates for similar types of

borrowing

NOTE

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

CARDMEMBER RECEIVABLES

Cardmember receivables represent amounts due from charge

card customers These receivables are recorded at the time

cardmember enters into point-of-sale transaction with

merchant Cardmember receivable balances are presented on

the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of reserves for losses

discussed below and includes principal and any related

accrued fees

RESERVES FOR LOSSES CARLMEMBER RECEIVABLES

Reserves for losses relating to cardmember receivables

represent managements best estimate of the losses inherent in

the Companys outstanding portfolio of receivables

Managements evaluation process requires certain estimates

and judgments Reserves for these losses are primarily based

upon models that analyze portfolio performance and reflect

managements judgment regarding overall reserve adequacy

The analytic models take into account several factors

including average losses and recoveries over an appropriate

historical period Management considers whether to adjust

the analytic models for specific factors such as increased risk

in certain portfolios impact of risk management initiatives on

portfolio performance and concentration of credit risk based

on factors such as tenure industry or geographic regions In

addition management adjusts the reserves for losses for other

external environmental factors such as leading economic and

market indicators and the legal and regulatory environment

Generally due to the short-term nature of cardmember

receivables the impact of the other external environmental

factors on the inherent losses within the cardmember

receivable portfolio is not significant As part of this

evaluation process management also considers various

reserve coverage metrics such as reserves as percentage of

past-due amounts reserves as percentage of cardmember

receivables and net write-off coverage

Cardmember receivables balances are written off when

management deems amounts to be uncollectible and is

generally determined by the number of days past due

Cardmember receivables within the U.S Card Services

USCS segment are generally written off when 180 days past

due and cardmember receivables within the International

Card Services ICS and Global Commercial Services GCS
segments are generally written off when 360 days past billing

Receivables in bankruptcy or owed by deceased individuals

are written off upon notification Recoveries are recognized

on cash basis

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2008 cardmember

receivables in the USCS segment were written off when 360

days past billing During 2008 consistent with applicable

bank regulatory guidance the Company modified its write-off

methodology to write off cardmember receivables in the

USCS segment when 180 days past due Net cardmember
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receivables write-offs in 2008 included approximately $341

million resulting from this change in write-off methodology

The impact of this change to the provision for charge card

losses was not material

Accounts receivable as of December 31 consisted of

Millions 2009 2008

U.S Card Services $17750 $17822

International Card Services 5944 5582

Global Commercial Services 9844 9397

Global Network Merchant Services1 205 187

Cardmember receivables grossU 33743 32988

Less Cardmember reserve for losses 546 810

Cardmember receivables net $33197 $32178

Other receivables net11 5007 4393

Includes receivables primarily related to the Companys business

partners and International Currency Card portfolios

bIncludes approximately $10.4 billion and $9.9 billion of

cardmember receivables outside the United States as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Other receivables primarily represent amounts due from the

Companys travel customers third party issuing partners accrued

interest on investments receivables acquired in connection with

the purchase of CPS Company cash held in an off-balance sheet

securitization trust for daily settlement requirements and other

receivables due to the Company in the ordinary course of

business

The following table presents changes in the cardmember

receivables reserve for losses for years ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Balance January 810 1149 981

Additions

Cardmember receivables

provision 857 1363 1140

Deductions

Cardmember receivables net write

offs1 1131 1552 917

Cardmember receivables othe 10 150 65

Balance December31 546 810 $1149

For cardmember receivables represents provision for losses and

write-offs consisting of principal resulting from authorized and

unauthorized transactions and fee components less recoveries of

$349 million $187 million and $203 million for 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

For December 31 2008 these amounts primarily include

adjustments related to the reclassification of waived fee reserves to

contra-cardmember receivable This amount for all periods

includes foreign currency translation adjustments

Refer to Note for discussion on pledged cardmember

receivables as of December 31 2009 and 2008 Also refer to

Note for impaired cardmember receivables as of

December 31 2009 and 2008
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NOTE

OANS
lOANS

Cardmember loans represent amounts due from lending

product customers These loans are recorded at the time

cardmember enters into point-of-sale transaction with

merchant or when charge card customer enters into an

extended payment arrangement Cardmember loans are

presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of reserves

for cardmember losses unamortized net card fees and include

accrued interest receivable and fees as of the balance sheet

date The Companys policy is to generally cease accruing for

interest receivable on cardmember loan at the time when

the account is written off

Rl.Si.RVES FR lOSSES CARDMEMBER LOANS

Reserves for losses relating to cardmember loans represent

managements best estimate of the losses inherent in the

Companys outstanding portfolio of loans Managements

evaluation process requires certain estimates and judgments

Reserves for these losses are primarily based upon models that

analyze portfolio performance and reflect managements

judgment regarding overall reserve adequasy The analytic

models take into account several factors including average

losses and recoveries over an appropriate historical period

Management considers whether to adjust the analytic models

for specific factors such as increased risk in certain portfolios

impact of risk management initiatives on portfolio

performance and concentration of credit risk based on factors

such as tenure industry or geographic regions In addition

management adjusts the reserves for losses for other external

environmental factors including leading economic and

market indicators such as the unemployment rate GDP
home price indices non-farm payrolls personal consumption

expenditures index consumer confidence index purchasing

managers index bankruptcy filings
and the legal and

regulatory environment As part of this evaluation process

management also considers various reserve coverage metrics

such as reserves as percentage of past due amounts reserves

as percentage of cardmember loans and net write-off

coverage

Cardmember loan balances are written off when

management deems amounts to be uncollectible and is

generally determined by the number of days past due at 180

days past due Cardmember loans in bankruptcy or owed by

deceased individuals are written off upon notification

Recoveries are recognized on cash basis

Millions 2009 2008

U.S Card Services $23507 $32684

International Card Services 9241 9499

Global Commercial Services 24 28

Cardmember loans 32772 42211

Less Cardmember loans reserve for losses 3268 2570

Cardmember loans net $29504 $39641

Other loans netb 506 1018

Cardmember loan balance is net of unamortized net card fees of

$114 million and $115 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively

Other loans primarily represent small business installment loans

store card portfolio whose billed business is not processed on

the Companys network and small business loans associated with

the CPS acquisition Other loans at December 31 2008 included

loan to an affiliate in discontinued operations

The following table presents changes in the cardmember loans

reserve for losses for years ended December 31

Millions

Balance January

Additions

Cardmember loans provisions

Cardmember loans otherb

Total provision

2009 2008 2007

2570 1831 1171

4209 4106 2615

57 125 146

4266 4231 2761

Deductions

Cardmember loans net write

offs principal 2949 2643 1636

Cardmember loans net write

offs interest and fee

Cardmember loans otherd

Balance December 31

448 580 354

171 269 111

3268 2570 1831

Represents loss provisions for cardmember loans consisting of

principal resulting from authorized transactions interest and

fee reserves components

Primarily represents adjustments to cardmember loans resulting

from unauthorized transactions For December 31 2008 and

2007 this amount also includes waived fees

Cardmember loans net writeoffs principal for 2009 2008 and

2007 include recoveries of $327 million $301 million and $295

million respectively Recoveries of interest and fees were de

minimis

For December 31 2009 the amount for cardmember loans

primarily includes $160 million of reserves that were removed in

connection with securitizations during the period The offset is in

the allocated cost of the associated retained subordinated

Loans as of December 31 consisted of
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securities For December 31 2008 these amounts include

reclassification of waived fee reserves to contra-cardmember

loans This amount for all periods includes foreign currency

translation adjustments

pl11 1.\NS \\l RECLIVABLES

Certain cardmember loans and receivables totaling

approximately $16.3 billion are pledged by the Company to

its securitization Trusts refer to Note Upon adoption of

new GAAP governing transfers of financial assets as of

January 2010 and the resulting consolidation of the

Lending Trust refer to Note approximately $29.0 billion

of additional cardmember loans will be recognized on the

balance sheet of the Company While the $29.0 billion of

additional cardmember loans were sold by the Companys

bank subsidiaries to the Lending Trust such loans are deemed

to be pledged by the Company to the Companys Lending

Trust

NIPAI REI ii ANS AND RECEIVABLES

Individually impaired loans and receivables are defined by

GAAP as larger balance or smaller balance homogeneous

restructured loans and receivables for which it is probable that

the lender will be unable to collect all amounts due according

to the original contractual terms of the loan and receivable

agreement The Company may modi cardmember loans and

receivables and such modifications may include reducing the

interest rate/delinquency fees on the loans and receivables

and/or placing the cardmember on fixed payment plan not

exceeding 60 months If the cardmember does not comply

with the modified terms then the loan or receivable

agreement reverts back to its original terms Impaired loans

and receivables include long-term modification programs or

Troubled Debt Restructurings TDR wherein the terms of

loan or receivable have been modified for cardmembers that

are experiencing financial difficulties and long-term

concession more than 12 months has been granted to the

borrower TDRs totaled $114 million and $71 million of

cardmember loans and receivables outstanding as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Reserves for losses

for TDRs is determined by the difference between cash flows

expected to be received from the cardmember discounted at

the original contractual interest rates and the carrying value of

the cardmember balance

The Companys policy is generally to accrue interest

through the date of charge-off i.e 180 days past due Loans

amounting to $299 million and $927 million at December 31

2009 and 2008 respectively were past due 90 days or more

and still accruing interest These amounts include $46 million

and $69 million of cardmember loans that are also included in

the Short Term Modification Programs discussed above In

addition as of December 31 2009 and 2008 loans of $494

million and $14 million respectively were not accruing

interest These amounts primarily include certain

cardmember loans placed with outside collection agencies

OTFIER LOANS AN1 RECEIVABLES WITH SHORT TERM

NI IIEICATIONS

In addition to the TDRs discussed above the Company has

instituted other modification
programs

that include short-

term 12 months or less interest rate and fee reductions to

cardmembers experiencing financial difficulty Short Term

Modification Programs As of December 31 2009 and 2008

approximately $701 million and $497 million respectively in

cardmember loans and receivables have been modified under

these Short Term Modification Programs These amounts

include $46 million and $69 million respectively of

cardmember loans that are also included in loans past due 90

days or more still accruing interest discussed above The

short-term modifications to these cardmember loans and

receivables had no incremental impact on the Companys

reserve for losses
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NOTE

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Investment securities include debt and equity securities and

are classified as available-for-sale The Companys investment

securities principally debt securities are carried at fair value

on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with unrealized gains

losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss

income net of income tax provisions benefits Realized

gains and losses are recognized in results of operations upon

disposition of the securities using the specific identification

method on trade date basis Refer to Note for description

of the Companys methodology for determining the fair value

of its investment securities

The following is summary of investment Securities as of December 31

State and municipal

obligations

Gross

Unrealized

Cost Gains

U.S Government treasury

obligations 5556

U.S Government agency

obligations

Mortgage-backed securities

Retained subordinated

securities 3088

Equity securitiec 100 430

Corporate debt securitiesd 1333

Foreign government bonds

and obligations

Otber

Total

Represents mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae

Consists of investments in retained subordinated securities from the Companys cardmember loan securitization program

Represents the Companys investment in Industrial and Commercial Bank of China ICBC
dThe December 31 2009 balance includes $1.1 billion cost basis of corporate debt obligations issued under the Temporary Liquidity

Guarantee Program TLGP that are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC
Other is primarily comprised of investments in various mutual funds

01 lllR TI IAN EM PORARY INI PAIRM EN
Realized losses are recognized when management determines

that decline in value is other-than-temporary Such

determination requires judgment regarding the amount and

timing of recovery The Company reviews and evaluates its

investments at least quarterly and more often as market

conditions may require to identify investments that have

indications of other-than-temporary impairments The

determination of other-than-temporary impairment is

subjective process requiring the use of judgments and

assumptions It is reasonably possible that change in

estimate will occur in the near term relating to other-than-

temporary impairment Accordingly the Company considers

several factors when evaluating debt securities for an other-

than-temporary impairment including the determination of

the extent to which the decline in fair value of the security is

due to increased default risk for the specific issuer or market

interest rate risk With respect to increased default risk the

Company assesses the collectibility of principal and interest

payments by monitoring issuers credit ratings related

changes to those ratings specific credit events associated with

the individual issuers as well as the credit ratings of financial

guarantor where applicable and the extent to which

amortized cost exceeds fair value and the duration and size of

that difference With respect to market interest rate risk

including benchmark interest rates and credit spreads the

Company assesses whether it has the intent to sell the

securities and whether it is more likely than not that the

Company will not be required to sell the securities before

recovery of any unrealized losses

5.uzJlos 2009

Gross

Unrealized Estimated

Losses Fair Value Cost

2008

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

6457 51 258 6250 6628

Gross

Unrealized Estimated

Losses Fair Value

10 5566 1933

6699 47 6745

179 180

3141

73

512 3599 1328

37 1034 5631

48 1981

44 3185

75

584 744

200 344 544

230 13 218

90

40

$23542

530

14 12 1335

92

40

274 243371069

84

67

$13684 477 1635

81

67

12526
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The following table provides information about the Companys investment securities with gross unrealized losses and the length

of time that individual securities have been in continuous unrealized loss position as of December 31

Millions 2009 2008

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Less than 12 months 12 months or more

Gross Gross Gross

Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized

Description of Securities Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

State and municipal obligations 837 25 2074 233 2515 326 2037 708

U.S Government agency

obligations 249

Mortgage-backed securities 120

Retained subordinated

securities 75 744 584

Corporate debt securities 102 38 11 35 99 12

Foreign government bonds and

obligations
27

Total 1308 29 2191 245 3321 915 2136 720

The following table summarizes the unrealized losses of temporary impairments by ratio of fair value to amortized cost as of

December 31

Dollars in rail/ions Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Gross Gross Gross

Ratio of Fair Value to Number of Estimated Unrealized Number of Estimated Unrealized Number of Estimated Unrealized

Amortized Cost Securities Fair Value Losses Securities Fair Value Losses Securities Fair Value Losses

2009

90%100% 155 1289 25 235 1414 87 390 2703 112

Less than 90% 19 83 777 158 85 796 162

Total as of

December 31 2009 157 1308 29 318 2191 245 475 3499 274

2008

90%l00% 327 1289 73 37 111 364 1400 80

Lessthan90% 321 2032 842 310 2025 713 631 4057 1555

Total as of

December 31 2008 648 3321 915 347 2136 720 995 5457 1635



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

The
gross unrealized losses on state and municipal securities

and all other debt securities are attributable to number of

reasons such as issuer specific credit spreads and changes in

market interest rates

In assessing default risk on these securities excluding the

Companys retained subordinated securities the Company

has qualitatively considered the key factors identified above

and determined that it expects to collect all of the contractual

cash flows due on the securities In assessing default risk on

the retained subordinated securities the Company has

analyzed the projected cash flows of the American Express

Credit Account Master Trust the Lending Trust and expects

to collect all of the contractual cash flows due on the

securities

Overall for the investment securities in
gross unrealized

loss positions identified above the Company does not

intend to sell the securities it is more likely than not that

the Company will not be required to sell the securities before

recovery of the unrealized losses and the Company

expects that the contractual principal and interest will be

received on the securities

SPPLENlENTAL 1NFORvIATION

Gross realized gains and losses on sales of investment

securities included in other non-interest revenues are as

follows

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Gains $226t $20 $14

Losses

Total $225 $12

Contractual maturities of investment securities excluding

equity securities and other securities primarily mutual funds

with no stated maturity as of December 31 2009 are as

follows

Estimated

Millions Cost Fair Value

Due in

Due within year $10285 $10333

Due after year but within years 6439 6919

Due after years but within 10 years 704 759

Due after 10 years 5974 5756

Total $23402 $23767

The Companys individual investments in the unrated classes

of its retained subordinated securities contain multiple

maturity dates over periods ranging from 2010 through 2018

Accordingly in the table above the Company has classified

such investments based on the weighted-average maturity In

addition the expected payments on state and municipal

obligations and mortgage-backed securities may not coincide

with their contractual maturities because borrowers have the

right to call or prepay certain obligations

Primarily represents the gain from the sale of 50 percent of the

Companys investment in ICBC
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NOTE

ASSET SECURITIZATIONS

The Company periodically securitizes cardmember

receivables and loans arising from its card business through

the transfer of those assets to trust The trust then issues

securities to third-party investors collateralized by the

transferred assets Securitization transactions are accounted

for as either sales or secured borrowings based on the

structure of the transaction and the current GAAP

requirements Refer to Note for description of the changes

in GAAP governing the accounting for transfers of financial

assets which will result in all securitization transactions being

accounted for as secured borrowings by the Company

effective January 2010

Based on GAAP in effect at December 31 2009 in order

for securitization of financial assets to be accounted for as

sale the transferor must surrender control over those

financial assets to the extent that the transferor receives

consideration other than beneficial interests in the transferred

assets

Cardmember loans are transferred to the American

Express Credit Account Master Trust the Lending Trust

which meets the criteria of qualifying special purpose entity

QSPE and such transactions qualify as accounting sales

through year-end 2009 Accordingly when loans were sold

through securitizations the Company removed the loans

from its Consolidated Balance Sheets and recognized gain or

loss on sale and retained interests in the securitizations

Cardmember receivables are transferred to the American

Express Issuance Trust the Charge Trust which is not

QSPE Securitizations of cardmember receivables are

accounted for as secured borrowings

OFIBALANCE SHEET SE

Scrvicing Purl folio

In consideration for the transfer of the current cardmember

loans as well as the future cash flows related to the

cardmember account the Company through its subsidiaries

receives an undivided pro rata interest in the trust referred to

as sellers interest which is equal to the balance of all

cardmember loans $36.2 billion and $40.5 billion as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively transferred to the

Lending Trust plus the associated accrued interest receivable

$918 million and $1.1 billion at December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively less the investors portion of those assets

securitized cardmember loans Sellers interest is reported as

cardmember loans on the Companys Consolidated Balance

Sheets Any accrued interest related to the investors portion

of securitized cardmember loans is reported as other assets on

the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company retains servicing responsibilities for the

transferred cardmember loans through its subsidiary

American Express Travel Related Services Company Inc

TRS and earns related fee No servicing asset or liability is

recognized at the time of securitization because the

Company receives adequate compensation relative to current

market servicing fees

The following table illustrates the activity in the Lending

Trust including the securitized cardmember loans and

sellers interest for the years ended December 31

Millions

Lending Trust assets January

Account additions net

Cardmember activity net

Lending Trust assets December 31

Securitized cardmember loans January

Impact of issuances external

Impact of issuances retained

Impact of maturities

Securitized cardmember loans December 31

Sellers interest January

Impact of issuances

Impact of maturities

Account additions net

Cardmember activity net

Sellers interest December 31

The Company announced in the second quarter of 2009 that

certain actions affecting outstanding series of securities issued

by the Lending Trust were completed in order to adjust the

credit enhancement structure of substantially all of the

outstanding series of securities previously issued by the

Lending Trust These actions were to address the concerns of

rating agencies and the decline in the trust excess spread due

to the performance of the underlying credit card receivables

in the Lending Trust The actions which are permitted by the

transaction documents governing the Lending Trust

consisted of the following

Issuance of two new series of investor certificates

collectively the Series Certificates equaling

approximately $1.5 billion in aggregate The Series

Certificates were acquired by the Company in exchange

for portion of the sellers interest in the Lending Trust

The Certificates which were issued at market

interest rate are subordinated to all other investor

certificates and therefore provide additional credit

enhancement to all outstanding series These certificates

have various maturities including final maturity of

2018

2009

$41579

2956

7457

$37078

$28955

2250

2013

4892

$28326

$12624

4263

4892

2956

7457

8752

2008

36194

10187

4802

41579

22671

9640

131

4670

28955

13524

10955

4670

10187

4802

$12624

87



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

Designation of percentage of new principal receivables

arising from accounts in the Lending Trust as Discount

Option Receivables as defined in the Lending Trust

documentation As permitted under the terms of the

transaction documents governing the Lending Trust

collections on Discount Option Receivables may be

applied as finance charge collections which increased the

yield on the assets in the Lending Trust by approximately

400-650 basis points beginning with the July 2009

monthly reporting period The designation of Discount

Option Receivables is scheduled to continue through

2010

The actions described above did not have material impact

on the Companys results of operations

1CCL1 ni/atoll EILOI11C

The following table summarizes the activity related to

securitized loans reported in securitization income net for the

years ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Excess spread net11 $I5 544 $1025

Servicing fees 562 543 425

Losses Gains on sales from

secunitizationsb 17 57

Securitization income net 400 $1070 $1507

Excess spread net is the net cash flow from interest and fee

collections allocated to the investors interests after deducting the

interest paid on investor certificates credit losses contractual

servicing fees other expenses and the changes in the fair value of

the interest-only strip This amount excludes issuer rate fee

collections which are portion of monthly discount revenue that

is earned and collected by the Company on new transactions by

cardmembers that have their loans sold into the Lending Trust

These cash flows are available to pay monthly Lending Trust

expenses The issuer rate is reported in discotmt revenue in the

Companys Consolidated Statements of Income In periods when

the excess spread net in the Lending Trust becomes negative and

the issuer rate fee collections are utilized to pay Lending Trust

expenses the Company recognizes an expense in securitization

income net in the Companys Consolidated Statements of

Income

Excludes $201 million and $393 million of credit provision

impact from cardmember loan sales and maturities for 2009 $446

million and $177 million of credit provision impact from

cardmember loan sales and maturities for 2008 as well as $144

million and $84 million of credit provision impact from

cardmember loan sales and maturities for 2007

At the time of cardmember loan securitization the

Company records gain loss on sale which is calculated as

the difference between the proceeds from the sale and the

book basis of the cardmember loans sold The book basis is

determined by allocating the carrying amount of the sold

cardmember loans net of applicable credit reserves between

the cardmember loans sold and the interests retained based

on their relative fair values Such fair values are based on

market prices at the date of transfer for the sold cardmember

loans and on the estimated present value of future cash flows

for retained interests Gains losses on sale from

securitizations are reported in securitization income net in

the Companys Consolidated Statements of Income The

income component resulting from the release of credit

reserves upon sale of cardmember loans is reported as

reduction of provision for losses from cardmember loans The

removal of credit reserves in connection with retained

subordinated securities is offset in the allocated cost of the

associated retained subordinated securities

Rctauied Interests ii Scuritiied Assets .ind lair Value

\lasuIelr1e11I

The Company retains subordinated interests in the securitized

cardmember loans These interests include one or more

A-rated BBB-rated and unrated investments in tranches of

the securitization subordinated securities and an interest-

only strip The following table presents retained interests for

the years ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008

Subordinated securities11 $3599 $744

Interest-only stripb 20 32

Total retained interests $3619 $776

The subordinated securities are accounted for at fair value as

available-for-sale investment securities and are reported in

investments on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets with

unrealized gains losses recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive loss income

The intereston1y strip
is accounted for at fair value and is

reported in other assets on the Companys Consolidated Balance

Sheets with changes in fair value recorded in securitization

income net in the Companys Consolidated Statements of

Income

Refer to Note for description of the Companys

methodology for determining the fair value of retained

subordinated interests and interest-only strips and related fair

value disclosures
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Changes in the estimates and assumptions used may have

significant impact on the Companys valuation of the

retained interests The key economic assumptions used in

measuring the interest-only strip asset at the time of issuance

as well as at December 31 2009 and the sensitivity of the fair

value to immediate 10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes

in these assumptions are as follows rates are per annum

interest-Only Strip

At time of issuance As of December 31 2009

Impact on

fair value

of 10%

adverse

2009 2008 Assumptions chang

_____________
3.2%-13.5% 13.5%-I 5.6% 2.4%-13.4% $77.8b

____________
9.8%-10.9% 43%-5.8% 7.6%-8.7% $50.7

___________
0.3%-0.9% 2.7%-4.6% 0.2%-0.6% 1.7

payment

rate 23.0%-23.I% 23.8%-24.7% 25.5% 0.1

Discount

rate 14.3%-17.2% l0%-120% 12.4%

The impact on fair value of 20 percent adverse change is

approximately two times the impact of 10 percent adverse

change identified above

The fair value of the interest-only strip is $20 million as of

December 31 2009 Therefore 10 percent adverse change in the

assumption would result in the fair value of the interest-only strip

written down to zero

The key assumptions and the sensitivity of the current years

fair value of the retained subordinated securities to immediate

10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes in these key

assumptions are as follows

2008

Retained Subordinated Securities

Impact on fair Impact on fair

Millions except
value of 10% value of 20%

rates per annum Assumptions adverse change adverse change

Discount rate 2.5%-20.7% $57.2 5112.0

LIBOR 1.0%-3.9% 1.5 3.0

This sensitivity analysis does not represent managements

expectations of adverse changes in these assumptions but is

provided as hypothetical scenario to assess the sensitivity of

the fair value of the retained subordinated interests to changes

in key inputs Management cannot extrapolate changes in fair

value based oil 10 percent or 20 percent change in all key

Cardmember loans

managed

Less Cardmember loans

securitized
____________

Cardmember loans

on-balance sheet $42.2

assumptions simultaneously in part because the relationship

of the change in one assumption on the fair value of the

retained interest is calculated independently from any change

in another assumption Changes in one factor may cause

changes in another which could magnify or offset the

sensitivities

.thcr lisclosures

The table below summarizes cash flows received from the

Lending Trust for the years ended December 31

Millions except

rates per annum

Finance

charge yield

Expected

credit losses

LIBOR

Monthly

Millions 2009 2008

Proceeds from new securitizations during

the period 2244 9619

Proceeds from collections reinvested in

revolving cardmember securitizations $81654 $78164

Servicing fees received 562 543

Excess spread received including issuer rate

collections and discounting 2520 2363

Net of issuance expenses

The following table presents quantitative information about

delinquencies net credit losses and components of

securitized cardmember loans as of December 31

Billions

Total Amount

of

Cardmember

Loans

Amount of

Loans 30

Days or

More Past

Due

Net

Credit

Write-offs

During

the Year

2009

Cardmember loans

managed

Less Cardmember loans

securitized

Cardmember loans

on-balance sheet

$61.1 $2.2 $6.2

283 1.0 2.8

$32.8 $1.2 $3.4

$71.2 $3.3 $4.9

29.0 1.4 1.7

$1.9 $3.2

Excludes subordinated accrued interest receivable classified in

other assets of $719 million and $807 million as of December 31

2009 and 2008 respectively Refer to Note

ON BALANCE SHEEI SELRITZATIINS

The Companys securitizations of cardmember receivables are

accounted for as secured borrowings The Charge Trust is
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considered variable interest entity and is consolidated by

American Express Receivables Financing Corporation LLC
its primary beneficiary which is in turn consolidated by the

Company
The cardmember receivables securitized through this

entity are not accounted for as sold and continue to be

reported as owned assets on the Companys Consolidated

Balance Sheets The related securities issued to third-party

investors are reported as long-term debt on the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheets

The following table summarizes the total assets and

liabilities held by the Charge Trust as of December 31

Billions 2009 2008

Assets $8.3 $7.8

Liabilities $5.0 $5.0

These receivables are available only for payment of the debt or

other obligations issued or arising in the securitization

transactions For these assets the carrying values approximate

fair value because these are short-term in duration The long-

term debt is payable only out of collections on the underlying

securitized assets The fair value of these liabilities was $5.0

billion and $4.4 billion as of December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively

LFNIING itUST \N1 l\RGFFRUSl TRI..ERS

Under the respective terms of the Lending Trust and the

Charge Trust agreements the occurrence of certain events

could result in payment of trust expenses establishment of

reserve funds or in worst-case scenario early amortization

of investor certificates

The following table below presents key metrics reported by

each trust as of December 31 2009

Excess spread rate net

3-month
average Trigger event

Trust
trigger

for reserve account funding

Trust trigger for early amortization

3-month average Actual rate

Floating rate series

Fixed rate series

Reserve account funding millions

Required arnouflt

Floating rate series

Fixed rate series

Sellers interest percentage

Required rate

Actual rate

Lending Charge

Trust Trust

N/A 60%
N/A 94.4%

The excess spread rate net including issuer rate collections in the

Lending Trust is the sum of the net cash flows of the excess

spread net and ii issuer rate as percentage of the outstanding

investors certificates Excess spread net is the net cash flows from

interest and fee collections allocated to the investors interests

after deducting the interest paid on investors certificates credit

losses contractual servicing fees and other expenses The

deductions may be greater amount than the collections

resulting in negative spread losses Excess spread net is reported

by the Company in securitization income net in the Consolidated

Statements of Income See above for the disclosure of excess

spread net

The excess spread rate net in the Charge Trust is the net cash

flows from the discounted portion of principal collections

allocated to the investors interests after deducting the interest

paid on investors notes credit losses contractual servicing fees

and other expenses as percentage of the outstanding investors

notes

If the three-month average excess spread rate net including issuer

rate collections falls below the
trigger

level of percent or

percent for the Lending Trust and Charge Trust respectively the

affected Trust is required to fund cash account in increasing

amounts $3 million to $1.7 billion for the Lending Trust and $11

million to $170 million for the Charge Trust depending on the

severity by which the excess spread rate net falls below the
trigger

level

In the event of an early amortization of the Lending Trust the

investor certificates would be required to be repaid over an

approximate four month period based on the estimated

average life of the securitized loans Although the repayment

of the investor certificates is non-recourse to the Company
the Company would need an alternate source of funding for

the lending receivables assets

In the event of an early amortization of the Charge Trust

the underlying investor notes issued by the Charge Trust are

required to be repaid over an approximate one month period

based on the estimated average life of the securitized

receivable

hi

5.00% 4.00%

0% 0%

14.75% 30.77%

10.36% 27.51%

$0 $0

$0 $0

7% 15%
25% 36%

Paydown rate 3month average

Required rate

Actual rate

90
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NOTE

OTHER ASSETS

The following is summary of other assets as of December 31

MilliQn$ 2009 2008

Deferred tax assets net 2979 3470

Goodwill 2328 2301

Restricted cash5 2192 238

Prepaid expenses1 2114 1712

Derivative assets 800 1743

Subordinated accrued interest receivable 719 807

Other intangible assets at amortized cost 717 717

Other 1364 1619

Total $13213 $12607

Refer to Notes 17 and 12 for discussion of deferred tax assets

net and derivative assets respectively as of December 31 2009

and 2008

Includes restricted cash of $1.8 billion as of December 31 2009

which is held for certain asset-backed securitization maturities

that will occur in the first quarter of 2010

Includes prepaid miles and reward points acquired from airline

and other partners of approximately $1.3 billion and $950

million respectively as of December 31 2009 and 2008 Of these

amounts approximately $889 million and $900 million as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively represented miles

purchased from Delta that are generally subject to certain

restrictions and will be expensed as used in the future

GOOIsVlll

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost of an

acquired company over the fair value of assets acquired and

liabilities assumed The Company assigns goodwill to its

reporting units for the purpose of impairment testing

reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or

business one level below an operating segment for which

complete discrete financial information is available that

management regularly reviews The Company evaluates

goodwill for impairment annually as of June 30 and between

annual tests if events occur or circumstances change that

more likely than not reduce the fair value of reporting units

below their carrying amounts The goodwill impairment test

utilizes two-step approach The first step identifies whether

there is potential impairment by comparing the fair value of

reporting unit to the carrying amount including goodwill If

the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying

amount the second step of the impairment test is required to

measure the amount of any impairment loss Goodwill was

not impaired as of December 31 2009 and 2008

Goodwill impairment testing involves management

judgment requiring an assessment of whether the carrying

value of the reporting unit can be supported by the fair value

of the individual reporting unit using widely accepted

valuation techniques such as the market approach earnings

multiples or transaction multiples or income approach

discounted cash flow methods The fair values of the

reporting units were determined using combination of

valuation techniques consistent with the income approach

and the market approach

When preparing discounted cash flow models under the

income approach the Company uses internal forecasts to

estimate future cash flows expected to be generated by the

reporting units Actual results may differ from forecasted

results The Company uses the expected cost of equity

financing estimated using capital asset pricing model to

discount future cash flows for each reporting unit The

Company believes the discount rates used appropriately

reflect the risks and uncertainties in the financial markets

generally and specifically in the Companys internally

developed forecasts Further to assess the reasonableness of

the valuations derived from the discounted cash flow models

the Company also analyzes market based multiples for similar

industries of the reporting unit where available

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill reported in the Companys reportable operating segments were as follows

During 2009 and 2008 there were no accumulated goodwill impairment losses

Corporate

Millions USCS ICS GCS GNMS Other Total

Balance asofJanuary 2008 $175 $519 771 $27 $16 $1508

Acquisitions 828 828

Dispositions

Other including foreign currency translation 10 25 34

Balance as of December 31 2008 $175 $509 1573 $28 $16 $2301

Other including foreign currency translation 24 27

Balance as of December 31 2009 $175 $512 $1597 $28 $16 $2328

Includes approximately $818 million related to the acquisition of General Electric Companys commercial card and corporate purchasing

business
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful

lives of to 22 years The Company reviews intangible assets

for impairment quarterly and whenever events and

circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not

be recoverable In addition on an annual basis the Company

The components of other intangible assets were as follows

performs an impairment evaluation of all intangible assets by

assessing the recoverability of the asset values based on the

cash flows generated by the relevant assets or asset groups
An

impairment is recognized if the carrying amount is not

recoverable and exceeds the assets fair value

Millions 2009 2008

Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Customer relationships 873 $240 $633 $744 $l35 $609

Other 145 61 84 160 52 108

Total $1018 8301 $717 $904 $187 $717

Includes approximately $265 million related to customer intangible payment made in connection with the renegotiated contract with Delta

Air Lines

Amortization expense for the years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $140 million $83 million and $47 million

respectively Intangible assets acquired in 2009 and 2008 are being amortized on average over years and years respectively

Estimated amortization expense for other intangible assets over the next five years is as follows

TIHER

The Company has $168 million and $141 million in

affordable housing partnership interests as of December 31

2009 and 2008 respectively included in other assets in the

table above The Company is limited partner
and typically

has less than 50 percent interest in the affordable housing

partnerships These partnership interests are accounted for in

accordance with GAAP governing equity method investments

and joint ventures

Millions
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Estisnatedamortizationexpense
$141 $125 $115 $105 $81
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NOTE

CUSTOMER
As of December 31 customer deposits were categorized as

interestbearing or now interestbearing deposits as follows

Millions 2009 2008

U.S

Interest-bearing $25579 $14377

Non-interest-bearing 13 18

Non-U.S

Interest-bearing 680 1072

Non-interest-bearing 17 19

Total customer deposits $26289 $15486

The customer deposits are aggregated by deposit type offered

by the Company as of December 31 as follows

Millions 2009 2008

U.S retail deposits

Cash sweep and savings accounts $10498 7247

Certificates of deposit 15081 6258

Institutional and other deposits 710 1981

Total customer deposits $26289 $15486

The scheduled maturities of all certificates of deposit as of

December 31 2009 are as follows

Millions U.S Non-U.S Total

2010 4854 $394 5248

2011 4993 4994

2012 2146 2146

2013 1715 1715

2014 986 986

After years 387 387

Total $15081 $395 $15476

As of December 31 certificates of deposit in denominations of

$100000 or more were as follows

Millions 2009 2008

U.S $196 894

Non-U.S 153

Total $196 $1047
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The Companys short-term borrowings outstanding defined as borrowings with original maturities of less than one year were as

follows as of December 31

Millions except percenta ges 2009 2008

Year-End Year-End

Year-End Effective Year-End Effective

Stated Interest Stated Interest

Outstanding Rate on Rate with Outstanding Rate on Rate with

Balance Debt Swapsb Balance Debt Swaps

Commercial paper 975 0.19% $/272 2.20%

Federal funds purchased 470 130%

Othershorttermborrowingsd 1369 0.85% 0.85% 1251 1.90% 1.88%

Total $2344 0.57% $8993 2.11%

For floating rate debt issuances the stated and effective interest rates are based on the floating rates in effect as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively These rates may not be indicative of future interest rates

Effective interest rates are only presented if
swaps are in place to hedge the underlying debt

December 31 2008 balance includes $4.5 billion of commercial paper purchased by the Federal Reserve Banks Special Purpose Vehicle

SPV through the Commercial Paper Funding Facility CPFF As of December 31 2009 no commercial paper purchased by the SPV was

outstanding

Includes interest-bearing overdrafts with banks of $277 million and $382 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively In

addition balances include interest bearing amounts due to merchants in accordance with merchant service agreements as well as other

short-term borrowings
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LDNGTERM lEWI

The Companys long-term debt outstanding defmed as debt with original maturities of one year or greater as of December 31

was as follows

Millions except percentages
2009 2008

Year-End Year-End

Year-End Effective Year-End Effective

Stated Interest Stated Interest

Maturity Outstanding Rate on Rate with Outstanding Rate on Rate with

Dates Balancea Debt Swapsc0 Balancecal Debtib Swaps1

American Express Company

Parent Company only

Fixed Rate Senior Notes 20112038 9493 6.83% 6.01% 7177 6.29% 5.53%

Floating Rate Senior Notes 3.75%

Subordinated DehenturesU 2036 750 6.80% 750 6.80%

American Express Travel Related Services

Company Inc

Fixed Rate Senior Notes 2011 700 5.25% 1500 4.76/a

Floating Rate Senior Notes 2011 500 0.44% 5.63% 500 2.10% 563%

American Express Credit Corporation

Fixed Rate Senior Notes 20102015 11478 5.58% 3.26% 9683 5.60% 3.64%

Floating Rate Senior Notes 20102013 4761 1.30% 7807 1.77% 2.85%

Borrowings under Bank Credit Facilities 2012 3232 4.23% 4.52% 2506 4.56% 4.88%

American Express Centurion Bank

FixedRateSeniorNotes 20102017 2726 5.69% 2.86% 3287 5.48% 2.59%

FloatingRateSeniorNotes 20102012 1975 0.31% 6300 1.15% 1.44%

American Express Bank FSB

Fixed Rate Senior Notes 20112017 7137 4.40% 2.70% 7182 4.40% 2.82%

Floating Rate Senior Notes 20102017 4502 0.80% 1.22% 8220 1.59% 1.98%

American Express Receivables

Financing Corporation LLC

FixedRateSeniorNotes 2010 1000 4.02% 1000 4.02%

Floating Rate Senior Notes 20102012 3826 0.57% 3826 1.69%

Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 20102012 144 0.67% 144 1.63%

Other

Fixed Rate Instrument 20102014 114 4.98% 154 6.79%

Total $52338 4.11% $60041 3.63%

The outstanding balances reflect the impact of fair value hedge accounting whereby certain fixed rate notes have been swapped to floating

rate through the use of interest rate swaps
and are marked to market as are the associated swaps which are reported as derivative assets or

liabilities In 2009 and 2008 the impact on long-term debt due to fair value hedge accounting was $0.6 billion and $1.0 billion respectively

Refer to Note 12 for more details on the Companys treatment of fair value hedges

For floating rate debt issuances the stated and effective interest rates are based on the
floating rates in effect as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively These rates may not be indicative of future interest rates

Effective interest rates are only presented when swaps are in place to hedge the underlying debt

The maturity date will automatically be extended to September 2066 except in the case of either prior redemption or ii default

See further discussion below

Includes $87 million and $89 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively related to sale-leaseback transaction completed in

2004
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As of December 31 2009 the Parent Coippany had $750

million principal outstanding of Subordinated Debentures

that accrue interest at an annual rate of 6.80 percent until

September 2016 and at an annual rate of three-month

LIBOR plus 2.23 percent thereafter At the Companys option

the Subordinated Debentures are redeemable for cash after

September 2016 at 100 percent of the principal amount

plus any accrued but unpaid interest If the Company fails to

achieve specified performance measures it will be required to

issue its common shares and apply the net proceeds to make

interest payments on the Subordinated Debentures No

dividends on the Companys common or preferred shares

could be paid until such interest payments are made The

Company would fail to meet these specific performance

measures if the Companys tangible common equity is less

than percent of total adjusted assets for the most recent

quarter or ii if the trailing two quarters consolidated net

income is equal to or less than zero and tangible common

equity as of the trigger determination date and as of the end

of the quarter end six months prior has in each case declined

by 10 percent or more from the tangible common equity as of

the end of the quarter 18 months prior to the trigger

determination date The Company met the specified

performance measures in 2009

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company was not

in violation of any of its debt covenants

Aggregate annual maturities on long-term debt obligations based on final maturity dates were as follows as of December 31

2009

Mi11ion 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total

American Express Company Parent Company only 399 998 $1248 7598 $10243

American Express Travel Related Services Company Inc 1200 1200

American Express Credit Corporation 3506 2032 4792 5138 3488 515 19471

American Express Centurion Bank 2143 1212 1346 4701

American Express Bank FSB 1752 5170 1612 1807 1298 11639

American Express Receivables Financing Corporation LLC 3410 1560 4970

Other 18 87 114

Total $10829 $8810 $9176 $7943 $4823 $10757 $52338

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company maintained

total bank lines of credit of $12.2 billion and $11.2 billion

respectively Of the total credit lines $9.0 billion and $8.7

billion were unutilized and for the years ended December 31

2009 and 2008 respectively the Company paid $6.8 million

and $6.0 million in fees to maintain these lines $8.2 billion

and $7.9 billion of these unutilized amounts supported

commercial paper borrowings as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively

The availability of these credit lines is subject to the

Companys compliance with certain financial covenants

including the maintenance by the Company of consolidated

tangible net worth of at least $4.1 billion the maintenance by

American Express Credit Corporation Credco of 1.25 ratio

of combined earnings and fixed charges to fixed charges and

the compliance by American Express Centurion Bank

Centurion Bank and American Express Bank FSB FSB
with applicable regulatory capital adequacy guidelines As of

December 31 2009 the Companys consolidated tangible net

worth was approximately $11.6 billion Credcos ratio of

combined earnings and fixed charges to fixed charges was 1.59

and Centurion Bank and FSB each exceeded their regulatory

capital adequacy guidelines

The committed bank credit facilities do not contain

material adverse change clauses and the facilities may not be

terminated should there be change in the Companys credit

rating

The Company paid total interest primarily related to

short- and long-term debt corresponding interest rate swaps

and customer deposits of $2.3 billion $3.5 billion and $3.7

billion in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
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NOTE II

OTHER LIABILITIES

The following is summary of other

December 31

liabilities as of

Millions 2009 2008

Membership Rewards liabilities 4303 4643

Employee-related Iiabilities 1877 2026

Rebate accrual 1309 1255

Deferred charge card fees net 1034 1041

Other 5287 5627

Total $13810 $14592

Employeerelated liabilities include employee benefit plan

obligations and incentive compensation

Rebate accruals include payments to third-party card issuing

partners and cash-back reward costs

Other includes accruals for general operating expenses

advertising and promotion derivatives restructuring and

reengineering reserves and minority interest in subsidiaries

Membership Rewirds

The Membership Rewards program allows enrolled

cardmembers to earn points that can be redeemed for broad

range
of rewards including travel entertainment retail

certificates and merchandise The Company establishes

balance sheet liabilities which represent the estimated cost of

points earned to date that are ultimately expected to be

redeemed These liabilities reflect managements best estimate

of future redemption costs An ultimate redemption rate and

weighted average cost per point are key factors used to

approximate the Membership Reward liability Management

uses models to estimate ultimate redemption rates based on

historical redemption data card product type year of

program enrollment enrollment tenure and card spend levels

The weighted-average cost per point is determined using

actual redemptions during the previous 12 months adjusted

as appropriate for recent changes in redemption costs

The provision for the cost of Membership Rewards points

is included in marketing promotion rewards and

cardmember services The Company continually evaluates its

reserve methodology and assumptions based on

developments in redemption patterns cost per point

redeemed contract changes and other factors

DEFERRED CHARGE AR FEES

The carrying amount of deferred charge card and other fees

net of direct acquisition costs and reserves for membership

cancellations as of December 31 were as follows

Millions 2009 2008

Deferred charge card and other fees $1213 $1233

Deferred direct acquisition costs 60 78

Reserves for membership cancellations 119 114

Deferred charge card fees and other net of direct

acquisition costs and reserves $1034 $1041

Includes deferred fees for Membership Reward program

participants
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IFR1VA1 IVS AN IFIXilNG
ACTIVITIES

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to

manage exposure to various market risks Market risk is the

risk to earnings or value resulting from movements in market

prices The Companys market risk exposure is primarily

generated by

Interest rate risk in its card and insurance and travelers

cheque businesses and its investment portfolios and

Foreign exchange risk in its international operations

General principles and the overall framework for managing

market risk across the Company are defmed in the Market

Risk Policy which is the responsibility of the Asset-Liability

Committee ALCO Market risk limits and escalation triggers

in that policy are approved by the ALCO and by the

Enterprise-wide Risk Management Comiuittee ERMC
Market risk is centrally managed by the Market Risk

Committee which reports into the ALCO and is chaired by

the Chief Market Risk Officer of the Company Market risk

management is also guided by policies covering the use of

derivative financial instruments funding and liquidity and

investments Derivative financial instruments derive their

value from an underlying variable or miltiple variables

including interest rate foreign exchange arid equity indices

or prices These instruments enable end users to increase

reduce or alter exposure to various market risks and for that

reason are an integral component of the Companys market

risk management

The Companys market exposures are in large part

by-products of the delivery of its products and services

Interest rate risk arises through the funding of cardmember

receivables and fixed-rate loans with variable-rate borrowings

as well as through the risk to net interest margin from changes

in the relationship between benchmark rates such as Prime

and LIBOR

Interest rate exposure within the Companys charge card

and fixed-rate lending products is managed by varying the

proportion of total funding provided by short-term and

variable-rate debt and deposits compared to fixed-rate debt

and deposits In addition interest rate swaps are used from

time to time to effectively convert fixed-rate debt to variable-

rate or to convert variable-rate debt to fixed rate The

Company may change the mix between variable-rate and

fixed-rate funding based on changes in business volumes and

mix among other factors lhe majority of its cardmember

loans which are linked to benchmark rate such as Prime

that can reprice monthly are funded with variable-rate

funding the majority of which are linked to LIBOR

Foreign exchange risk is generated by cardmember cross

currency charges foreign currency balance sheet exposures

translation of foreign subsidiary equity and foreign currency

earnings in international units The Companys foreign

exchange risk is managed primarily by entering into

agreements to buy and sell currencies on spot basis or by

hedging this market exposure to the extent it is economically

justified through various means including the use of

derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange

forward options and cross-currency swap contracts which

can help lock in the value of the Companys exposure to

specific currencies The Company does not engage in

derivative financial instruments for trading purposes

Derivative financial instruments may contain counterparty

credit risk The Company manages this risk by considering

the current exposure which is the replacement cost of

contracts on the measurement date as well as estimating the

maximum potential value of the contracts over the next 12

months considering such factors as the volatility of the

underlying or reference index To mitigate derivative credit

risk counterparties are required to be pre-approved and rated

as investment grade Counterparty risk exposures are

monitored by the Companys Institutional Risk Management

Committee IRMC The IRMC formally reviews large

institutional exposures to ensure compliance with the

Companys ERMC guidelines and procedures and determines

the risk mitigation actions when necessary Additionally to

mitigate counterparty credit risk the Company may on

occasion enter into master netting agreements

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the counterparty

credit risk associated with the Companys derivative financial

instruments was not significant In relation to the Companys

credit risk under the terms of its derivative financial

instruments the Company is not required to either

immediately settle any outstanding liability balances or post

collateral upon the occurrence of specified credit risk

related event



The Companys derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets The accounting for

changes in fair value depends on the instruments intended use and the resulting hedge designation if any as discussed below

Refer to Note for description of the Companys methodology for determining the fair value of its derivative financial

instruments The following table summarizes the total gross fair value excluding interest accruals of derivative product assets

and liabilities as of December 31

Net investment hedges

Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments

132 535 130 165

$765 $1607 $180 $290

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Interest rate contracts

Foreign exchange contracts11

Equity-linked contractlb

Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

Total derivatives0

As of December 31 2009 foreign exchange contracts also include foreign currency derivatives embedded in certain operating agreements

Represents an equity-linked derivative embedded in one of the Companys investment securities

GAAP permits the netting of derivative assets and derivative liabilities when legally enforceable master netting agreement exists between the

Company and its derivative counterparty As of December 31 2009 and 2008 $33 million and $39 million respectively of derivative assets

and liabilities have been offset and presented net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

1ERlVAIlVL FINANCIAl INS RUMFNTS THAT

QuAllF FOR l1EIGlACOUNiiNG

Derivative financial instruments executed for hedge

accounting purposes are documented and designated as such

wheti the Company enters into the contracts In accordance

with its risk management policies the Company structures its

hedges with very similar terms to the hedged items The

Company formally assesses at inception of the hedge

accounting relationship and on quarterly basis whether

derivatives designated as hedges are highly effective in

offsetting the fair value or cash flows of hedged items These

assessments usually are made through the application of the

regression analysis method If it is determined that

derivative is not highly effective as hedge the Company will

discontinue the application of hedge accounting

FAIR VALUE HFDGES

fair value hedge involves derivative designated to hedge

the Companys exposure to future changes in the fair value of

an asset or liability or an identified portion thereof that is

attributable to particular risk The Company is exposed to

interest rate risk associated with its fixed-rate long-term debt

The Company uses interest rate swaps to convert certain

fixed-rate long-term debt to floating-rate at the time of

issuance As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company

hedged $15.1 billion and $12.4 billion respectively of its

fixed-rate debt to floating-rate debt using interest rate swaps

To the extent the fair value hedge is effective the gain or

loss on the hedging instrument offsets the loss or gain on the

hedged item attributable to the hedged risk Any difference

between the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the

hedged item is referred to as hedge ineffectiveness and is

recorded in earnings as component of other net expenses

Hedge ineffectiveness may be caused by differences between

the debts interest coupon and the benchmark rate which is

in turn primarily due to credit spreads at inception of the

hedging relationship that are not reflected in the valuation of

the interest rate swap Furthermore hedge ineffectiveness

may be caused by changes in the relationship between

3-month LIBOR and 1-month LIBOR rates as these so-called

basis spreads may impact the valuation of the interest rate

swap without causing an offsetting impact in the value of the

hedged debt If fair value hedge is dc-designated or no

longer considered to be effective changes in fair value of the

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Millions

Other assets Other liabilities

Fair Value Fair Value

2009 2008 2009 2008

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Interest rate contracts

Fairvaluehedges $632 $1072

Cash flow hedges 44 125

1oreign exchange contracts

$11 520

57 166 95 173

68 175 103 193

$833 $1782 $283 $483
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derivative continue to be recorded through earnings but the

hedged asset or liability is no longer adjusted for changes in

fair value The existing basis adjustment of the hedged asset or

TASI FIOvV NlTDGI.S

cash flow hedge involves derivative financial instrument

designated to hedge the Companys exposure to variable

future cash flows attributable to particular risk of an existing

recognized asset or liability or forecasted transaction The

Company hedges existing long-term variable-rate debt the

rollover of short-term borrowings and the anticipated

forecasted issuance of additional funding thtough the use of

derivative financial instruments primarily inerest rate swaps

These instruments effectively convert floating-rate debt to

fixed-rate debt for the duration of the swap As of

December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company hedged $1.6

billion and $4.7 billion respectively of its floating debt using

interest rate swaps

For derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges the

effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivatives are

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss income

and reclassified into earnings when the hedged cash flows are

recognized in earnings The amount that is reclassified into

earnings is presented in the Consolidated Statements of

Income with the hedged instrument or transaction impact

primarily in interest expense Any ineffective portion of the

gain or loss on the derivatives is reported as component of

other net expenses If cash flow hedge is de-designated or

terminated prior to maturity the amount previously recorded

in accumulated other comprehensive loss income is

recognized into earnings over the period that the hedged item

liability
is then amortized or accreted as an adjustment to

yield over the remaining life of that asset or liability

impacts earnings If hedge relationship is discontinued

because it is probable that the forecasted transaction will not

occur according to the original strategy any related amounts

previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive

loss income are recognized into earnings immediately

In the normal course of business as the hedged cash flows

are recognized into earnings the Company expects to

reclassify $32 million of net pretax losses on derivative

instruments from accumulated other comprehensive loss

income into earnings during the next 12 months

EF IN\IISl 1F I1hiF5

net investment hedge is used to hedge future changes in

currency exposure of net investment in foreign operation

The Company primarily designates foreign currency

derivatives typically foreign exchange forwards and on

occasion foreign currency denominated debt as hedges of net

investments in certain foreign operations These instruments

reduce exposure to changes in currency exchange rates on the

Companys investments in non-U.S subsidiaries The

effective portion of the gain or loss on net investment hedges

are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss

income as part of the cumulative translation adjustment Any

ineffective portion of the gain or loss on net investment

hedges is recognized in other net expenses during the period

of change

The following table summarizes the impact on the Consolidated Financial Statenients of fair value hedges associated with the

Companys fixed-rate long-term debt described above for the years ended December 31

Stitrneot of Income

Derivative contract loss gain Hedged item gain loss

Amount Amount Ineffective net

Millions recognized recognized losses gains

Derivative relationship Location 2009 2008 Location 2009 2008 2009 2008

Interest rate contracts Other net expenses $446 $967 Other net expenses $437 $898 $9 $69
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DERIVATIVIS NOl lESIGN\1 LI AS HEDGES

The Company has derivative financial instruments that act as

economic hedges and are not designated for hedge accounting

purposes Foreign currency transactions and non-U.S dollar

cash flow exposures from time to time may be partially or

fully economically hedged through foreign currency

contracts primarily foreign exchange forwards options and

cross-currency swaps These hedges generally mature within

one year Foreign currency contracts involve the purchase and

sale of designated currency at an agreed upon rate for

settlement on specified date The changes in the fair value of

the derivatives effectively offset the related foreign exchange

gains or losses on the underlying balance sheet exposures

From time to time the Company may enter into interest rate

swaps to specifically manage funding costs related to its

proprietary card business

The Company has certain operating agreements whose

payments may he linked to market rate or price primarily

foreign currency rates The payment components of these

agreements may meet the definition of an embedded

derivative which is assessed to determine if it requires

separate accounting and reporting If so the embedded

derivative is accounted for separately and is classified as

foreign exchange contract based on its primary risk exposure

In addition the Company also holds an investment security

containing an embedded equity-linked derivative

For derivative financial instruments that are not

designated as hedges changes in fair value are reported in

current period earnings

The following table summarizes the impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements of cash flow hedges and net investment

hedges for the years ended December 31

Derivative impact on statement of Derivative ineffectiveness

income loss gain loss gain

Location Amount Location

Reclassified from Reclassified from Reclassified from

Millions OCT into Income OCT into Income OCT into Income Amount

Derivative relationship 2009 2008 2009 2008

Cash flow hedges1N

Interest rate contracts Interest expense $115 $247 Other net expenses

Net investment hedges

Foreign exchange contracts Other net expenses Other net expenses

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 there was no impact on the Consolidated Statements of Income due to forecasted transactions no longer

probable to occur

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivatives is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss income OCI and is

presented in Note iS

The following table summarizes the impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements of derivative financial instruments not

designated as hedges for the years ended December 31

Mdlio1s
Income Statement classification of gain loss on

Amount recognized

Derivative relationship derivatives not designated as hedges 2009 2008

Derivatives not designated as hedges

Interest rate contracts Other net expenses $17 533

Foreign exchange contracts Other non interest revenues

Interest and dividends on investment securities 13

Interest expense on short-term borrowings

Interest expense on long-term debt and other 35 22

Other net expenses 38

Equity-linked contract Other non-interest revenues

Total $56 $43

For the period ended December 31 2009 foreign exchange contracts include embedded foreign currency derivatives Gains Losses on

embedded derivatives are included in other net expenses
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III

UARANTEES

The Company provides cardmember protection plans that

cover losses associated with purchased products as well as

certain other guarantees in the ordinary course of business

which are within the scope of GAAP governing the

accounting for guarantees For the Company guarantees

primarily consist of card and travel protection programs

including

Credit Card Registry cancels and requests replacement

of lost or stolen cards and provides for fraud
liability

coverage

Return Protection refunds the price of eligible purchases

made with the card where the merchant will not accept the

return for up to 90 days from the date of purchase

Account Protection provides account protection in the

event that cardmember is unable to make payments on

the account due to unforeseen hardship and

Merchant Protection protects cardmembers primarily

against non-delivery of goods and services usually in the

event of bankruptcy or liquidation of merchant In the

event that dispute is resolved in the carçlmembers favor

the Company will credit the cardmember account for the

amount of the purchase and will seek
recovery from the

merchant If the Company is unable to collect the amount

from the merchant it will bear the loss for the amount

credited to the cardmember The Company mitigates this

risk by withholding settlement from
14ie

merchant or

obtaining deposits and other guarantees from merchants

considered higher risk due to various factors The amounts

being held by the Company are not significant when

compared to the maximum potential amount of future

payments under this guarantee

In relation to its maximum amount of undiscounted future

payments as seen in the table that follows to date the

Company has not experienced any significant losses related to

guarantees The Companys initial recognition of guarantees

is at fair value which has been determined in accordance with

GA.AP governing fair value measurement In addition the

Company establishes reserves when an unfavorable outcome

is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated

The following table provides information related to such

guarantees as of December

Maximum amount

of undiscounted Amount of related

future payments liabiityb

Billions Millions

Type of Guarantee 2009 2008 2009 2008

Card and travel operationsc 66 69 112 99

Other 74 93

Total 67 70 186 192

Represents the notional amounts that could be lost under the

guarantees and indemnifications if there were total default by

the guaranteed parties The Merchant Protection guarantee is

calculated using managements best estimate of maximum

exposure based on all eligible claims as measured against annual

billed business volumes

Included as part of other liabilities on the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Includes Credit Card Registry Return Protection Account

Protection and Merchant Protection which the Company offers

directly to cardmembers

Other primarily includes guarantees related to the Companys

business dispositions real estate and tax as well as contingent

consideration obligations each of which are individually smaller

indemnifications

Refer to Note 26 for discussion of additional guarantees of

the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008
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NOTE 14

COMMON AND PREFERRED
SHARES ANI WARRANTS
As of December 31 2009 the Company has 100 million

common shares remaining under share repurchase

authorizations Such authorizations do not have an expiration

date and at present there is no intention to modify or

otherwise rescind the current authorizations

Common shares are generally retired by the Company

upon repurchase except for 5.0 million 0.4 million and

0.5 million shares held as treasury shares at December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively retired common shares

and treasury shares are excluded from the shares outstanding

in the table below The Treasury shares with cost basis of

$235 million $21 million and $29 million as of December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively are included as reduction

to additional paid-in capital in shareholders equity on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets

The following table shows authorized shares and provides

reconciliation of common shares issued and outstanding

Millions except
where indicated 2009 2008 2007

Common shares authorized billions 3.6 3.6 3.6

Shares issued and outstanding at beginning

ofyear 1160 1158 1199

Issuances Repurchases of common shares 22 60

Other primarily stock option exercises and

RSAs granted 10 19

Shares issued and outstanding as of

December 31 1192 1160 1158

Of the common shares authorized but unissued as of

December 31 2009 approximately 124 million shares were

reserved for issuance under employee stock and employee benefit

plans

The Board of Directors is authorized to permit the Company

to issue up to 20 million preferred shares at par
value of

$1.66 2/3 without further shareholder approval

On January 2009 under the United States Department

of the Treasury Treasury Department Capital Purchase

Program CPP the Company issued to the Treasury

Department as consideration for aggregate proceeds of

$3.39 billion 3.39 million shares of Fixed Rate

percent Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Shares Series

the Preferred Shares and ten-year warrant

the Warrant for the Treasury Department to purchase up to

24 million common shares at an exercise price of $20.95 per

share Upon issuance $3.16 billion of the proceeds were

allocated to the Preferred Shares and $232 million of the

proceeds were allocated to the Warrant based on their relative

fair values at the date of issuance

As pre-condition of the repurchase of the Preferred

Shares the Treasury Department and the Companys Banking

Regulator required that the Company raise capital in the

public markets As result the Company issued $3.0 billion

of non-guaranteed senior debt on May 18 2009 and

approximately 22 million common shares at $25.25 per share

in June 2009

On June 17 2009 the Company repurchased the Preferred

Shares at their face value of $3.39 billion Because the

$3.39 billion cash paid exceeded the $3.18 billion amortized

carrying amount of the Preferred Shares the $212 million

excess represented an in-substance Preferred Share dividend

that reduced earnings per
share EPS attributable to

common shareholders by $0.18 for the year ended

December 31 2009 Refer to Note 18

On July 29 2009 the Company repurchased the Warrant

for $340 million The Warrant repurchase resulted in

reductions of cash retained earnings and additional

paid incapitaJ on the Companys Consolidated Balance

Sheet The Warrant repurchase had no impact on the

Consolidated Income Statement and EPS for the year ended

December 31 2009 There were no preferred shares or

warrants issued and outstanding as of December 31 2009
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NOTF

CHANGES IN ACCUMUI ATFD FHFR COMPREHFNSIVF OSS
INCOME

Accumulated other comprehensive loss iicome OCI is balance sheet item in the Shareholders Equity section of the

Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets It is comprised of items that have not been recognized in earnings but may be

recognized in earnings in the future when certain events occur Changes in each component of OCI for the three years ended

December 31 were as follows

Net

Net Net Unrealized

Unrealized Unrealized Foreign Pension Accumulated

Gains Losses Gains Losses Currency and Other Other

on Investment on Translation Postretirement Comprehensive

Millions net of tax Securities Derivatives Adjustments Benefit Costs Loss Income

BalancesasofDecember3l2006 92 27 222 $417 520

Net unrealized gains losses 80 68 148

Reclassification for realized gains losses into earnings 30 32
Other lossess 47 47

Foreign currency translation adjustments 347 347

Net losses related to hedges of investment in foreign

operations 380 380

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs 285 285

Discontinued operations 52
_____________

53

Net change in accumulated other comprehensive

loss income 80 98 33 289 78

BalancesasofDecember3l2007 12 71 255 128 442

Net unrealized gains losses 718 170 888

Reclassification for realized gains losses into earnings 161 153

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1102 1102

Net gains related to hedges of investment in foreign

operations 961 961

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs 329 329

Discontinued operations 15
_____________

28 41

Net change in accumulated other comprehensive

loss income 711 113 331 1164
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Net

Net Net Unrealized

Unrealized Unrealized Foreign Pension Accumulated

Gains Losses Gains Losses Currency and Other Other

on Investment on Translation Postretirement Comprehensive

Millions net of tax1 Securities Derivatives Adjustments Benefit Costs Loss Income

BalancesasofDecember3l2008 699 80 368 459 1606

Net unrealized gains losses 1351 22 1329

Reclassification for realized gains losses into earnings 145 74 71

Foreign currency translation adjustmenWd 523 523

Net losses related to hedges of investment in foreign

operations 877 877

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs
____________

10 10

Net change in accumulated other comprehensive

loss income 1206 52 354 10 894

BalancesasofDecember3l2009 507 $28 $722 $469 712

The following table shows the tax impact for the three years ended December 31 for the changes in each component of accumulated other

comprehensive loss income

Millio 2009 2008 2007

Investment securities $749 5472 84

Derivatives 29 56

Foreign currency translation adjustments 33 66 17

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs 28 159 152

Discontinued operations11 16 29

Total tax impact $783 5685 58

In connection with the Companys adoption of hybrid financial instrument accounting requirements as of January 2007 the Company

recognized gain of $80 million $50 million after-tax related to the fair value of the interest-only strip which was recorded in other

comprehensive loss income in previous periods Changes in the fair value of the interestonly strip subsequent to the adoption of this

standard are reflected in securitization income net

Relates to the change in accumulated other comprehensive loss income prior to the dispositions of AEB and AEIDC

dl Includes $190 million other comprehensive loss recorded in the third quarter of 2009 representing the correction of an error related to the

accounting in prior periods for cumulative translation adjustments associated with net investment in foreign subsidiaries Refer to Note 19

for further details

705



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMERtCAN EXPRSSS OMPANY

N11E 16

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During 2009 the Company recorded $185 million of

restructuring charges net of adjustments of previously accrued

amounts due to revisions of prior estimates The 2009 activity

primarily relates to the $199 million of restructuring charges

the Company recorded in the second quarter to further reduce

its operating costs by downsizing and reorganizing certain

operations These restructuring activities were for the

elimination of approximately 4000 positions or about

percent of the Companys total worldwide workforce and

occurred across all business units markets and staff groups

Additional restructuring charges of $38 million taken in the

third and fourth quarters of 2009 relate principally to the

reorganization of certain senior leadership positions as well as

the exit of business in the Global Network Merchant

Services GNMS segment The Company also recorded

adjustments of $52 million during 2009 that primarily relate

to revisions of prior estimates for higher employee

redeployments to other positions within the Company
business changes and modifications to existing initiatives

These modifications do not constitute significant change in

the original restructuring plan from an overall Company

perspective

During 2008 the Company recorded restructuring charges

of $434 million net of adjustments of previously accrued

2007

amounts due to revisions of prior estimates While the

Companys restructuring activity in the first and third

quarters of 2008 primarily related to exiting certain

international banking businesses the Company recorded

$410 million of restructuring charges in the fourth quarter of

2008 in order to further reduce the Companys cost structure

This restructuring was for the elimination of approximately

7000 positions or approximately 10 percent of its total

worldwide workforce These reductions primarily occurred

across business units markets and staff groups focusing on

management and other positions that do not interact directly

with customers and related to reorganizing or automating

certain internal
processes outsourcing certain operations to

third parties and discontinuing or relocating business

activities to other locations During 2007 the Company

recorded restructuring charges of $49 million net of

adjustments of previously accrued amounts due to revisions

of prior estimates primarily related to the reorganizations

within the Companys business travel operations finance

and technology areas

Restructuring charges related to severance obligations are

included in salaries and employee benefits and discontinued

operations in the Companys Consolidated Statements of

Income while charges pertaining to other exit costs are

included in occupancy and equipment professional services

other net expenses and discontinued operations

Otherbl

$4
34 15

61

60

366 68

63 13

365 62

161 24

287 45

Total

93

49

67

69

434

76

427

185

332

Accounted for in accordance with the GAAP governing the accounting for nonretirement postemployment benefits and for costs associated

with exit or disposal activities

Other primarily includes facility exit asset impairment and contract termination costs

Adjustments primarily relate to higher than anticipated redeployments of displaced employees to other positions within the Company

Includes $17 million related to discontinued operations

Adjustments of $52 million were recorded in the Companys reportable operating segments as follows $6 million in USCS $28 million in

ICS $15 million in GCS $3 million in GNMS and $30 million in Corporate Other These adjustments primarily relate to higher

employee redeployments to other positions within the Company business changes and modifications to existing initiatives

Consists primarily of foreign exchange impacts offset by asset impairments directly related to restructuring activity

The following table summarizes the Companys restructuring reserves activity for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

Severance

89

Millions

Liability balance as of December 31 2006

Restructuring charges net of $17 in adjustments

Payments

Other non-cash

Liability balance as of December 31 2007

Restructuring charges net of $10 in adjustmentscd

Payments

Other non-cash

Liability balance as of December 31 2008

Restructuring charges net of $52 in adjustments

Payments

Other non-cashifi

Liability balance as of December 31 2009s

14

$253 $32 $285
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The majority of cash payments related to the remaining restructuring liabilities are expected to be completed in 2010 with the exception of

certain smaller amounts related to contractual long-term severance arrangements which are expected to be completed in 2012 and certain

lease obligations which will continue until their expiration in 2018

The following table summarizes the Companys restructuring charges net of adjustments by reportable segment for the year

ended December 31 2009 and the cumulative amounts relating to the restructuring programs that were in
progress during 2009

and initiated at various dates between 2006 and 2009

Cumulative Restructuring Expense Incurred to Date on

2009 in-Progress Restructuring Programs

Total Restructuring

Charges net of

Millions adjustments Severance Other Total

USCS $12 $64 $6 $70

ICS 86 91

GCS 99 228 30 258

GNMS 21 51 59

Corporate Other 44 160 48 208

Total $185 $589 $97 $68611

The Corporate Other segment includes certain 2009 and 2008 severance and other charges of $6 million and $133 million respectively

related to Company-wide support functions which were not allocated to the Companys operating segments as these were corporate

initiatives and are consistent with how such charges were reported internally

As of December 31 2009 the total expenses to be incurred for previously approved restructuring activities that were in progress are not

expected to be materially different than the cumulative expenses incurred to date for these programs
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NOTE 17

INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense included in the

Consolidated Statements of Income were as follows

U.S state and local

NonU.S

Total deferred income tax benefit

40 28 246

295 352 408

996 1059 2285

231 150 496

24 84 22

85 115 199

292 349 717

Total income tax expense on continuing

operations 704 710 $1568

Income tax expense benefit from

discontinued operations 12 49

reconciliation of the U.S federal statutory rate of 35 percent

to the Companys actual income tax rate for the
years

ended

December 31 on continuing operations was as follows

Combined tax at U.S statutory federal

income tax rate

Increase Decrease in taxes resulting from

Tax-exempt income

State and local income taxes net of

federal benefit

Non-U.S subsidiaries earnings

Tax settlernent

All other

The Company records deferred income tax benefit

provision when there are differences between assets and

liabilities measured for financial reporting and for income tax

return purposes These temporary differences result in taxable

or deductible amounts in future years and are measured using

the tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such

differences are expected to reverse The significant

components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of

December 31 are reflected in the following table

Millions

Deferred tax assets

Reserves not yet deducted for tax purposes $3495 $3559

Employee compensation and benefits 717 680

Net unrealized securities losses 458

_________________________________ 114 246

Gross deferred tax assets 4326 4943

Valuation allowance

Deferred tax assets after valuation allowance

valuation allowance is established when management

determines that it is more likely than not that all or some

portion of the benefit of the deferred tax assets will not be

realized The valuation allowances as of December 31 2009

and 2008 are associated with non-U.S operations and relate

to all of the Companys net operating losses and other

deferred tax assets

Accumulated earnings of certain non-U.S subsidiaries

which totaled approximately $6.6 billion as of December 31

2009 are intended to be permanently reinvested outside the

United States The Company does not provide for federal

income taxes on foreign earnings intended to be permanently

reinvested outside the United States Accordingly federal

taxes which would have aggregated approximately

$1.8 billion as of December 31 2009 have not been provided

on those earnings

Net income taxes paid by the Company including

amounts related to discontinued operations during 2009

2008 and 2007 were approximately $0.4 billion $2.0 billion

and $1.8 billion respectively These amounts include

estimated tax payments and cash settlements relating to prior

tax years

Millions 2009 2008

Current income tax expense benefit

US federal 661 735 $1631

2007

U.S state and local

Non-U.S

Total current income tax expense

Deferred income tax benefit expense

U.S federal

2009 2008

Other

60 69

4266 4874

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangibles and fixed assets 744 713

Deferred revenue 49 531

Asset securitizations 70 84

Net unrealized securities gains 291

Other 133 76

___________________________
1287 1404

$2979 $3470

2009 2008 2007
Gross deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets

35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

4.6 3.9 2.8

2.7 1.6 2.6

6.8 8.4 5.0

1.4 5.5 2.2

24.8% 19.8% 27.5%Actual tax rates

Relates to the resolution of tax matters in various jurisdictions
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The Company its wholly-owned U.S subsidiaries and

certain non-U.S subsidiaries file consolidated federal

income tax return The Company is subject to the income tax

laws of the United States its states and municipalities and

those of the foreign jurisdictions in which the Company

operates These tax laws are complex and the manner in

which they apply to the taxpayers facts is sometimes open to

interpretation Given these inherent complexities the

Company must make judgments in assessing the likelihood

that tax position will be sustained upon examination by the

taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the tax

position tax position is recognized only when based on

managements judgment regarding the application of income

tax laws it is more likely than not that the tax position will be

sustained upon examination The amount of benefit

recognized for financial reporting purposes
is based on

managements best judgment of the most likely outcome

resulting from examination given the facts circumstances and

information available at the reporting date The Company

adjusts the level of unrecognized tax benefits when there is

new information availahk to assess the likelihood of the

outcome

The Company is under continuous examination by the

Internal Revenue Service IRS and tax authorities in other

countries and states itt which the Company has significant

business operations The tax years under examination and

open for examination vary by jurisdiction In June 2008 the

IRS completed its field examination of the Companys federal

tax returns for the years 1997 through 2002 In July 2009 the

IRS completed its field examination of the Companys federal

tax returns for the
years 2003 and 2004 However all of these

years continue to remain open as consequence of certain

issues under appeal The Company is currently under

examination by the IRS for the
years

2005 through 2007

The following table presents changes in the unrecognized tax

benefits

Current year tax positions

Tax positions related to prior years

Effects of foreign currency translations

Decreases

39 81 165

161 409 95

Included in the $1.1 billion $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion of

unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively are approximately $480 million

$452 million and $597 million respectively that if

recognized would favorably affect the effective tax rate in

future period lhese benefits primarily relate to the

Companys gross permanent benefits and corresponding

foreign tax credits and federal tax effects

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the

unrecognized tax benefits could decrease within the next

12 months by as much as $580 million principally as result

of potential resolutions of prior years tax items with various

taxing authorities The prior years tax items include

unrecognized tax benefits relating to the timing of recognition

of certain gross income the deductibility of certain expenses

or losses and the attribution of taxable income to particular

jurisdiction or jurisdictions Of the $580 million of

unrecognized tax benefits approximately $318 million are

temporary differences that if recognized would only impact

the effective rate due to net interest assessments and state tax

rate differentials With respect to the remaining decrease of

$262 million it is not possible to quantify the impact that the

decrease could have on the effective tax rate and net income

due to the inherent complexities and the number of tax years

open for examination in multiple jurisdictions Resolution of

the prior years items that comprise this remaining amount

could have an impact on the effective tax rate and on net

income either favorably principally as result of settlements

that are less than the
liability

for unrecognized tax benefits or

unfavorably if such settlements exceed the liability for

unrecognized tax benefits

Interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits

are reported in income tax provision During the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recognized

approximately $1 million $60 million and $17 million

respectively of interest and penalties The Company has

approximately $282 million and $285 million accrued for the

payment of interest and penalties as of December 31 2009

and 2008 respectively

Tax positions related to prior years

Settlements with tax authorities

Lapse of statute of limitations

Effects of toreign currency translations

197 208 164

97 213 126

$1081 $1176 $1112

Millions

Balance January

Increases

2009 2008 2007

$1176 $1112 $1143

Balance December 31
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OTL IS

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The computations of basic and diluted EPS for the years

ended December 31 were as follows

Millions except per share amounts 2009 2008 2007

Numerator

Basic and diluted

Income from continuing operations $2137 $2871 $4126

Preferred shares dividends accretion

and recognition of remaining

unaccreted dividends 306

Earnings allocated to participating

share awards and other items

Loss from discontinued operations

net of tax

Net income attributable to common

shareholders

Denominaton

Basic Weighted-average common

stock 1168 1154 1173

Add Weighted-average stock options

and warrantsb

Diluted

Basic EPS1

Income from continuing operations

attributable to common

shareholders

Loss from discontinued operations

20

1171 1156 1193

1.53 2.47 3.49

0.01 014 0.09

Net income attributable to common

shareholders 1.54 2.33 3.40

Diluted EPS
Income from continuing operations

attributable to common

shareholders 1.54

Loss from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to common

shareholders 1.34 2.32 3.34

Includes the accelerated preferred dividend accretion of

$212 million for the year ended December 31 2009 due to the

repurchase of $3.39 billion of preferred shares on June 17 2009

issued as part of the CPP Also includes $74 million of preferred

dividends paid and $20 million of preferred dividend accretion

during 2009

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the

dilutive effect of unexercised stock options excludes 71 million

45 million and million options respectively from the

computation of EPS because inclusion of the options would have

been anti-dilutive

Effective January 2009 guidance for determining whether

instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are

participating securities requires that restricted stock awards be

included in the computation of basic and diluted EPS pursuant to

the two-class method Accordingly the Company has

retrospectively adjusted EPS for 2008 and 2007

The Subordinated Debentures discussed in Note 10 would

affect the EPS computation only in the unlikely event the

Company fails to achieve specified performance measures

related to the Companys tangible common equity and

consolidated net income In that circumstance the Company

would reflect the additional common shares in the EPS

computation

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Foreign currency conversion revenue 672 755 718

Delinquency fees 526 852 879

Service fees 335 459 513

Other 243 241 307

Total other commissions and fees $1778 $2307 $2417

The following is detail of other revenues for the years ended

December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Insurance premium revenue 293 326 349

Publishing revenue 224 327 345

Gain on investment securities 225 12

Other 1345 1492 1048

Total other revenues $2087 $2157 $1751

Other revenues includes insurance premiums earned from

cardmember travel and other insurance programs publishing

revenues revenues arising from contracts with Global

Network Services GNS partners including royalties and

signing fees and other miscellaneous revenue and fees

NOTE 19

22 15 26 IETAILS OF CERTAIN

172 114 CONSOL1DA FD SI ATFMFN1 OF
INCOME LINES

Ji92 26 The following is detail of other commissions and fees for the

years ended December 31

2.47

0.15

3.44

0.10
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The following is detail of marketing promotion rewards

and cardmember services for the years ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Marketing and promotion $1914 $2430 $2562

Cardmember rewards 4036 4389 4777

Cardmember services 517 542 478

Total marketing promotion rewards

and cardmember services $6467 $7361 $7817

Marketing and promotion expense includes advertising costs

which are expensed in the year in which the advertising first

takes place Cardmember rewards expense includes the costs

of rewards programs including Membership Rewards

discussed in Note 11 Cardmember services expense includes

protection plans and complimentary services provided to

cardmembers

The following is detail of other net expense for the years

ended December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Occupancy and equipment $1619 $1641 1436

Communications 414 466 461

MasterCard and Visa settlements 852 571 1056

OtherN 1233 1586 1386

Total other net expense $2414 $3122 2227

Includes $135 million benefit recorded in the third quarter of

2009 representing the correction of an error related to the

accounting for cumulative translation adjustments associated

with net investment in foreign subsidiaries the impact of the

incorrect accounting was not material to any of the quarterly or

annual periods in which it occurred and resulted in $60 million

overstatement of pretax income in the second quarter of 2009

$135 million understatement of pretax income in the fourth

quarter of 2008 and minimal amounts for all other periods

affected dating back to the third quarter of 2007 when the

incorrect accounting originated ii $45 million benefit

recorded in the third quarter of 2009 resulting from the change in

fair value of certain forward exchange contracts and iii lower

travel and entertainment and other expenses due to the

Companys reengineering activities Also includes $59 million

benefit recorded in the second quarter of 2009 representing the

correction of an error related to prior periods from the

completion of certain account reconciliations Based on the items

described above the aggregate impact from the correction of

errors in accounting for the 12 months ended December 31 2009

resulted in $254 million overstatement of pretax income

Other net expense includes general operating expenses gains

losses on sale of assets or businesses not classified as

discontinued operations and litigation and insurance costs or

settlements

Nll 20

STOCK PLANS

STOCK OPTION ANI AWAR PROGRAMS

Under the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan and previously

under the 1998 Incentive Compensation Plan the Plans

awards may be granted to employees and other key

individuals who perform services for the Company and its

participating subsidiaries These awards may be in the form of

stock options restricted stock awards or units RSAs

portfolio grants PGs and similar awards designed to meet

the requirements of non-U.S jurisdictions

For the Companys Plans there were total of 37 million

45 million and 52 million common shares unissued and

available for grant as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively as authorized by the Companys Board of

Directors and shareholders

The Company granted stock option awards to its Chief

Executive Officer CEO in November 2007 and January 2008

that have performance-based and market-based conditions

These option awards are separately described below and are

excluded from the information and tables presented in the

following paragraphs

summary of stock option and RSA activity as of

December 31 2009 and changes during the year are

presented below

Outstanding at

December 31 2008

Granted

Exercised/vested

Forfeited

Expired

Outstanding at

December 31 2009N

Stock Options

Options vested and

expected to vest at

December 31 2009 78271

Options exercisable at

December31 2009 59778 $39.81

As of December 31 2009 the exercise prices for stock options

outstanding and stock options exercisable ranged from $12.06 to

$60.95 and $24.66 to $60.95 respectively

The Company recognizes the cost of employee stock awards

granted in exchange for employee services based on the grant-

date fair value of the award net of expected forfeitures Those

costs are recognized ratably over the vesting period

Shnrs in thousands

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

RSAs

Weighted

Average

Grant

Price

$51.49

$18.04

$50.89

$31.82

83674

9165

2757

2060

8328

Shares

7108

12014

2680

760

$40.94

$18.88

$36.71

$40.58

$35.19

79694 $39.18 15682 $26.90

$39.31
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OPTIONS

Each stock option has an exercise price equal to the market

price of the Companys common stock on the date of grant

and contractual term of 10 years from the date of grant

Stock options generally vest 25 percent per year beginning

with the first anniversary of the grant date

The weighted-average remaining contractual life and the

aggregate intrinsic value the amount by which the fair value

of the Companys stock exceeds the exercise price of the

option of the stock options outstanding exercisable and

vested and expected to vest as of December 31 2009 were as

follows

Vested and

Expected to

Outstanding Exercisable Vest

Weighted average

remaining contractual

life in years 4.1 2.8 4.1

Aggregate intrinsic value

millions $399 $199 $379

The intrinsic value for options exercised during 2009 2008

and 2007 was $11 million $79 million and $463 million

respectively based upon the fair value of the Companys

stock price at the date of exercise Cash received from the

exercise of stock options in 2009 2008 and 2007 was $83

million $176 million and $852 million respectively The tax

benefit realized from income tax deductions from stock

option exercises which was recorded in additional paid-in

capital in 2009 2008 and 2007 was $2 million $21 million

and $158 million respectively

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of

grant using Black -Scholes-Merton option-pricing model

The following weighted-average assumptions are used for

grants issued in 2009 2008 and 2007 the majority of which

were granted in the beginning of each year

2009 2008 2007

4.1% 1.5% 1.0%

36% 19% 19%

2.1% 2.8% 4.8%

4.8 4.7 4.7

Weighted-average fair value per option $4.54 $8.24 $1 3.39

SlCK OPTiONS Vl1 II FERPOIZMANCE hASIi ANI

N1A.RKIl.BAS1.i CI NIITIONS

On November 30 2007 and January 31 2008 the Companys

CEO was granted in the aggregate 2750000 of non-qualified

stock option awards with performance-based and market-

based conditions The exercise prices per share are $58.98 and

$49.13 respectively Both awards have contractual term of

10 years and vesting period of years

Performance-based Conditions

Awards for 2062500 options have performance-based

conditions with an aggregate grant date fair value of

approximately $33.8 million using Black-Scholes-Merton

option-pricing model Compensation expense for these

awards will be recognized over the vesting period when it is

determined it is probable that the performance metrics will be

achieved No compensation expense for these awards was

recorded in 2009 2008 or 2007

Market bacd Conditions

Awards for 687500 options have market-based conditions

with an aggregate grant date fair value of approximately $10.5

million using Monte Carlo valuation model The expected

volatility is based on historical returns of the Companys

common stock price and the SP 500 Index The expected life

of the options is based on historical data Compensation

expense for the fair value of these awards is recognized ratably

over the vesting period irrespective of the probability of the

market metric being achieved Total compensation expense

recorded in 2009 2008 and 2007 was $2.4 million $2.4

million and $0.1 million respectively

RESTRICTEI STOCK AWARDS
RSAs are valued based on the stock price on the date of grant

and vest generally 25 percent per year beginning with the first

anniversary of the grant date RSA holders receive

non-forfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents The total

fair value of shares vested during 2009 2008 and 2007 was $44

million $134 million and $203 million respectively based

upon the Companys stock price at the vesting date

The weighted.average grant date fair value of RSAs

granted in 2009 2008 and 2007 is $18.04 $48.29 and $57.89

respectively

PRl 101.10 RANL
In 2009 the Company awarded cash-settled PGs to Executive

Officers that earn value based on the Companys financial

performance and the Companys total shareholder return

versus the SP 500 Index Awards in 2009 for all other PG

recipients earn value based on the Companys performance

against financial and corporate objectives The 2009 awards

vest fifty percent each year over two one-year performance

periods All PGs awarded in 2008 and 2007 earn value based

on the Companys fmancial performance and the Companys

Dividend yield

Expected volatility

Risk-free interest rate

Expected life of stock option in years

The expected volatility is based on weighted historical and

implied volatilities of the Companys common stock price

The expected life of the options is based on hi5torical data
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total shareholder return versus the SP 500 Index and cliff

vest after three-year performance period PG payouts are

subject to CBC approval

The PGs are classified as liabilities and therefore the fair

value is determined at the date of grant and remeasured

quarterly as part of compensation expense over the

performance period Cash paid upon vesting of PGs was $43

million $59 million and $55 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively

SUM MARY OF STOCK PLAN EXPENSE

The components of the Companys stock-based compensation

expense net of cancellations are as follows

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Restricted stock awards $135 $141 $135

Stock options 55 73 78

Portfolio grants and other 10 21 63

Performance/market-based stock options

Total stock based compensation expensebl $202 $237 $276

As of December 31 2009 the total unrecognized compensation

cost related to unvested RSAs and options was $260 million and

$74 million respectively The unrecognized cost for RSAs and

options will be recognized ratably over the remaining vesting

period The weighted-average remaining vesting period for RSAs

and options is 2.44 years and 2.01 years respectively

The total income tax benefit recognized in the income statement

for stock-based compensation arrangements in 2009 2008 and

2007 was $71 million $83 million and $96 million respectively

NOTE 21

RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans

defined contribution plans and other postretirement benefit

plans for its employees The following table provides

summary of the total cost related to these plans as of

December 31

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Defined benefit pension plan cost 21 13 28

Defined contribution plan cost 118 211 173

Other postretirelnent benefit plan cost 29 27 31

Net periodic benefit cost $168 $251 $232

The expenses in the above table are recorded in salaries and

employee benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income

EFINEI BE FElT PENSION PLANS

The Companys significant defined benefit pension plans

cover certain employees in the United States and United

Kingdom Most employees outside the United States and

United Kingdom are covered by local retirement plans some

of which are funded while other employees receive payments

at the time of retirement or termination under applicable

labor laws or agreements The Company complies with the

minimum funding requirements in all countries

The Company sponsors the U.S American Express

Retirement Plan the Plan for eligible employees in the

United States The Plan is noncontributory defined benefit

plan and tax-qualified retirement plan subject to the

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as

amended ERISA Effective July 2007 the Plan was closed

to new entrants and existing participants no longer accrue

future benefits The Company funds retirement costs through

trtlst and complies with the applicable minimum funding

requirements specified by ERISA as revised under the

Pension Protection Act PPA effective October 2008 The

funded status of the Plan on an ERISA basis as of October

2009 applicable plan year is 106 percent The PPA

calculation assumptions are specific to ERISA and differ from

the calculation of the net funded status for GAAP purposes

see Net Funded Status as of December 31 2009 in the table

below

The Plan is cash balance plan and employees accrued

benefits are based on notional account balances which are

maintained for each individual Employees balances are

credited daily with interest at fixed-rate that is updated each

January and is based on the average of the daily five-year

U.S Treasury Note yields for the previous October through

November 30 The interest rate varies from minimum of

percent to maximum equal to the lesser of 10 percent or

ii the applicable interest rate set forth in the Plan

Employees and their beneficiaries have the option to receive

annuity payments upon retirement or lump-sum payout at

vested termination death disability or retirement

The Company also sponsors an unfunded non-qualified

Supplemental Retirement Plan the SRP for employees

compensated above certain level to supplement their

pension benefits that are limited by the Internal Revenue

Code The SRP was also amended as of July 2007 and its

terms generally parallel those of the Plan except that the

definition of compensation and payment options differ

For each plan the net funded status is defined by GAAP

governing retirement benefits as the difference between the

fair value of plan assets and the respective plans projected

benefit obligation The projected benefit obligation represents

liability
based on the plan participants service-to-date and

their expected future compensation at their projected

retirement date Changes in the funded status are recorded as

unamortized gains and losses which are recognized in other

comprehensive income net of tax in the periods in which

they occur along with prior service cost
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As of December 31 2009 the net funded status related to the

defined benefit pension plans was underfunded by $406

million as shown in the following table

Net Funded Status

Millions 2009 2008

Net funded status beginning of year $441 $113

Increase Decrease in fair value of plan assetS 296 900

Increase Decrease in projected benefit obligation 261 346

Net change 35

Net funded status end of year $406 544

The net funded status amounts at December 31 2009 and

2008 are recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in

other liabilities

Plan Assets and Obligations

The following tables provide reconciliation of changes in the

fair value of plan assets and projected benefit obligations for

all defined benefit pension plans

Reconciliation of Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets

Millions 2009 2008

Fair value of plan assets beginning of year $1693 $2593

Effect of transition to December 31st

measurement date

Actual return on plan assets 290 461

Employer contributions 74 20

Benefits paid 59 61
Settlements 81 88

Foreign currency exchange rate changes 72 321

Net change 296

Fair value of plan assets end of year $1989 $1693

Reconciliation of Change in Projected Benefit Obligation

Millwns 2009 2008

Projected benefit obligation beginning of year $2134 $2480

Effect of transition to December 31st

measurement date

Service cost 14 23

Interest Cost 127 136

Benefits paid 59 61
Actuarial loss gain 189 56
Plan amendments

Settlements 81 88
Curtailinents 14

Foreign currency exchange rate changes 85 297

Net change 261 346

Projected benefit obligation end of year $2395 $2134

IcCUIfl1Llatcd Other COmprchensiv oss

The following table provides the amounts comprising

accumulated other comprehensive loss which are not yet

recognized as components of net periodic pension benefit cost

as of December 31

Millions 2009 2008

Net actuarial loss 655 650

Net prior service cost

Total pretax effect 652 647

Tax impact J2
Total net of taxes 433 432

The estimated portion of the net actuarial loss and net prior

service cost that is expected to be recognized as component
of net periodic pension benefit cost in 2010 is $22 million and

nil respectively

The following table lists the amounts recognized in other

comprehensive loss in 2009

Millions 2009

Net actuarial loss

Reclassified to earnings from equity $29

Losses in current yearb 34

Net actuarial loss pretax

Amortization of actuarial losses and recognition of losses related

to lump sum settlements

Deferral of actuarial losses and curtailment gains

litnef Obligations

The accumulated benefit obligation in defined benefit

pension plan is the present value of benefits earned to date by

plan participants computed based on current compensation

levels as contrasted to the projected benefit obligation which

is the present value of benefits earned to date by plan

participants based on their expected future compensation at

their projected retirement date

The accumulated and projected benefit obligations for all

defined benefit pension plans are as follows

Millions 2009 2008

Accumulated benefit obligation $2327 $2057

Projected benefit obligation $2395 $2134

The accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan

assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligation

that exceeds the fair value of plan assets are as follows

Millions 2009 2008

Accumulated benefit obligation $1369 $2056

Fair value of plan assets $1020 $1691
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The projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets

for pension plans with projected benefit obligation that

exceeds the fair value of plan assets are as follows

Millions 2009 2008

Projected benefit obligation $2395 $2134

Fair value of plan assets $1989 $1693

Net leriodic Pension Benefit Cost

The components of the net periodic pension benefit cost for

all defined benefit pension plans as of December 31 are as

follows

Millions 2009 2008 2007

Service cost 14 23 89

Interest cost 127 136 126

Expected return on plan assets 146 169 155

Amortization of prior service costs

Recognized net actuarial loss 10 17 35

Settlements losses gains 19

Curtailment gains lossess 63

Net periodic pension benefit cost 21 13 28

Current value of benefits earned by employees during the period

Estimated interest incurred on the outstanding projected benefit

obligation during the period

Expected return on the market related value of plan assets

Costs that result from plan amendments which are amortized

over the expected future service period of the employees

impacted

Amortization of the accumulated losses which exceed 10 percent

of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market

related value of plan assets

Recognition of the actuarial losses resulting from lump sum

settlements of the benefit obligation

Gains resulting from reduction in the benefit obligation due to

decrease in the expected years of future service of current plan

participants

Assumptions

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine defined

benefit pension obligations were

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net

periodic pension benefit costs were

2009 2008 2007

Discount rates 5.9% 5.8% 52%

Rates of increase in compensation levels

Expected long-term rates of return on assets

The Company assumes long-term rate of return on assets on

weighted-average basis In developing this assumption

management evaluates historical returns on plan assets as well

as benchmark information including projections of asset class

returns and long-term inflation

The discount rate assumptions for the Companys

significant defined benefit plans are determined using model

consisting of bond portfolios that match the cash flows of the

plans projected benefit payments based on the plan

participants service to date and their expected future

compensation Use of the rate produced by this model

generates projected benefit obligation that equals the

current market value of portfolio of high-quality zero-

coupon bonds whose maturity dates and amounts match the

timing and amount of expected future benefit payments

Asset Allocation 501 Fair \a
The Benefit Plans Investment Committee BPIC is appointed

by the Compensation and Benefits Committee of the

Companys Board of Directors and has the responsibility of

reviewing and approving the investment policies related to

plan assets for the Companys defmed benefit pension plans

evaluating the performance of the investments in accordance

with the investment policy reviewing the investment

objectives risk characteristics expenses and historical

performance and selecting and evaluating the investment

managers The BPIC typically meets quarterly to review the

performance of the various investment managers and service

providers as well as other investment related matters The

Companys significant defined benefit pension plans have

investment policies which prescribe targets for the amount of

assets that can be invested in security class in order to

mitigate the detrimental impact of adverse or unexpected

results with respect to any
individual security class on the

overall portfolio The portfolios are diversified by asset type

risk characteristics and concentration of investments

Effective January 2009 the Company adopted new

GAAP fair value disclosure requirements for defined benefit

pension plan assets the new expanded disclosures are not

applicable for plan assets at December 31 2008 when the asset

allocation was 48 percent equity securities 43 percent fixed

income securities and percent other investments Refer to

Note for discussion related to valuation techniques used to

measure fair value including description of the three-level

3.6%
fair value hierarchy of inputs

3.9% 4.2% 4.1%

6.9% 7.6% 7.8%

Discount rates

Rates of increase in compensation levels

2009 2008

5.3% 59%
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The following table summarizes the target allocation and categorization of all defined benefit pension plan assets measured at fair

value on recurring basis by GAAPs valuation hierarchy as of December 31 2009

Asset categoiy

rnllions
except percentages

Target

Allocation 2010 Total

15% 334

significant portion of international investments are in U.K companies and U.K government and agency securities

Measured at reported net asset value in accordance with GAAP adopted in 2009

The fair value measurement of all defined benefit pension plan assets using significant unobservable inputs Level changed

during 2009 due to the following

Millions Total Private Equity Real Estate Hedge Funds

Beginning fair value January 2009 $187 $64 $60 $63

Actual net losses on plan assets

Held at the end of the year 38 16 19
Sold during the year 10

Total net losses 48 16 20 12
Net purchases sales and settlements 41 43

Net decrease 89 12 22 55

Ending fair value December 31 2009 98 $52 $38 $8

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets

for Identical

Assets

Level

$334

Significant

Observable

Inputs

Level

U.S equity securities

International equity securitie

U.S fixed income securities

International fixed income securitiesn

Balanced funds

Cash

Othert

Private equity

Real estate

Hedge funds

Total other

626

553

301

62

15

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

Level

52

38

Total

30% 626

30% 553

15% 301

5% 62

15

52

38

_______________

5% 98

100% $1989 $975

98

$916 $98
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Cfl ni

The Companys defined benefit pension plans expect to make

benefit payments to retirees as follows

2015

Millions 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2019

Expected payments $132 $147 $152 $152 $171 $903

In addition the Company expects to contribute $64 million

to its defined benefit pension plans in 2010

lFFINF.i CONIR1BUl1ON RETIl.EMENl PLANS

The Company sponsors defmed contribution retirement

plans the principal plan being the Retirement Savings Plan

RSP 40 1k savings plan with profit sharing component

The RSP is tax-qualified retirement plan subject to ERISA

and covers most employees in the Under the terms of

the RSP employees have the option of investing up to 10

percent of their contributions in the American Express

Company Stock Fund which invests primarily in the

Companys common stock through accumulated payroll

deductions Employees are restricted from transferring

balances into this fund if the balance has reached 10 percent

of the employees total account balance The RSP held

13 million shares of American Express Common Stock at both

December 31 2009 and 2008 beneficially for employees

Effective July 2007 the Company matches employee

contributions to the plan up to maximum of percent of

total pay Additional annual conversion contributions of up

to percent of total pay are provided into the RSP for eligible

employees who were hired before April 2007 The

Company also sponsors an RSP SRP which is an unfunded

non-qualified plan for employees whose RSP benefits are

limited by the Internal Revenue Code and its terms generally

parallel those of the RSP except that the definition of

compensation and payment options differ

The total expense for all defined contribution retirement

plans globally was $118 million $211 million and $173

million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The decrease in

defined contribution expense in 2009 primarily reflects the

Companys temporary suspension of the employer match

conversion contributions reinstated prospectively in January

20 10

TH ER POSTRETI REM FNTBENliElT PLANS

The Company sponsors unfunded other postretirement

benefit plans that provide health care and life insurance to

certain retired U.S employees

Acuinu1atcd Other Comprehensive loss

The following table provides the amounts comprising

accumulated other comprehensive loss which are not yet

recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost as of

December 31

Millions 2009 2008

Net actuarial loss 60 47

Net prior service cost

Total pretax effect 60 45

Tax impact 24 18

Total net of taxes $36 27

The estimated portion of the net actuarial loss above that is

expected to be recognized as component of net periodic

benefit cost in 2010 is $2 million

The following table lists the amounts recognized in other

comprehensive loss in 2009

Millions 2009

Net actuarial loss

Reclassified to earnings from equity

Losses in current year 15

Net actuarial loss 13

Net prior service cost

Reclassified to earnings from equity

Net prior service Cost

Total pretax $15

Benetlt Cbligations

The projected benefit obligation represents liability
based

upon estimated future medical and other benefits to be

provided to retirees

The following table provides reconciliation of the changes in

the projected benefit obligation

Reconciliation of Change in Projected Benefit Obligation

Millions 2009 2008

Projected benefit obligation beginning of year $295 $312

Effect of transition to December 31 St measurement

date

Service Cost

Interest cost 18 19

Benefits paid 16 27

Actuarial loss gain 16 16

Curtailment loss

Net change 29

Projected benefit obligation end of year $324 $295

The plans are unfunded and the obligations as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 are recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets in other liabilities
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Net Penn die Benefit Ost

GAAP provides for the delayed recognition of the net

actuarial loss and the net prior service credit remaining in

accumulated other comprehensive income loss

The components of the net periodic benefit cost for all other

postretirement benefit plans as of December are as follows

Millions 009 2008 2007

Service cost

Interest cost 18 19 19

Amortization of prior service cost

Recognized net actuarial loss

Curtailment loss

Net periodic benefit cost $29 $27 $31

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit

obligations were

The weighted-average discount rate used tt determine net

periodic benefit cost was 6.0 percent 6.1 percent and 5.7

percent in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The discount rate assumption for the Companys

unfunded other postretirement benefit plans is determined by

using model consisting of bond portfolios that match the

cash flows of the plans projected benefit payments Use of the

rate produced by this model generates projected benefit

obligation that equals the current market value of portfolio

of high quality zerocoupon bonds whose maturity dates and

amounts match the timing and amount of expected future

benefit payments

one percentage-point change in assumed health care cost

trend rates would have the following effects

One One

percentage- percentage-

point increase point decrease

Millions 2009 2008 2009 2008

Increase Decrease on benefits

earned and interest cost for U.S

plans

Increase Decrease on

postretirement benefit

obligation for U.S plans $15 $15 $14 $13

Benefit PsyrnienIs

The Companys other postretirement benefit plans expect to

make benefit payments as follows

2015

Millions 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2019

Expected payments $24 $24 $24 $25 $26 $132

In addition the Company expects to contribute $24 million

to its other postretirement benefit plans in 2010

NOTE 22

SIGNIFICANT CRFDI
CONCENTRATIONS

Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic

industry or geographic factors similarly affect groups of

counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is material in

relation to American Express total credit exposure The

Companys customers operate in diverse industries economic

sectors and geographic regions

The following table details the Companys maximum credit

exposure by category including the credit exposure associated

with derivative financial instruments as of December 31

Billions except percentages
2009 2008

On-balance sheet

lndividuals 60 68

Financial institutions 20 24

U.S Government and agencies 19

All othercd 17 14

Total on-balance sheett1 $116 $117

Unused lines-of-credit-individualst $222 $253

Individuals primarily include cardmember loans and receivables

Financial institutions primarily include debt obligations of banks

broker-dealers insurance companies and savings and loan

associations

U.S Government and agencies represent debt obligations of the

U.S Government and its agencies states and municipalities and

government sponsored entities

All other primarily includes cardmember receivables from other

corporate institutions

Certain distinctions between categories require management

judgment

Because charge card products have no preset spending limit the

associated credit limit on cardmember receivables is not

quantifiable Therefore the quantified unused line-of-credit

amounts only include the approximate credit line available on

cardmember loans including both for on-balance sheet loans and

loans previously securitized

Discount rates

Health care cost increase rate

Following year

Decreasing to the year 2016

2009 2008

5.4% 6.0%

8.0% 8.5%

5.0% 5.0%
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As of December 31 2009 the Companys most significant

concentration of credit risk was with individuals including

cardmember receivables and loans These amounts are

generally advanced on an unsecured basis However the

Company reviews each potential customers credit application

and evaluates the applicants financial history and ability and

willingness to repay The Company also considers credit

performance by customer tenure industry and geographic

location in managing credit exposure The following table

details the Companys cardmember loans and receivables

exposure including unused lines-of-credit on cardmember

loans in the United States and International as of

December 31

Billions except percentages
2009 2008

On-balance sheet

United States 47 56

International 20 19

On-balance sheet1 $67 $75

Unused ines-of-credit-individuals

United States $181 $211

International 41 42

Total $222 $253

Represents cardmember loans to individuals as well as receivables

from individuals and corporate institutions as discussed in

footnotes and from the previous table

EXP SURE TO AIRLINE lNiUSTRY

The Company has multiple co-brand relationships and

rewards partners of which airlines are one of the most

important and valuable The Companys largest airline

co-brand is Delta Air Lines Delta and this relationship

includes exclusive co-brand credit card partnerships and

other arrangements including Membership Rewards

merchant acceptance and travel American Express Delta

SkyMiles Credit Card co-brand portfolio accounts for

approximately percent of the Companys worldwide billed

business and less than 15 percent of worldwide cardmember

lending receivables Refer to Note to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for further discussion of prepaid miles

acquired from Delta

Over the last couple of years there were significant

number of airline bankruptcies and liquidations driven in

part by volatile fuel costs and weakening economies around

the world Historically the Company has not experienced

significant revenue declines when particular airline scales

back or ceases operations due to bankruptcy or other

financial challenges because volumes generated by that airline

are typically shifted to other participants in the industry that

accept the Companys card products The Companys

exposure to business and credit risk in the airline industry is

primarily through business arrangements where the Company

has remitted payment to the airline for cardmember

purchase of tickets that have not yet been used or flown

The Company mitigates this risk by delaying payment to the

airlines with deteriorating financial situations thereby

increasing cash withheld to protect the Company in the event

the airline is liquidated To date the Company has not

experienced significant losses from airlines that have ceased

operations

NOTE 23

REGULATORY MATTERS AND
ADEQUACY

The Company is regulated by the Federal Reserve and is

subject to the Federal Reserves requirements for risk-based

capital and leverage ratios The Companys two U.S Bank

operating subsidiaries Centurion Bank and FSB collectively

the Banks are subject to similar regulatory capital

requirements of the FDIC and the Office of Thrift Supervision

OTS
The Federal Reserves guidelines for capital adequacy

define two categories of risk-based capital Tier and Tier

capital as defined in the regulations Under the risk-based

capital guidelines of the Federal Reserve the Company is

required to maintain minimum ratios of Tier and Total

Tier plus Tier capital to risk weighted assets as well as

minimum leverage ratio Tier capital to average adjusted

on-balance sheet assets

Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate

certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary

actions by regulators that if undertaken could have direct

material effect on the Companys and the Banks financial

statements

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company and its

Banks were well-capitalized and met all capital requirements

to which each was subject Management is not aware of any

events subsequent to December 31 2009 that would

materially adversely affect the Companys and the Banks

2009 capital ratios including the impact of the adoption of

changes in GAAP governing the accounting for transfers of

financial assets effective January 2010 as discussed in Note

While the adoption of these new accounting standards is

expected to result in reduction of the Companys capital

ratios such ratios are expected to be above applicable well-

capitalized levels
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Tier

Millions except percentages capital

December 31 2009

American Express Company

American Express Centurion Bank

American Express Bank FSB

$10087 $11610

3029 3386

3415 3767

9.Y% 11.1% 8.59o

12.3% 13.7% 13.2%

12.7 14.0% 12.2%

Well-capitalized ratios

Minimum capital ratiosr

6.0% 10.0% 5%d
4.0% 8.0% 4.0%

FSB leverage ratio represents Tier core capital ratio calculated similarly to Tier leverage ratio

Since January 2009 FSB has committed to maintain Total capital ratio of no less than 15 percent During 2009 enhancements were made

to the American Express Credit Account Master Trust used to securitize credit card receivables issued by both the FSB and Centurion Bank

As result of these enhancements the Banks began holding capital against their off balance sheet trust assets The Company infused $1.4

billion and $475 million of additional
capital into FSB and Centurion Bank respectively during 2009 and in connection with the foregoing

increased
capital

commitment for FSB and the impact of the trust enhancements for both FSB and Centurion Bank

As defined by the regulations issued by the Federal Reserve Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 0CCOTS and FDIC

Represents requirements for banking subsidiaries to be considered well capitalized pursuant to regulations issued under the Federal

Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act There is no well capitalized definition for the Tier leverage ratio for bank holding

company

1hSTRIC lEl El ASS IS 01 SVBSIIIARftS

Certain of the Companys subsidiaries are subject to

restrictions on the transfer of net assets under debt

agreements and regulatory requirements These restrictions

have not had any effect on the Companys shareholder

dividend policy and management does not anticipate any

impact in the future Procedures exist to transfer net assets

between the Company and its subsidiaries while ensuring

compliance with the various contractual and regulatory

constraints At December 31 2009 the aggregate amount of

net assets of subsidiaries that are restricted to be transferred to

American Express Parent Company Parent Company was

approximately $9.5 billion

BANK lolvlN COMPANY ilVllENI RESTRICT1ONS

The Company is limited in its ability to pay
dividends by its

regulators who could prohibit dividend that would be

considered an unsafe or unsound banking practice It is the

policy of the Federal Reserve that bank holding companies

should generally pay dividends on common stock only out of

net income attributable to common shareholders over the

past year and only if prospective earnings retention is

consistent with the organizations current and expected future

capita needs asset quality and overall financial condition

Moreover bank holding companies should not maintain

dividend levels that undermine companys ability to be

source of strength to its banking subsidiaries

l\JIJNI RISIRlTIONS

In the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 Centurion

Bank paid dividends from retained earnings to its parent of

$650 million and $700 million respectively which were

eliminated in the Companys consolidation No dividends

were paid in 2009 In the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007 FSB paid dividends from retained earnings to its parent

of $150 million and $150 million respectively which were

eliminated in the Companys consolidation No dividends

were paid in 2009 As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the

Banks could pay in the aggregate $1.3 billion and $0.6

billion respectively in dividends to their bank holding

companies without the prior approval of their respective

banking regulators In determining the dividends the Banks

must also consider its effect on applicable risk-based capital

and leverage ratio requirements as well as policy statements

of the federal regulatory agencies

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The following table presents the regulatory capital ratios for the Company and the Banks at December 31 2009 and 2008

American Express Company

American Express Centurion Banktb

American Express Bank FSBbI

December 31 2008

Total

capital

Tier Total Tier

capital capital leverage

ratio ratio ratio1

$11464 $13894

4430 4841

4784 5623

9.8%

13.7%

14.2%

11.9%

15.0%

16.7%

9.7%

17.1%

15.I%
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NOTF 24

COMM MEN FS ANL
CONTINGENCIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in number of

legal and arbitration proceedings including class actions

concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of

their respective business activities The Company believes it

has meritorious defenses to each of these actions and intends

to defend them vigorously In the course of its business the

Company and its subsidiaries are also subject to governmental

examinations information gathering requests subpoenas

inquiries and investigations The Company believes it is not

party to nor are any of its properties the subject of any

pending legal arbitration regulatory tax or investigative

proceedings that would have material adverse effect on the

Companys consolidated financial condition or liquidity

However it is possible that the outcome of any such

proceedings could have material impact on results of

operations in any particular reporting period as the

proceedings are resolved

ISA .iNi MASTERCARI SEFTLLMENTS

As previously disclosed the Company reached settlement

agreements with Visa and MasterCard Under the terms of the

settlement agreements the Company will receive aggregate

maximum payments of $4.05 billion The settlement with

Visa comprised an initial payment of $1.13 billion $700

million after-tax that was recorded as gain in 2007 Having

met quarterly performance criteria the Company recognized

$280 million $172 million after-tax from Visa in 2009 and

2008 and $600 million $372 million after-tax and $300

million $186 million after-tax from MasterCard in 2009 and

2008 respectively The remaining Visa and MasterCard

quarterly payments subject to the Company achieving certain

quarterly performance criteria continue through the fourth

and second quarters of 2011 respectively and are included in

other net expenses within the Corporate Other segment

The Company also has contingent obligations to make

payments under contractual agreements entered into as part

of the ongoing operation of the Companys business

primarily with co-brand partners The contingent obligations

under such arrangements were approximately $6.0 billion as

of December 31 2009

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment

under noncancelable and cancelable agreements The total

rental expense amounted to $362 million in 2009 including

lease termination penalties of $36 million Rent expense was

$337 million and $300 million in 2008 and 2007 respectively

As of December 31 2009 the minimum aggregate rental

commitment under all noncancelable operating leases net of

subleases of $5 million was

Miions

2010 254

201i 228

2012 194

2013 181

2014 164

Thereafter 1316

Total $2337

As of December 31 2009 the Companys future minimum

lease payments under capital leases or other similar

arrangements is approximately $12 million per annum from

2010 through 2013 $14 million in 2014 and $40 million

thereafter Refer to Note 22 for discussion of the Companys

customer commitments related to unused lines-of-credit as

of December 31 2009 and 2008
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NOTE 25

RE PORTABLE OPERATING
SFc1MINTS AND GFOGRAPHIC
OPERATIONS

EL .EORIBLL OPFR LLN SEG LNLS

The Company is leading global payments and travel

company that is principally engaged in businesses comprising

four reportable operating segments US Card Services

USCS International Card Services ICS Global

Commercial Services GCS and Global Network Merchant

Services GNMS
The Company considers combination of factors when

evaluating the composition of its reportable operating

segments including the results
reviewe4 by the chief

operating decision maker economic characteristics products

and services offered classes of custtmers product

distribution channels geographic considerations primarily

U.S versus international and regulatory environment

considerations Based on these factors the Company has the

following four reportable operating segments

USCS issues wide range of card products and

services to consumers and small businesses in the

United States and provides consumer travel services

to cardmembers and other consumers

ICS issues proprietary consumer and small business

cards outside the United States

GCS offers global corporate payment and travel-

related products and services to large and mid-sized

companies

GNMS segment operates global general-purpose

charge and credit card network which includes both

proprietary cards and cards issued under network

partnership agreements It also manages merchant

services globally which includes signing merchants to

accept cards as well as processing and settling card

transactions for those merchants This segment also

offers merchants pointofsale products servicing and

settlements and marketing programs

Corporate functions and auxiliary businesses including the

Companys publishing business the Global Prepaid business

as well as other company operations are included in

Corporate Other
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The following table presents certain selected financial information as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 and for each of the

years then ended

Corporate

Millions except where indicated USCS ICS GCS GNMS Othertt Consolidated

2009b

Non-interest revenues 9525 $3404 $4157 $3625 $688 $21399

Interest income 3221 1588 61 455 5331

Interest expense 855 509 172 85 756 2207

Total revenues net of interest expense 11891 4483 4046 3716 387 24523

Total provision 3769 1211 177 135 21 5313

Pretax income from continuing operations 324 230 568 1381 338 2841

Income tax provision benefit 75 73 178 483 41 704

Income from continuing operations 249 303 390 898 $297 2137

Total equity billions 6.5 2.2 3.4 1.8 0.5 14.4

2008

Non-interest revenues $11427 $3758 $5081 $3875 $578 $24719

Interest income 4736 1984 168 308 7201

Interest expense 2166 961 553 222 97 3555

Total revenues net of interest expense 13997 4781 4696 4102 789 28365

Total provision 4389 1030 231 127 21 5798

Pretax income from continuing operations 1141 153 693 1490 104 3581

Income tax provision benefit 289 198 188 495 64 710

Income from continuing operations 852 351 505 995 $168 2871

Total equity billions 4.8 2.0 3.5 1.4 $0.1 11.8

2007

Non-interest revenues $11750 $3499 $4697 $3549 $621 $24116

Interest income 5125 1741 187 368 7424

Interest expense 2653 909 615 312 116 3981

Total revenues net of interest expense 14222 4331 4269 3864 873 27559

Total provision 2998 812 163 103 27 4103

Pretax income from continuing operations 2730 117 744 1560 543 5694

Income tax provision benefit 907 174 208 538 89 1568

Income from continuing operations 1823 291 536 $1022 $454 4126

Total equity billions 4.5 2.1 2.2 1.2 1.0 11.0

Corporate Other includes adjustments and eliminations for intersegment activity

The Company changed the manner by which it assesses the performance of its reportable operating segments to exclude the impact of its

excess liquidity funding levels Accordingly beginning in 2009 the debt and cash and investment balances associated with the Companys

excess liquidity funding and the related net negative interest spread are no longer included within the reportable operating segment results

primarily USCS and GCS segments and are reported in the Corporate Other segment The segment results for the prior years have not

been revised for this change The impact on segment income from continuing operations was an increase to USCS ICS and GCS of $101

million SI million and $41 million respectively and decrease to Corporate Other of $143 million for the year ending December 31

2009 The impact on reportable operating segment asset and liability balances for this change was decrease to USCS and GCS of $19 billion

and $7 billion respectively and an increase to Corporate Other of $26 billion as of December 31 2009
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Iota Revenues Net of Interest Expense

The Company allocates discount revenue and certain other

revenues among segments using transfer pricing

methodology Segments earn discount revenue based on the

volume of merchant business generated by cardmembers

Within the USCS ICS and GCS segments discount revenue

reflects the issuer component of the overall discount rate

within the GNMS segment discount revenue reflects the

network and merchant component of the overall discount

rate Total interest income and net card fees are directly

attributable to the segment in which they are reported

lrovisons br Losses

The provisions for losses are directly attributable to the

segment
in which they are reported

l.xpenscs

Marketing promotion rewards and cardmember services

expenses are reflected in each segment based on actual

expenses incurred with the exception of brand advertising

which is reflected in the GNMS segment Rewards and

cardmember services expenses are reflected in each segment

based on actual expenses incurred within each segment

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses

reflect expenses such as professional services occupancy and

equipment and communications incurred directly within

each segment In addition expenses related to the Companys

RAPIiR PERAION

support services such as technology costs are allocated to

each segment based on support service activities directly

attributable to the segment Other overhead expenses such as

staff group support functions are allocated from Corporate

Other to the other segments based on each segments relative

level of pretax income with the exception of certain fourth

quarter 2008 severance and other related charges of $133

million from the Companys fourth quarter restructuring

initiatives for staff group support functions This presentation

is consistent with how such charges were reported internally

See further discussion in Note 16 regarding this corporate

initiative Financing requirements are managed on

consolidated basis Funding costs are allocated based on

segment funding requirements

apmtal

Each business segment is allocated capital based on

established business model operating requirements risk

measures and regulatory capital requirements Business

model operating requirements include capital needed to

support operations and specific balance sheet items The risk

measures include considerations for credit market and

operational risk

Income Taxes

Income tax provision benefit is allocated to each business

segment based on the effective tax rates applicable to various

businesses that make up the segment

The following table presents the Companys total revenues net of interest expense and pretax income in different geographic

regions

Millions

2009

Total revenues net of interest expense

Pretax income from continuing operations

2008

Total revenues net of interest expense

Pretax income from continuing operations

2007

Total revenues net of interest expense

Pretax income from continuing operations

United States Europe Asia/Pacific All Other Consolidated

$16582 $3151 $2335 $2455 $24523

2034 300 200 307 2841

$19365 $3755 $2544 $2701 $28365

3110 196 99 176 3581

$19456 $3515 $2231 $2357 $27559

4984 301 124 285 5694

The data in the above table is in part based upon internal allocations which necessarily involve managements judgment
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Years Ended December31

Millions

Revenues

Non-interest revenues

Gain on sale of securities

Other

Interest income

Interest exoense

Parent Company Condensed Balance Sheets

As of December 31

Millions

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment securities

Equity in net assets of subsidiaries and affiliates

of continuing operations

Accounts receivable less reserves

Loan to affiliate in discontinued operations

Premises and equipment at cost less

accumulated depreciation 2009 $34

2008 $33

Due from subsidiaries

Other assets

Equity in net liabilities of subsidiaries and

affiliates of discontinued operations

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Accounts payable and other liabilities

Long-term debt

Total liabilities

Shareholders equity

Common shares

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders eauity

2009 2008

$5679

530 594

14677 12563

523 1153

238

52 46

4197 5928

389 716

44

$26047 $21197

SLl5l1EslEl \L llSC1SCRE

The Parent Company guarantees up to $104 million of

indebtedness under lines of credit that subsidiaries have with

various banks As of December 31 2009 $17 million in lines

of credit have been drawn down

NYlT

PARENT COMPANY

Parent Company Condensed Siatcmcnis ol Income

2009 2008 2007

Total non-interest revenues

Total revenues net of interest expense

Expenses

Salaries and employee benefits

Other

211

215

142

562

205

111

161

272

477

164

286

462

170

129

119

248

418

176

Total

13

13

258

360

89

132

160

292

381

157

Pretax loss

Income tax benefit

Net loss before equity in net income of

subsidiaries and affiliates

Equity in net income of subsidiaries and

affiliates

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations net

of tax

Net income

313 242 224

2450 3113 4350

2137 287I 4126

172 114

$2130 $2699 $4012

1398

10243

11641

237

11144

3737

712

14406

$26047

1424

7932

9356

232

10496

2.719

1606

11841

$21197
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Parrit mpny Condensed Statements oiCash llows

Years Ended December 31

Millions

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Equity in net income loss of subsidiaries and affiliates

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Dividends received from subsidiaries and affiliates

Gain on sale of investments

Loan to affiliate in discontinued operations

Other operating activities primarily with subsidiaries

Net cash provided by used in operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Sale/redemption of investments

Premises and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates

Net cash provided by used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Issuance of debt

Issuance of American Express Series preferredshares and warrants

Repurchase of American Express Series preferred shares

Principal payment of debt

Issuance of American Express common shares aid other

Repurchase of American Express common shares

Repurchase of American Express stock warrants

Dividends paid

Net cash provided by used in financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2009 2008 2007

2130 2699 4012

2450 3113

172

1103 2340

211

238
2911 1915

3490 55

361

20 14

58

341 72

4350

114

3708

242

3242

10

550

560

3000 3000 1500

3389

3389

505 1995

614 176

218

340

924 836

1845 127

5676

$5679

750

852

3572

712

2682
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OTL 27

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL 1ATA UNAUDITED

Millions except per share amounts

Quarters Ended

Total revenues net of interest expense

Pretax income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations

Income Loss from discontinued operations net of tax

Net income

2008

12/3l 9/30 6/30 3/31

$6506 $7164 $7455 $7240

268 1078 774 1461

306 861 660 1044

66 46 53

240 815 653 991

Earnings Per Common Share Basic

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income

0.59 0.54 0.09 0.32

0.01 0.01

0.60 0.54 0.09 0.31

0.26 0.74 0.57 0.90

0.05 0.04 0.01 0.05

0.21 0.70 0.56 0.85

Earnings Per Common Share Diluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income

Cash dividends declared per common share

0.59 0.54 0.09 0.32

0.01 0.01 0.01

0.60 0.53 0.09 0.31

0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18

026 0.74 0.56 0.89

0.05 0.04 0.04

0.21 0.70 0.56 0.85

0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18

Common share price

High

Low

$42.25 $36.50 $28.45 $21.38

$31.69 $22.00 $13.08 9.71

$35.80 $42.50 $52.63 $52.32

$16.55 $31.68 $37.61 $39.50

Diluted EPS from discontinued operations was greater than basic EPS from discontinued operations due to the impact of rounded fractional

amounts

bThe results for the quarter ended September 30 2009 include $180 million benefit related to the accounting for net investment in

foreign subsidiaries and ii the change in the fair value of certain forward exchange contracts The results of operations for the quarter ended

June 30 2009 include $59 million benefit related to the completion of certain account reconciliations Refer to Note 19 for further

discussion of these items

The results of operations for the quarters ended June 30 2009 and December 31 2008 include restructuring charges in the amount of $199

million and $410 million respectively Refer to Note 16 for further discussion of these items

2009

12/31 9/30b 6/30bc 3/31

$6489 $6016 $6092 $5926

961 918 418 544

710 642 342 443

716 640 337 437
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CONSOLIDATED FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

AMEEtCAN EXPRESS COMPANY

Millions except per share amounts
percentages

and where indicated

Operating ResuIts

Total revenues net of interest expense

Expenses

Provisions for losses

Income from continuing operations

Loss Income from discontinued operations

Net income

Return on average equityb

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

28365 27559

18986 17762

5798 4103

2871 4126

172 114
2699 4012

22.3% 37.3%

Balance Sheet

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Loans net

Investment securities

Assets of discontinued operations

Total assets

Customer deposits

Travelers Cheques outstanding

Shortterm borrowings

Long-term debt

Liabilities of discontinued operations

Shareholders equity

24523

16369

5313

2137

2130

14.6%

15542

38204

30010

24337

124088

26289

5975

2344

52338

14406

24826

17008

2666

3625

82

3707

34.7%

3801

38642

43034

13207

20699

128262

12011

7215

15236

42747

20003

10511

22145

15605

2561

3014

720

3734

25.4%

4272

35293

33824

13102

19866

114571

13827

7175

15711

30781

19077

10549

20547

36571

40659

12526

216

126074

15486

6433

8993

60041

260

11841

8878

41994

53339

13214

22278

149743

15397

7197

17761

55285

21527

11029

Corrimon Share Statistics

Earnings per share

Income from continuing operations

Basic

Diluted

Loss Income from discontinued operations

Basic

Diluted

Net income

Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends declared per share

Book value per share

Market price per share

High

Low

Close

Average common shares outstanding for earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

Shares outstanding at period end

1.55 2.47 3.49 2.97 2.42

1.54 2.47 3.44 2.91 2.38

Other Statistics

Number of employees at period end thousands

United States

Outside United States

0.01 0.14 0.09 0.07

0.15 0.10 0.07

1.54 2.33 3.40 3.04

1.54 2.32 3.34 2.98

0.72 0.72 0.63 0.57

12.08 10.21 9.53 8.76

42.25 52.63 65.89 62.50

9.71 16.55 50.37 49.73

40.52 18.55 52.02 60.67

1168 1154 1173 1212

1171 1156 1193 1235

1192 1160 1158 1199

28 31 32 32

30 35 36 33

58 66 68 65

41273 43257 50216 51644

Totalid

Number of shareholders of record

0.58

0.57

3.00

2.95

0.48

8.50

59.50

47.01

51.46

1233

1253

1241

29

37

66

55409

In 2007 the Company entered into an agreement to sell its international banking subsidiary AEB and its subsidiary that issues investment

certificates to AEBs customers AEIDC to Standard Chartered subject to certain regulatory approvals The results assets and liabilities of

AEB except for certain components of the business which were not sold are presented as discontinued operations Additionally the spin-off

of Ameriprise and certain dispositions were completed in 2006 and 2005 and the results of these operations are presented as discontinued

operations Refer to Note for additional information on discontinued operations

Return on average equity is calculated by dividing one year period of net income by one year average of total shareholders equity

Effective January 2009 guidance for determining whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating

securities requires that restricted stock awards be included in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share pursuant to the

two-class method Accordingly the Company has retrospectively adjusted EPS for all prior periods presented Refer to Note 18 to the

Companys Consolidated Financial Statements

The market price per share beginning with the fourth quarter of 2005 reflects the spin-off of Ameriprise as of September 30 2005 The

opening share price on the first trading day after the spin-off was $50.75

Amounts include employees from discontinued operations
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COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR TOTAL RETURN TO SHAREHOLDERS

AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY

Cumulative value of $100 invested on December 31 2004

04 05 06 07 08 09

$160-

$140-
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$80

$60

$40

$20------

Year-end Data 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Amcrcan
llsprcss

$1 00.t0 05.26 Si 2334 103.3 39.4l $3.10

Sl30 Index S100.01 $104.91 Sl2l.-Th 3128.13 880.73 $102.10

SP Financial Index $100.00 $10650 $126.95 $103.46 $46.32 54.35

This chart compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common shares with the total return on the SP 500 Index and the SP Financial Index for the last

five years
It shows the growth of $100 investment on December 31 2004 including

the reinvestment of all dividends On September 30 2005 American Express

distributed to shareholders special dividend of all its common shares of Ameriprise Financial Inc This distribution is accounted for in the chart as though
it were paid in

cash and reinvested in the Companys common shares Source Bloomherg returns compounded monthly
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GENERAL INFORMATION

EX CUT VE FFICF.S

American Express Company
200 Vesey Street

New York NY 10285

212.640.2000

INFORMATION AVA AB1L

TO SUARFHOLIERS

Copies of the companys Form 10-K proxy

statement press releases and other

documents as well as information on

financial results products and services

are available on the American Express

website at www.arnericanexpress.com The

companys global Corporate Citizenship

Report and report
of the companys 2009

federal and state political contributions

are available at www am ericanexpress Corn

csr Written copies of these materials are

available without charge upon written

request to the Secretarys Office at the

address above

tRANSFER AGENf AND REGISTRAR

The Bank of New York Mellon

480 Washington Blvd 29th Floor

Jersey City NJ 07310- 1900

1.800.463.5911 or 201.680.6685

Hearing impaired

1.800.231.5469

www.bnyrnellon.com/shareowner/isd

Si OCK EXCHANGE LISTING

New York Stock Exchange

Symbol AXP

INIIpEN IEGlsrERpI lull IC

ACCOt.NTING FIRM

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

300 Madison Avenue

New York NY 100 17-6204

ANNUAl MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of

American Express Company will be held at

the companys headquarters at 200 Vesey

Street New York NY 10285 on Monday

April 262010 at 1000 a.m Eastern Time

written transcript or an audiocassette of

the meeting will be available upon written

request to the Secretarys Office There will

be modest fee to defray production and

mailing costs

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Copies of American Express Companys

governance documents including its

Corporate Governance Principles as

well as the charters of the standing

committees of the Board of Directors and

the American Express Company Code of

Conduct are available on the companys

website at http//ir.americanexpress.com

Copies of these materials also are available

without charge upon written request to

the Secretarys Office at the address above

IIREI DEPOSIT D1vID
The company has established an Electronic

Direct Deposit of Dividends service for the

electronic payment of quarterly dividends

on the companys common shares With

this service registered shareholders

may have their dividend payments sent

electronically to their checking account or

financial institution on the payment date

Shareholders interested in enrolling in this

service should call The Bank of New York

Mellon at 1.800.463.5911

ST0K ILRCHASE PLAN

The BuyDIRECT Plan provides

shareholders and new investors with

convenient way to purchase common

shares through optional cash investments

and reinvestment of dividends

For more information contact

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

P.O Box 358015

Pittsburgh PA 15252-8015

1.800.463.5911

www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

SHARFUOLIIR ANt INVESTOR

QU RI ES

Written shareholder inquiries may be

sent either to BNY Mellon Shareowner

Services Investor Care Network P.O Box

358015 Pittsburgh PA 15252-8015 or to

the Secretarys Office at American Express

Companys executive office address above

Written inquiries from the investment

community should be sent to Investor

Relations at American Express Companys

executive office address above
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The following American Express

trademarks and service marks may appear

in this report

American Express

American Express Box Logo
American Express Card Design

American Express World Service Design

Centurions

Gladiator Head Design

Membership Rewards

Platinum Card
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All rights reserved
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